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This Annual Report is filed by Starwood Hotels &$Rés Worldwide, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the
“Corporation”). Unless the context otherwise regsjrall references to the Corporation include tlesgities owned
or controlled by the Corporation, including SLC @g&g Limited Partnership, a Delaware limited parship (the
“Operating Partnership”), which prior to April 1006 included Starwood Hotels & Resorts, a Maryleral estate
investment trust (the “Trust”), which was sold liretHost Transaction (defined below); all referertoethie Trust
include the Trust and those entities owned or otlett by the Trust, including SLT Realty LimitedrBeership, a
Delaware limited partnership (the “Realty Partngr§hand all references to “we”, “us”, “our”, “Stavood”, or the
“Company” refer to the Corporation, the Trust atsdréspective subsidiaries, collectively throughiAp, 2006.
Until April 7, 2006, the shares of common stock; y&lue $0.01 per share, of the Corporation (“Ceafion
Shares”) and the Class B shares of beneficialestepar value $0.01 per share, of the Trust (‘CEBaShares"ere
attached and traded together and were held orféraed only in units consisting of one Corporatiimare and one
Class B Share (a “Share”). On April 7, 2006, inmection with a transaction (the “Host Transactionith Host
Hotels & Resorts, Inc., its subsidiary Host Martio®. and certain other subsidiaries of Host HofeResorts, Inc.
(collectively, “Host"), the Shares were depaired dme Corporation Shares became transferable gefpaftam the
Class B Shares. As a result of the depairing, thp@ation Shares trade alone under the symbol “H@ilthe Nev
York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”"). As of April 10, 2006either Shares nor Class B Shares are listecddedron the
NYSE.

PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains statements that carstforward-looking statements within the meanifthe
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199%1cB statements appear in several places in thisidiriReport,
including, without limitation, the section of Itein Business, captioned “Business Strategy” and kem
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations. Such forwarkiog
statements may include statements regarding thatirtelief or current expectations of StarwoaglDirectors or it
officers with respect to the matters discussetimAnnual Report. All forwardeoking statements involve risks &
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfterdnaterially from those projected in the forwdodking
statements including, without limitation, the risksd uncertainties set forth below. Starwood urdtes no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forwdodking statements to reflect current or futurerge or
circumstances.

Iltem 1. Business
General

We are one of the world’s largest hotel and leisu@panies. We conduct our hotel and leisure basibeth
directly and through our subsidiaries. Our branch@sinclude the following:

St. Regis® (luxury full-service hotels, resorts and resides)care for connoisseurs who desire the finest
expressions of luxury. They provide flawless anspoée service to high-end leisure and businesslees:
St. Regis hotels are located in the ultimate locetiwithin the worlds most desired destinations, important emel
markets and yet to be discovered paradises, agdythieally have individual design characteristioscapture the
distinctive personality of each location.

The Luxury Collection® (luxury full-service hotels and resorts) is a group of uniquelfi@and resorts offeri
exceptional service to an elite clientele. Frometedary palaces and remote retreats to timelessmmaotissics,
these remarkable hotels and resorts enable thedisostrning traveler to collect a world of unigaethentic and
enriching experiences indigenous to each destimaitiat capture the sense of both luxury and plakey are
distinguished by magnificent decor, spectaculairggt and impeccable service.

W® (luxury and upscale full service hotels, retreatd residences) feature world class design, wielss
restaurants and “on trend” bars and lounges arsigtature Whatever\Wheneveservice standard. It's a sensory
multiplex that not only indulges the senses, iteeb an emotional experience. Whether it's “behimal scenes”
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access at W Happenings, or our cutting edge miigiting and scent programs, W hotels delivers gedence
unmatched in the hotel segment.

Westin® (luxury and upscale full-service hotels, resartd residences) provides a thoughtfully designed
experience making the healthiest choices irre$ystippealing. A welcoming oasis to the savvy travetvery
innovative service aims to help guests thrive sy fleel better than when they arrived. Truly restioe sleep in the
world-renowned Heavenl§ Bed. Spa-like invigoration with the HeaveflBath. Healthful indulgence from
SuperFoodsR®¥ menus. Energizing exercise with WestinWORKO®TFresh air from BreatheWestif, the
industry’s first smoke-free policy. Whether an egity center location or refreshing resort destoratWestin
ensures guests are well rested, well nourishedhvaticcared for.

Le Méridien® (luxury and upscale full-service hotels, resarid residences) is a European-inspired brand
with a French accent. Each of its hotels, whetltgr airport or resort has a distinctive charactéven by its
individuality and the Le Méridien brand values. Wits underlying passion for food, art and styld &s classic yet
stylish design, Le Méridien offers a unique expeceat some of the world’s top travel destinations.

Sheraton® (luxury and upscale full-service hotels, resarid residences) is our largest brand serving the
needs of upscale business and leisure traveletdwide. For over 70 years this full-service, icobiand has
welcomed guests, becoming a trusted friend to leay@nd one of the world’s most recognized hotahts. From
being the first hotel brand to step into major inggional markets like China, to completely capiivg. entire
destinations like Waikiki, Sheraton understands ttzevel is about bringing people together. In &kem lobbies
you'll find the Link@ Sheratori™ experienced with Microsoft, which fosters connetsiowhether face-to-face or
webcam-to-webcam. The Sheraton Club is also alsmé@e where guests indulge in the upside of ¢vieiy with
likeminded travelers. Sheraton transcends lifestydenerations and geographies and will continwesioome
generation after generation of world traveler, bseawe believe, as strongly as ever, that lifeettel when shared.

Four Points® (select-service hotels) delights the self-sugfititraveler with what is needed for greater
comfort and productivityGreat Hotels. Great Ratesll at the honest value our guests deserve. Oustgistart the
day feeling energized and finish up relaxed, magien with one of ouBest Brewglocal craft beer). It's the little
indulgences that make their time away from homeigpe

Aloft ® (select-service hotels) first opened in 2008vilt already be opening its 50th property in 20Aloft
provides new heights: an oasis where you leastagxpea spirited neighborhood outpost, a havethatside of the
road. Bringing a cozy harmony of modern elementbéoclassic on-the-road tradition, Aloft offersassy,
refreshing, ultra effortless alternative for bdtle business and leisure traveler. Fresh, fun, afitlifig, Aloft is an
experience to be discovered and rediscovered ndistin after destination, as you ease on downahe.6tyle at a
Steal.

Element(SM)  (extended stay hotels), a brand introduced @624ith the first hotel opened in 2008, provides a
modern, upscale and intuitively designed hotel eepee that allows guests to live well and feetamtrol. Inspired
by Westin, Element hotels promote balance throutjfoaghtful, upscale environment. Decidedly modeith an
emphasis on nature, Element is intuitively condrdiavith an efficient use of space that encourggests to stay
connected, feel alive, and thrive while they araawPrimarily all Element hotels are LEED certifielpicting the
importance of the environment in today’s woi$pace to live your life

Through our brands, we are well represented in magbr markets around the world. Our operations are
reported in two business segments, hotels andivacatvnership and residential operations.

Our revenue and earnings are derived primarily frmtel operations, which include management andrdte:
earned from hotels we manage pursuant to managemeinacts, the receipt of franchise and other #enekthe
operation of our owned hotels.

Our hotel business emphasizes the global operafibntels and resorts primarily in the luxury amscale
segment of the lodging industry. We seek to acquierests in, or management or franchise righth véspect to
properties in this segment. At December 31, 2010 hotel portfolio included owned, leased, managed|
franchised hotels totaling 1,027 hotels with apprately 302,000 rooms in approximately 100 coustrand is
comprised of 62 hotels that we own or lease orhiicivwe have a majority equity interest, 463 hotetsraged by
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us on behalf of third-party owners (including eestin which we have a minority equity interestil &92 hotels for
which we receive franchise fees.

Our revenues and earnings are also derived frordehielopment, ownership and operation of vacation
ownership resorts, marketing and selling vacatiwnership interests (“VOIs”) in the resorts and pdavy
financing to customers who purchase such inter&sgerally these resorts are marketed under thmel mames
described above. Additionally, our revenue andiegemare derived from the development, marketirdyseiling of
residential units at mixed use hotel projects owlmeds as well as fees earned from the marketidgseting of
residential units at mixed use hotel projects depedl by third-party owners of hotels operated underbrands. At
December 31, 2010, we had 23 owned vacation owipershorts and residential properties (including
14 stand-alone, eight mixed-use and one unconsetigaint venture) in the United States, Mexico &mel
Bahamas.

Due to the global economic crisis and its impacth@long-term growth outlook for the timeshareusiy, in
2009 we evaluated all of our existing vacation osshi projects, as well as land held for futureatam ownership
projects. We have thereby decided that no new iactatvnership projects are being initiated and weehdecided
not to develop certain vacation ownership sitesfatute phases of certain existing projects.

Our operations are in geographically diverse lacetiaround the world. The following tables refleat hotel
and vacation ownership and residential propertjetype of revenue source and geographical predanogajor
geographic area as of December 31, 2010:

Number of

Properties Rooms
Managed and unconsolidated joint venture hc 463 159,20(
Franchised hotel 50z 121,40(
Owned hotel@ 62 21,10(
Vacation ownership resorts and st-alone propertie 14 7,00(
Total propertie: 1,041  308,70(
(@) Includes wholly owned, majority owned and leasettlsc

Number of

Properties Rooms
North America (and Caribbea 551  175,80(
Europe, Africa and the Middle Ee 247 61,30(
Asia Pacific 181 58,50(
Latin America 62 13,10(
Total properties 1,041  308,70(

We have implemented a strategy of reducing ourstment in owned real estate and increasing oursfoouthe
management and franchise business. In furtherafrbéscstrategy, since 2006, we have sold 62 hdoels
approximately $5.3 billion. As a result, our priménusiness objective is to maximize earnings arsth aw by
increasing the number of our hotel management actstiand franchise agreements; selling VOIs; anesitmg in
real estate assets where there is a strategioasifor doing so, which may include selectivelg@cng interests il
additional assets and disposing of non-core héitatuding hotels where the return on invested tzdjs not
adequate) and “trophy” assets that may be sol@jaifisant premiums. We plan to meet these objestiby
leveraging our global assets, broad customer badether resources and by taking advantage ofaale $o reduce
costs. The implementation of our strategy and fitedrplanning is impacted by the uncertainty reigtio
geopolitical and economic environments around tbddwand its consequent impact on travel.

The Corporation was incorporated in 1980 undetatws of Maryland. Sheraton Hotels & Resorts and tilles
Hotels & Resorts, Starwood's largest brands, haenlserving guests for more than 60 years. StarWacdtion
Ownership (and its predecessor, Vistana, Inc.bleas selling VOIs for more than 20 years.
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Our principal executive offices are located at 1¥Wdstchester Avenue, White Plains, New York 10604l
our telephone number is (914) 640-8100.

For discussion of our revenues, profits, assetggandraphical segments, see the notes to finastei@dments
of this Annual Report. For additional informatioancerning our business, see Item 2 Propertiefi®fnnual
Report.

Competition

The hotel and timeshare industry is highly compegitCompetition is generally based on quality and
consistency of room, restaurant and meeting fesliand services, attractiveness of locations|ahisity of a globa
distribution system, price, the ability to earn aadeem loyalty program points and other factorandement
believes that we compete favorably in these a@asproperties compete with other hotels and resortheir
geographic markets, including facilities owned bgal interests and facilities owned by national amernational
chains. Our principal competitors include otherghoperating companies, national and internatiboé! brands,
and ownership companies (including hotel REITS).

We encounter strong competition as a hotel, retimlenesort and vacation ownership operator. Wedme of
our competitors are private management firms, sdage large national and international chains ¢hat and
operate their own hotels, as well as manage hfitethird-party owners and sell VOIs, under a variety of beatha
compete directly with our brands.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to certain requirements and potdiatialities under various foreign and U.S. fedestate and
local environmental laws, ordinances and regulatidBnvironmental Laws”). Under such laws, we cooédheld
liable for the costs of removing or cleaning updrdpus or toxic substances at, on, under, or ircouently or
formerly owned or operated properties. Such lawsnoimpose liability without regard to whether thener or
operator knew of, or was responsible for, the pres®f such hazardous or toxic substances. Thempreof
hazardous or toxic substances may adversely affeawner’s ability to sell or rent such real prap@r to borrow
using such real property as collateral. Personsavtemge for the disposal or treatment of hazardotsxic wastes
may be liable for the costs of removal or remediatf such wastes at the treatment, storage ooskdsfacility,
regardless of whether such facility is owned orrafe by such person. We use certain substancegemedate
certain wastes that may be deemed hazardous crunger applicable Environmental Laws, and we ftime to
time have incurred, and in the future may incustseelated to cleaning up contamination resultiom historic
uses of certain of our current or former propertiesur treatment, storage or disposal of wastésciities owned
by others. Other Environmental Laws govern occopati exposure to asbestos-containing materials I8¢ and
require abatement or removal of certain ACMs (ledijuantities of which are present in various lngdnaterials
such as spray-on insulation, floor coverings, ngiktoverings, tiles, decorative treatments anchpippcated at
certain of our hotels) in the event of damage onaléion, or certain renovations or remodeling. Eommental
Laws also regulate polychlorinated biphenyls (“PgB&hich may be present in electrical equipmentiuimber of
our hotels have underground storage tanks (“USdsd) equipment containing chlorofluorocarbons (“ChHQbe
operation and subsequent removal or upgradingrtdindJSTs and the use of equipment containing C&l€is are
regulated by Environmental Laws. In connection veitin ownership, operation and management of oygsties,
we could be held liable for costs of remedial drentaction with respect to PCBs, USTs or CFCs.

Congress and some states are considering or haestaken actions to regulate and reduce greenlyasse
emissions. New or revised laws and regulationseer imterpretations of existing laws and regulatjieugh as those
related to climate change, could affect the opemnadf our hotels and/or result in significant atdial expense and
operating restrictions on us. The cost impact chdagislation, regulation, or new interpretatiovisuld depend
upon the specific requirements enacted and carmndetermined at this time.

Environmental Laws are not the only source of eminental liability. Under common law, owners and
operators of real property may face liability fargonal injury or property damage because of variou
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environmental conditions such as alleged exposuhatardous or toxic substances (including, butimited to,
ACMs, PCBs and CFCs), poor indoor air quality, mdo poor drinking water quality.

Although we have incurred and expect to incur reatexh and various environmental-related costsrduthe
ordinary course of operations, management doeanmtmipate that such costs will have a materiakasky effect on
our operations or financial condition.

Seasonality and Diversification

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature; howether periods during which our properties experidmgber
revenue activities vary from property to propenty aepend principally upon location. Generally, mwenues and
operating income have been lower in the first qeratian in the second, third or fourth quarters.

Comparability of Owned Hotel Results

We continually update and renovate our owned, tbase consolidated joint venture hotels. While ugding
renovation, these hotels are generally not opeyatiriull capacity and, as such, these renovatiansnegatively
impact our owned hotel revenues and operating iec@ther events, such as the occurrence of natisadters me
cause a full or partial closure or sale of a h@et such events can negatively impact our reveang®perating
income. Finally, as we pursue our strategy of redpour investment in owned real estate assetsaleeof such
assets can significantly reduce our revenues aarhtipg income.

Employees

At December 31, 2010, approximately 145,000 pewjgee employed at our corporate offices, owned and
managed hotels and vacation ownership resortshimhwapproximately 26% were employed in the Unis¢altes. A
December 31, 2010, approximately 34% of the U.Sedamployees were covered by various collectivgaiang
agreements providing, generally, for basic paystatmrking hours, other conditions of employmerd arderly
settlement of labor disputes. Generally, labortiets have been maintained in a normal and satmfamanner,
and management believes that our employee relati@nsatisfactory.

Where You Can Find More Information

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, grstatements and other information with the Seiesi&
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our SEC filings araitable to the public over the Internet at the SE@ébsite at
http://www.sec.govOur SEC filings are also available on our webditieti://www.starwoodhotels.com/
corporate/investor relations.htnak soon as reasonably practicable after they lakiith or furnished to the SEC.
You may also read and copy any document we fila thie SEC at its public reference room locatedatHA Street,
NE, in Washington, D.C. 20549 on official busindsys during the hours of 10 a.m. to 3 p.m. Plealiéhe SEC a
(800) SEC-0330 for further information. Our filingsth the SEC are also available at the New Youdclkst
Exchange. For more information on obtaining copiesur public filings at the New York Stock Exchangou
should call (212) 656-5060. You may also obtaimpycof our filings free of charge by calling InvesRelations at
(914) 640-8165.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risks Relating to Hotel, Resort, Vacation Ownershiand Residential Operations

We Are Subject to All the Operating Risks Commorttie Hotel and Vacation Ownership and Residential
Industries. Operating risks common to the hotel and vacatiwnership and residential industries include:

e changes in general economic conditions, iriothe severity and duration of downturns in th& &hd
global economies

e impact of war and terrorist activity (includinhreatened terrorist activity) and heightenedetraecurity
measures instituted in response ther

» domestic and international political and geopdditiconditions;
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« traveler’ fears of exposures to contagious disec

« decreases in the demand for transient roomisedated lodging services, including a reductiobusiness
travel as a result of general economic conditi

» decreases in demand or increases in supply fotisgacavnership interest
« the impact of internet intermediaries on pricingl @ur increasing reliance on technolo
« cyclical ove-building in the hotel and vacation ownership indest

« restrictive changes in zoning and similar lasé laws and regulations or in health, safetyeandronmental
laws, rules and regulations and other governmemtdlregulatory actior

e changes in travel patterr

¢ changes in operating costs including, butlinoited to, energy, labor costs (including the iropaf
unionization), food costs, workers’ compensatiod health-care related costs, insurance and unpatex
costs such as acts of nature and their conseque

« the costs and administrative burdens assatisithh compliance with applicable laws and regualasi,
including, among others, franchising, timesharajgay, licensing, labor and employment, and regoitest
under the Office of Foreign Assets Control andRbeeign Corrupt Practices Ac

« disputes with owners of properties, includampdominium hotels, franchisees and homeowner &dsnts
which may result in litigation

« the availability and cost of capital to allew and potential hotel owners and franchiseesrtd éonstruction,
renovations and investmen

« foreign exchange fluctuation

« the financial condition of third-party ownemspject developers and franchisees, which may atngar
ability to recover indemnity payments that may bed to us and their ability to fund amounts recpinede|
development, management and franchise agreemeshia arost cases our recourse is limited to thetgqui
value said party has in the propel

« the financial condition of the airline industry atie impact on air travel; ar
* regulation or taxation of carbon dioxide emissibgsirlines and other forms of transportati

We are also impacted by our relationships with owiaad franchisees. Our hotel management conimeets
typically long-term arrangements, but most allow ktotel owner to replace us in certain circumstansech as the
bankruptcy of the hotel owner or franchisee, thkeifa to meet certain financial or performanceesid and in
certain cases, upon a sale of the property. Olityatni meet these financial and performance datés subject to,
among other things, the risks described in thisi@ecAdditionally, our operating results would ddversely
affected if we could not maintain existing managetmfranchise or representation agreements ormb&iv
agreements on as favorable terms as the existimgagnts.

We utilize our brands in connection with the resitld portions of certain properties that we depednd
license our brands to third parties to use in alairmanner for a fee. Residential properties usingbrands could
become less attractive due to changes in mortgage and the availability of mortgage financingayatly, market
absorption or oversupply in a particular market.aAgsult, we and our third party licensees maybeatble to sell
these residences for a profit or at the priceswleadr they have anticipated.

The Recent Recession in the Lodging Industry ané @Blobal Economy Generally Will Continue to Impact
Our Financial Results and Growth. The recent economic recession has had a negatpaet on the hotel and
vacation ownership and residential industries. 8uitigl increases in air and ground travel costsdetreases in
airline capacity have reduced demand for our hotins and interval and fractional timeshare prosluct
Accordingly, our financial results have been impadby the economic recession and both our futnential result
and growth could be further harmed if recovery fribye economic recession slows or the economic
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recession becomes worse. In certain cases, wegmeed into third party hotel management contrabish
contain performance guarantees specifying thaaicedperating metrics will be achieved. As a restithe impact
of the economic downturn on the lodging industrg, may not meet the requisite performance level$ yvammay b
forced to loan or contribute monies to fund therat of performance levels or terminate the masragnt contrac
For a more detailed description of our performagigarantees, see Note 26 of the consolidated finbstEtements.

Moreover, many businesses, particularly finaneiatitutions, face restrictions on the ability tavel and hold
conferences or events at resorts and luxury hoféks.negative publicity associated with such corgsholding
large events has also resulted in reduced bookitgs.or revised regulations on businesses partioipan
government financial assistance programs, as wele@negative publicity associated with confersraoed
corporate events, could impact our financial result

Our Revenues, Profits, or Market Share Could Be hiaed If We Are Unable to Compete EffectivelyThe
hotel, vacation ownership and residential industaiee highly competitive. Our properties competectstomers
with other hotel and resort properties, and, wétspect to our vacation ownership resorts and nesaerojects,
with owners reselling their VOIs, including fraatial ownership, or apartments. Some of our compstittay have
substantially greater marketing and financial resesi than we do, and they may improve their faedjtreduce the
prices or expand or improve their marketing proggamways that adversely affect our operating tssul

Moreover, our present growth strategy for developneé additional lodging facilities entails entagimto and
maintaining various arrangements with property awn@/e compete with other hotel companies for manmamnt
and franchise agreements. The terms of our manageageeements, franchise agreements, and leaseadbrof
our lodging facilities are influenced by contragtrhs offered by our competitors, among other thikigs cannot
assure you that any of our current arrangementsaiitinue or that we will be able to enter intéuie
collaborations, renew agreements, or enter into agr@ements in the future on terms that are agdhl®to us as
those that exist today. In connection with enteririg management or franchise agreements, we magcugred to
make investments in or guarantee the obligatiorikiad parties or guarantee minimum income to tipiadties.

Our Businesses Are Capital IntensiveFor our owned, managed and franchised propddissmain attractive
and competitive, the property owners and we hawpémd money periodically to keep the propertiel we
maintained, modernized and refurbished. This cseateongoing need for cash. Third-party propertpens may be
unable to access capital or unwilling to spendlatséé capital when necessary, even if requirechieytérms of our
management or franchise agreements. To the ekt@nptoperty owners and we cannot fund expenditinoes cast
generated by operations, funds must be borrowetherwise obtained. Failure to make the investmeetgssary
maintain or improve such properties could adveraéfigct the reputation of our brands.

Recent events, including the failures and neanifad of financial services companies and the deerea
liquidity and available capital, have negativelypiacted the capital markets for hotel and real e staestments.

Any Failure to Protect our Trademarks Could HaveNegative Impact on the Value of Our Brand Names
and Adversely Affect Our BusinessWe believe our trademarks are an important corapbof our business. We
rely on trademark laws to protect our proprietagits. The success of our business depends iupart our
continued ability to use our trademarks to incrdas@d awareness and further develop our brandtimdomestic
and international markets. Monitoring the unauthedliuse of our intellectual property is difficdlitigation has
been and may continue to be necessary to enfordateilectual property rights or to determine tfadidity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigatof this type could result in substantial costd diversion of
resources, may result in counterclaims or othemdagainst us and could significantly harm ouultssof
operations. In addition, the laws of some foreigandries do not protect our proprietary rightstte same extent as
do the laws of the United States. From time to fime apply to have certain trademarks registerbdrfis no
guarantee that such trademark registrations wila@ted. We cannot assure you that all of thesstephave taken
to protect our trademarks in the United Statesfarglgn countries will be adequate to prevent itiotaof our
trademarks by others. The unauthorized reproducia@ur trademarks could diminish the value of brtand and its
market acceptance, competitive advantages or gdlpodiich could adversely affect our business.
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Our Dependence on Hotel and Resort Development ESgsoUs to Timing, Budgeting and Other Risl We
intend to develop hotel and resort properties asitiential components of hotel properties, as Isigitapportunities
arise, taking into consideration the general ecaoatimate. In addition, the owners and develoménsew-build
properties that we have entered into managemdmamchise agreements with are subject to these sakswhich
may impact the amount and timing of fees we hacketqal to collect from those properties. New project
development has a number of risks, including resssociated with:

« construction delays or cost overruns that may emegroject cost:

* receipt of zoning, occupancy and other requirecegawmental permits and authorizatio

« development costs incurred for projects that atgpnosued to completiol

« sc-called acts of God such as earthquakes, hurricllneds or fires that could adversely impact a pcj

« defects in design or construction that mayltds additional costs to remedy or require albgportion of a
property to be closed during the period requireckttify the situation

« ability to raise capital; an
« governmental restrictions on the nature or siza pfoject or timing of completiol

We cannot assure you that any development prajexdtiding sites held for development of vacatiomevship
resorts, will in fact be developed, and, if develdpthe time period or the budget of such developmmay be
greater than initially contemplated and the actwathber of units or rooms constructed may be lems ithitially
contemplated.

International Operations Are Subject to Unique Ptiial and Monetary Risks. We have significant
international operations which as of December 8104ncluded 247 owned, managed or franchised ptiepen
Europe, Africa and the Middle East (including 16erties with majority ownership); 62 owned, manhge
franchised properties in Latin America (includingenproperties with majority ownership); and 181ned,
managed or franchised properties in the Asia Rafjion (including four properties with majoritwoership).
International operations generally are subjectaigous political, geopolitical, and other riskstthge not present in
U.S. operations. These risks include the risk af wearorism, civil unrest, expropriation and natidization as well
as the impact in cases in which there are incarsistés between U.S. law and the laws of an intemmait
jurisdiction. In addition, some international jufistions restrict the repatriation non-U.S. earnings. Various other
international jurisdictions have laws limiting thbility of non-U.S. entities to pay dividends aedhit earnings to
affiliated companies unless specified conditionsehizeen met. In addition, sales in internationasglictions
typically are made in local currencies, which suabjes to risks associated with currency fluctuaid@urrency
devaluations and unfavorable changes in internatimonetary and tax policies could have a matadakrse effect
on our profitability and financing plans, as couoltier changes in the international regulatory devend
international economic conditions.

Our Current Growth Strategy is Heavily Dependent @rowth in International Markets. As of December
31, 2010, 84% of our pipeline represented inteomati growth. Further 60% of our pipeline represems
properties in Asia Pacific with 45% of our pipelirepresenting new growth in China alone. We mugtas third
parties to build and complete these projects ampld and cannot ensure that all such hotels wiiirbely
constructed. If our third-party property ownerd faiinvest in these projects, or fail to inveseatimated levels, the
projects may not be realized or may not be as sstuleas anticipated. Many countries in the Asieifitaregion,
including China, have construction and operatidogistics different than the U.S., including but fimited to
labor, transportation, real estate, and local apgpor legal requirements. Our dependence onnatenal markets
for growth is also limited by the availability ow markets, and we face established competitotsatkasimilarly
looking to grow in new markets. If our internatibeapansion plans are unsuccessful, our finanegllts could be
materially adversely affected.

Third Party Internet Reservation Channels May Ne@atly Impact Our Bookings. Some of our hotel rooms
are booked through third party internet travelimtediaries such as Travelocity.cmExpedia.con®, Orbitz.com
®and Priceline.corf?. As the percentage of internet bookings increakesg intermediaries may be able to obtain
higher commissions, reduced room rates or othaifgignt contract concessions from us. Moreovemesof these
internet travel intermediaries are attempting tmowditize hotel rooms by increasing the
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importance of price and general indicators of qudBuch as “three-star downtown hotel”) at theenge of brand
identification. These agencies hope that consumiireventually develop brand loyalties to theiseevations
system rather than to our lodging brands. Althowglexpect to derive most of our business from tiauatl
channels and our websites, if the amount of sakderthrough internet intermediaries increases fégignily, our
business and profitability may be significantly imed.

A Failure to Keep Pace with Developments in Techogy Could Impair Our Operations or Competitive
Position. The hospitality industry continues to demandube of sophisticated technology and systems inofudi
technology utilized for property management, brassurance and compliance, procurement, resenatgiams,
operation of our customer loyalty program, disttibn and guest amenities. These technologies caxjected to
require refinements, including to comply with tlegdl requirements such as privacy regulations eqdirements
established by third parties such as the paymedtindustry, and there is the risk that advanced teehnologies
will be introduced. Further, the development andnteamance of these technologies may require sigrifi capital.
There can be no assurance that as various systehischnologies become outdated or new technobgsgjuired,
we will be able to replace or introduce them agkjyias our competition or within budgeted costd aimeframes.
Further, there can be no assurance that we wileaehhe benefits that may have been anticipated &iny new
technology or system.

Significant Owners of Our Properties May ConcenteaRisks. There is a concentration of ownership of hc
operated under our brands by any single ownerowallg the acquisition of the Le Méridien brand Imgsis and a
large disposition transaction to one ownership griow2006, single ownership groups own significammnbers of
hotels operated by us. While the risks associaifdsuch ownership are no different than exist galhe(i.e., the
financial position of the owner, the overall statéhe relationship with the owner and their pépttion in optional
programs and the impact on cost efficiencies iy ttlgoose not to participate), they are more comatad.

Our Real Estate Investments Subject Us to Numer®isks. We are subject to the risks that generally relate
to investments in real property because we owrleak hotels and resorts. The investment returaitable from
equity investments in real estate depend in laegegn the amount of income earned and capitalemtion
generated by the related properties, and the egpénsurred. In addition, a variety of other fastaffect income
from properties and real estate values, includimgeghmental regulations, insurance, zoning, taxeanshent
domain laws, interest rate levels and the avaitgtof financing. For example, new or existing reatate zoning or
tax laws can make it more expensive and/or timesgoring to develop real property or expand, modifyemovate
hotels. When interest rates increase, the costqpfiang, developing, expanding or renovating alperty
increases and real property values may decreabe asimber of potential buyers decreases. Simjladyfinancing
becomes less available, it becomes more difficotih Ito acquire and to sell real property. Finallgder eminent
domain laws, governments can take real propertmefimnes this taking is for less compensation thanotwvner
believes the property is worth. Any of these fagtwould have a material adverse impact on ourtestibperations
or financial condition. In addition, equity reak&® investments are difficult to sell quickly amd may not be able
to adjust our portfolio of owned properties quickiyyresponse to economic or other conditions. Hfroperties do
not generate revenue sufficient to meet operatipgmses, including debt service and capital exerati, our
income will be adversely affected.

We May Be Subject to Environmental LiabilitiesOur properties and operations are subject tangbeu of
Environmental Laws. Under such laws, we could ld liable for the costs of removing or cleaninghgzardous ¢
toxic substances at, on, under, or in our curremttiprmerly owned or operated properties. Suctslaften impose
liability without regard to whether the owner orepator knew of, or was responsible for, the presaicuch
hazardous or toxic substances. The presence ofdmazaor toxic substances may adversely affecowmeer’s
ability to sell or rent such real property or tafoev using such real property as collateral. Pesseino arrange for
the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxidegamay be liable for the costs of removal or reatéxh of such
wastes at the treatment, storage or disposaltigaiéigardless of whether such facility is owneaperated by such
person. We use certain substances and generaagastes that may be deemed hazardous or toggrun
applicable Environmental Laws, and we from timéirtee have incurred, and in the future may incustsoelated t
cleaning up contamination resulting from historses at certain of our current or former propeigiesur treatment,
storage or disposal of wastes at facilities owngedthers. Other Environmental Laws govern
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occupational exposure to ACMs and require abatemer@moval of certain ACMs (limited quantitieswehich are
present in various building materials such as sprainsulation, floor coverings, ceiling coveringies, decorative
treatments and piping located at certain of ouelspin the event of damage or demolition, or ¢gentanovations or
remodeling. Environmental Laws also regulate P@B8ch may be present in electrical equipment. A hanof
our hotels have USTs and equipment containing CHespperation and subsequent removal or upgrasfingrtain
USTs and the use of equipment containing CFCsatsoegulated by Environmental Laws. In connectith our
ownership, operation and management of our pragenie could be held liable for costs of remedialtber action
with respect to PCBs, USTs or CFCs.

Congress and some states are considering or haegtaken actions to regulate and reduce greenlyasse
emissions. New or revised laws and regulationseer imterpretations of existing laws and regulatjiaush as those
related to climate change, could affect the openatif our hotels and/or result in significant adguial expense and
operating restrictions on us. The cost impact ehdagislation, regulation, or new interpretatiovsuld depend
upon the specific requirements enacted and carendetermined at this time.

Risks Relating to Operations in Syria

During fiscal 2010, Starwood subsidiaries generaggaroximately $2 million of revenue from managetreerd
other fees from hotels located in Syria, a coutitat the United States has identified as a statessp of terrorism.
This amount constitutes significantly less thandR6ur worldwide annual revenues. The United Stdte=ss not
prohibit U.S. investments in, or the exportatiorsefvices to, Syria, and our activities in thatrdopare in full
compliance with U.S. and local law. However, thateh States has imposed limited sanctions as & &sbyria’s
support for terrorist groups and its interferenéth\webanon’s sovereignty, including a prohibition the
exportation of U.S.-origin goods to Syria and tipemtion of government-owned Syrian air carriershaUnited
States except in limited circumstances. The UrBiedes may impose further sanctions against Syaaytime for
foreign policy reasons. If so, oactivities in Syria may be adversely affected, aelieg on the nature of any furtr
sanctions that might be imposed. In addition, ativaies in Syria may reduce demand for our stantong certain
investors.

Risks Relating to Debt Financing

Our Debt Service Obligations May Adversely AffectraCash Flow. As a result of our debt obligations, we
are subject to: (i) the risk that cash flow fronemgtions will be insufficient to meet required pants of principal
and interest, (ii) restrictive covenants, includoayenants relating to certain financial ratios] éi) interest rate
risk. Although we anticipate that we will be abterépay or refinance our existing indebtednessasrydother
indebtedness when it matures, there can be nozamsuthat we will be able to do so or that the seofrsuch
refinancing will be favorable. Our leverage may énamportant consequences including the followimgogr ability
to obtain additional financing for acquisitions, nkimg capital, capital expenditures or other pugmsf necessary,
may be impaired or such financing may not be alsllan terms favorable to us and (ii) a substadakease in
operating cash flow, EBITDA (as defined in our dtegjreements) or a substantial increase in ouersgs could
make it difficult for us to meet our debt servieguirements and restrictive covenants and forde asll assets
and/or modify our operations.

We Have Little Control Over the Availability of Fuis Needed to Fund New Investments and Maintain
Existing Hotels. In order to fund new hotel investments, as weltefurbish and improve existing hotels, both we
and current and potential hotel owners must hagesacto capital. The availability of funds for niewestments and
maintenance of existing hotels depends in largesorezon capital markets and liquidity factors owbich we have
little control. Current and prospective hotel owsaray find hotel financing expensive and diffidoltobtain.
Delays, increased costs and other impedimentsstoucturing such projects may affect our abilityealize fees,
recover loans and guarantee advances, or realigty @mvestments from such projects. Our abilityécover loans
and guarantee advances from hotel operations or éneners through the proceeds of hotel sales,aefiimg of dek
or otherwise may also affect our ability to raigswcapital. In addition, downgrades of our pubkbtratings by
rating agencies could increase our cost of cagitélreach of a covenant could result in an evemtedault that, if
not cured or waived, could result in an acceleratiball or a substantial portion of our debt. Banore detailed
description of the covenants imposed by our deligations, see ltem 7, Management’s Discussion/amalysis of
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Financial Condition and Results of Operations —ulidify and Capital Resources — Cash Used for Fimanc
Activities in this Annual Report.

Volatility in the Credit Markets Will Continue to Aversely Impact Our Ability to Sell the Loans Th@ur
Vacation Ownership Business Generate®©ur vacation ownership business provides finaptinpurchasers of o
vacation ownership units, and we attempt to sédr@sts in those loans in the securities markettatVity in the
credit markets may impact the timing and volumgheftimeshare loans that we are able to sell. Alghove expect
to realize the economic value of our vacation owhigr note portfolio even if future note sales @mporarily or
indefinitely delayed, such delays may result ih&itincreased borrowings to provide capital toaeplanticipated
proceeds from such sales or reduced spending ér tmdnaintain our leverage and return targets.

Risks Relating to So-Called Acts of God, TerrorisfActivity and War

Our financial and operating performance may be el affected by so-called acts of God, such aisrab
disasters, in locations where we own andfograte significant properties and areas of thédsfosm which we dra
a large number of customers. Similarly, wars (idalg the potential for war), terrorist activity ¢linding threats of
terrorist activity), political unrest and other iies of civil strife and geopolitical uncertainty leawaused in the past,
and may cause in the future, our results to diffaterially from anticipated results.

Risks Related to Pandemic Diseases

Our business could be materially and adverselctdteby the effect of a pandemic disease on theltra
industry. For example, the past outbreaks of SARSavian flu had a severe impact on the travelshguand the
recent outbreak of swine flu in Mexico had a simifapact. A prolonged recurrence of SARS, aviansline flu o
another pandemic disease also may result in heattther government authorities imposing restritdion travel.
Any of these events could result in a significarpdin demand for our hotel and vacation ownershiginesses and
adversely affect our financial condition and reswolf operations.

Our Insurance Policies May Not Cover All PotentialLosses

We carry insurance coverage for general liabifitppperty, business interruption and other riské wétspect to
our owned and leased properties and we make alaitsdurance programs for owners of properties \aeage.
These policies offer coverage terms and conditibaswe believe are usual and customary for ourstrg.
Generally, our “all-risk” property policies providleat coverage is available on a per occurrencis basl that, for
each occurrence, there is a limit as well as varsub-limits on the amount of insurance proceedwilVeeceive in
excess of applicable deductibles. In addition,ghraay be overall limits under the policies. Subitnexist for
certain types of claims such as service interruptitebris removal, expediting costs or landscapépiacement, an
the dollar amounts of these sub-limits are sigaifity lower than the dollar amounts of the ovecallerage limit.
Our property policies also provide that for the e@mge of critical earthquake (California and Me)jd¢wrricane an
flood, all of the claims from each of our propestiesulting from a particular insurable event nbbestombined
together for purposes of evaluating whether theiahaggregate limits and sub-limits contained inalicies have
been exceeded and any such claims will also be ic@uhwith the claims of owners of managed hoteds th
participate in our insurance program for the saompg@se. Therefore, if insurable events occur tffatamore than
one of our owned hotels and/or managed hotels owyekird parties that participate in our insurapecegram, the
claims from each affected hotel will be added thgeto determine whether the per occurrence lamibual
aggregate limit or sub-limits, depending on thestgp claim, have been reached and if the limitsulr-limits are
exceeded each affected hotel will only receiveagpertional share of the amount of insurance prosgeadvided for
under the policy. In addition, under those circlanses, claims by third party owners will reducedbeerage
available for our owned and leased properties.

In addition, there are also other risks includirg ot limited to war, certain forms of terrorisonch as nuclea
biological or chemical terrorism, political risksgme environmental hazards and/or acts of Godnihgtbe deemed
to fall completely outside the general coveragetsiraf our policies or may be uninsurable or maydm®expensive
to justify insuring against.
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We may also encounter challenges with an insurprméder regarding whether it will pay a particutdaim
that we believe to be covered under our policy.ukthan uninsured loss or a loss in excess of imklimdts occur,
we could lose all or a portion of the capital wed@vested in a hotel or resort, as well as theipated future
revenue from the hotel or resort. In that eventywight nevertheless remain obligated for any mayggaebt or
other financial obligations related to the property

Our Acquisitions/Dispositions and Investments in N& Brands May Ultimately Not Prove Successful and We
May Not Realize Anticipated Benefits

We will consider corporate as well as property asitjons and investments that complement our bssink
many cases, we will be competing for these oppdrasnwith third parties who may have substantigigater
financial resources or different or lower accepgdbiancial metrics than we do. There can be norasse that we
will be able to identify acquisition or investmearandidates or complete transactions on commergiaigonable
terms or at all. If transactions are consummateatetcan be no assurance that any anticipateditsawéf actually
be realized. Similarly, there can be no assurdmagevte will be able to obtain additional financiiog acquisitions o
investments, or that the ability to obtain suclaficing will not be restricted by the terms of oabtdagreements.

We periodically review our business to identify pedies or other assets that we believe eithenamecore, no
longer complement our business, are in marketstwiniay not benefit us as much as other markets glarin
economic recovery or could be sold at significarehiums. We are focused on restructuring and erihgmeal
estate returns and monetizing investments, and firomto time, may attempt to sell these identifiedperties and
assets. There can be no assurance, however, theitile able to complete dispositions on commdigia
reasonable terms or at all or that any anticiphttkfits will actually be received.

We may develop and launch additional brands irfuhee. There can be no assurance regarding tle¢ dév
acceptance of these brands in the development@arsimer marketplaces, that the cost incurred ieldping the
brands will be recovered or that the anticipatedefies from these new brands will be realized.

Investing Through Partnerships or Joint Ventures Dereases Our Ability to Manage Risk

In addition to acquiring or developing hotels aadarts or acquiring companies that complement osinless
directly, we have from time to time invested, amgect to continue to invest, as a co-venturer.td@nturers often
have shared control over the operation of the joémture assets. Therefore, joint venture investsery involve
risks such as the possibility that the co-venturem investment might become bankrupt or not hhedinancial
resources to meet its obligations, or have economiisiness interests or goals that are incomsistigh our
business interests or goals, or be in a positidake action contrary to our instructions or redgsi@s contrary to our
policies or objectives. Consequently, actions lop-aenturer might subject hotels and resorts ovinethe joint
venture to additional risk. Further, we may be uaab take action without the approval of our jorenture partner
Alternatively, our joint venture partners couldeakctions binding on the joint venture without oansent.
Additionally, should a joint venture partner becob@amkrupt, we could become liable for our partnehare of joint
venture liabilities.

Our Vacation Ownership Business is Subject to Extegive Regulation and Risk of Default

We market and sell VOIs, which typically entitleethuyer to ownership of a fully-furnished resorit fior a
one-week period on either an annual or an alteryedie basis. We also acquire, develop and opeeatation
ownership resorts, and provide financing to puretasf VOIs. These activities are all subject tteagive
regulation by the federal government and the siatedich vacation ownership resorts are locatedliarwhich
VOlIs are marketed and sold including regulatioowf telemarketing activities under state and fdd&a Not
Call” laws. In addition, the laws of most statesvhich we sell VOIs grant the purchaser the righteiscind the
purchase contract at any time within a statutosgigsion period. Although we believe that we armaterial
compliance with all applicable federal, state, laad foreign laws and regulations to which vacgatanership
marketing, sales and operations are currently syljhanges in these requirements, or a deterroimbii a
regulatory authority that we were not in complignmeuld adversely affect us. In particular, incesheegulations of
telemarketing activities could adversely impactmerketing of our VOIs.
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We bear the risk of defaults under purchaser mgagan VOIs. If a VOI purchaser defaults on thetgege
during the early part of the loan amortization pdriwe will not have recovered the marketing, sgllfother than
commissions in certain events), and general andrastnative costs associated with such VOI, anchaasts will
be incurred again in connection with the resalthefrepossessed VOI. Accordingly, there is no assar that the
sales price will be fully or partially recovereaifn a defaulting purchaser or, in the event of slefaults, that our
allowance for losses will be adequate.

Risks Related to Privacy Initiatives

We collect information relating to our guests farious business purposes, including marketing and
promotional purposes. The collection and use cdqraal data are governed by privacy laws and reégukaenacted
in the United States and other jurisdictions arotimedworld. Privacy regulations continue to evadwe on occasion
may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to anat@mpliance with applicable privacy regulationaynincrease
our operating costs and/or adversely impact oditglbd market our products, properties and setwiiweour guests.
In addition, non-compliance with applicable privaegulations by us (or in some circumstances nonptiance by
third parties engaged by us) or a breach of sgrornitsystems storing our data may result in fipagment of
damages or restrictions on our use or transfeats.d

Risks Related to Our Ability to Manage Growth

Our future success and our ability to manage fujuosvth depend in large part upon the efforts afsmnior
management and our ability to attract and retajyndécers and other highly qualified personnel.n@zetition for
such personnel is intense. In the past severas ye@rhave experienced significant changes in enios
management, including executive officers (see It@n'Directors, Executive Officers and Corporatev&mance”
of this Annual Report). There can be no assuramaevte will continue to be successful in attractmgl retaining
qualified personnel. Accordingly, there can be ssuaance that our senior management will be aldadoessfully
execute and implement our growth and operatingesjies.

Over the last few years we have been pursuingagegly of reducing our investment in owned realtesdaad
increasing our focus on the management and framthisiness. As a result, we are planning on sutiesitgn
increasing the number of hotels we open every gedrincreasing the overall number of hotels insystem. This
increase will require us to recruit and train astabtial number of new associates to work at thesels as well as
increasing our capabilities to enable hotels taonapetime and successfully. There can be no assaitiiat our
strategy will be successful.

Tax Risks

Evolving Government Regulation Could Impose TaxesQther Burdens on Our Business.We rely upon
generally available interpretations of tax laws atiter types of laws and regulations in the coaatand locales in
which we operate. We cannot be sure that thesmnetations are accurate or that the responsikiagar other
governmental authority is in agreement with oumsgeThe imposition of additional taxes or requir@tseo change
the way we conduct our business could cause uave to pay taxes that we currently do not colleqiay or
increase the costs of our services or increaseasis of operations.

Our current business practice with our interne¢mestion channels is that the intermediary colléciel
occupancy tax from its customer based on the phiaethe intermediary paid us for the hotel roone thven remit
these taxes to the various tax authorities. Seyariatlictions have stated that they may take tha&tjpn that the tax
is also applicable to the intermediarigsoss profit on these hotel transactions. If jugSdns take this position, th
should seek the additional tax payments from ttezimediary; however, it is possible that they magksto collect
the additional tax payment from us and we wouldb®able to collect these taxes from the custoniershe extent
that any tax authority succeeds in asserting tlehbtel occupancy tax applies to the gross revenukese
transactions, we believe that any additional taxldide the responsibility of the intermediary. Hoer it is
possible that we might have additional tax expasureuch event, such actions could have a matadiatrse effect
on our business, results of operations and finanoiadition.
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Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Share:

Our Board of Directors May Issue Preferred Stock dukstablish the Preferences and Rights of Such
Preferred Stock Our charter provides that the total number ofehaf stock of all classes which the Corporation
has authority to issue is 1,200,000,000, consisifrane billion shares of common stock and 200iamlshares of
preferred stock. Our Board of Directors has th&auwity, without a vote of shareholders, to estdbilse preferences
and rights of any preferred shares to be issuedaizdue such shares. The issuance of preferesdshaving
special preferences or rights could delay or preaarhange in control even if a change in controlid be in the
interests of our shareholders. Since our Boardifdiors has the power to establish the prefereacdsights of
preferred shares without a shareholder vote, oardBof Directors may give the holders preferenpesjers and
rights, including voting rights, senior to the riglof holders of our shares.

Our Board of Directors May Implement Anti-Takeové&evices and Our Charter and Bylaws Contain
Provisions which May Prevent Takeovel Certain provisions of Maryland law permit our Badaf Directors,
without stockholder approval, to implement possthleeover defenses that are not currently in plsgeh as a
classified board. In addition, our charter contginsvisions relating to restrictions on transfeligbof the
Corporation Shares, which provisions may be amendgdby the affirmative vote of our shareholdeodding two-
thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the enais permitted under the Maryland General Corpamd_aw, our
Bylaws provide that directors have the exclusightito amend our Bylaws.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

We are one of the largest hotel and leisure congganithe world, with operations in approximately
100 countries. We consider our hotels and resiotkjding vacation ownership resorts (together ‘Res),
generally to be premier establishments with resfmedesirability of location, size, facilities, ptigal condition,
quality and variety of services offered in the nedskin which they are located. Although obsolesearising from
age, condition of facilities, and style can adviradfect our Resorts, Starwood and third-party evenof managed
and franchised Resorts expend substantial fundentmvate and maintain their facilities in ordereémain
competitive. For further information see Iltem 7.idgement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdtion and
Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Rases in this Annual Report.

Our hotel business included 1,027 owned, managéeichised hotels with approximately 302,000 ro@mnd
our owned vacation ownership and residential bssimecluded 14 stand-alone vacation ownership tesod
residential properties at December 31, 2010, préuamily under seven brands. All brands (other ti@nFour
Points by Sheraton and the Aloft and Element brarefgesent full-service properties that rangeneaities from
luxury hotels and resorts to more moderately privettls. Our Four Points by Sheraton, Aloft anchiglat brands
are select service properties that cater to mdreevariented consumers.

The following table reflects our hotel and vacatawnership properties, by brand, as of Decembe310:

Hotels,

VOI and Residential @

Properties Rooms
St. Regis and Luxury Collectic 97 19,40(
W 38 11,20(
Westin 181 71,20(
Le Méridien 10C 26,70(
Sherator 401 141,50(
Four Points 15¢ 27,40(
Aloft 46 6,80(
Independent / Othe 20 4,50(
Total 1,041 308,70(
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(&) Includes vacation ownership properties of wHidrare stand-alone, eight are mixed-use and cm is
unconsolidated joint venture totaling rooms of D,(

Hotel Business

Managed and Franchised Hotels.Hotel and resort properties in the United Statesoften owned by entities
that do not manage hotels or own a brand namel Boteers typically enter into management contragtk hotel
management companies to operate their hotels. Wimeanagement company does not offer a brand &tfiliathe
hotel owner often chooses to pay separate franféseto secure the benefits of brand marketingfrakzed
reservations and other centralized administrativetions, particularly in the sales and marketirpaManagement
believes that companies, such as Starwood, that béith hotel management services and well-estegulis
worldwide brand names appeal to hotel owners byigitng the full range of management, marketing and
reservation services. In 2010, we opened 70 managgdranchised hotels with approximately 15,008he and 2:
managed and franchised hotels with approximat&l@drooms left the system.

Managed Hotels. We manage hotels worldwide, usually under a lemgr agreement with the hotel owner
(including entities in which we have a minority @gunterest). Our responsibilities under hotel mgement
contracts typically include hiring, training andoguvising the managers and employees that opdrage facilities.
For additional fees, we provide centralized resomeservices and coordinate national advertisimd) @ertain
marketing and promotional services. We prepareimpiement annual budgets for the hotels we manadeaee
responsible for allocating property-owner fundsgeriodic maintenance and repair of buildings amdishings. In
addition to our owned and leased hotels, at DeceBthe2010, we managed 463 hotels with approximéts9,200
rooms worldwide. During the year ended Decembe810, we generated management fees by geograghiaa

follows:

United State: 33.1%
Asia Pacific 26.2%
Middle East and Africi 17.4%
Europe 15.6%
Americas (Latin America, Caribbean & Cana 7.1%
Total 100.(%

Management contracts typically provide for base figzd to gross revenue and incentive fees tigutdabts as
well as fees for other services, including cergeadireservations, sales and marketing, publicioalgiand national
and international media advertising. In our experée owners seek hotel managers that can providetately
priced base, incentive and marketing fees combwitdtddemonstrated sales and marketing expertiseopadations
focused management designed to enhance profijat8iitme of our management contracts permit the bateer to
terminate the agreement when the hotel is soldr@rwise transferred to a third party, as wellfage fail to meet
established performance criteria. In addition, mhotel owners seek equity, debt or other investmfom us to
help finance hotel renovations or conversions &taawood brand so as to align the interests obttreer and
Starwood. Our ability or willingness to make suahdstments may determine, in part, whether wehwilbffered,
will accept or will retain a particular managemeantract. During the year ended December 31, 20&®pened 3
managed hotels with approximately 9,000 rooms,ldnthanaged hotels with approximately 5,000 roorftole
system. In addition, during 2010, we signed manageragreements for 61 hotels with approximatelpQ® rooms
a small portion of which opened in 2010 and theamity of which will open in the future.

Brand Franchising and Licensing. We franchise our Sheraton, Westin, Four PointSkgraton, Luxury
Collection, Le Méridien, Aloft and Element brandmas and generally derive licensing and other fems f
franchisees based on a fixed percentage of theHised hotel's room revenue, as well as fees foeragervices,
including centralized reservations, sales and ntisagxepublic relations and national and internagilomedia
advertising. In addition, a franchisee may alsapase hotel supplies, including brand-specific pots, from
certain Starwood-approved vendors. We approveingstans for, and the location of, franchised hoteid review
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their design. At December 31, 2010, there wereftfi&hised properties with approximately 121,40@ms. During
the year ended December 31, 2010, we generatechfsznfees by geographic area as follows:

United State: 63.5%
Europe 12.2%
Americas (Latin America, Caribbean & Cana 13.4%
Asia Pacific 9.€%
Middle East and Africi 0.%
Total 100.(%

In addition to the franchise contracts we retaiimecbnnection with the sale of hotels during tharyended
December 31, 2010, we opened 31 franchised hottisapproximately 6,000 rooms, and seven franchiszdls
with approximately 2,000 rooms left our systemadidition, during 2010 we signed franchise agreemimt35
hotels with approximately 7,000 rooms, a portiombich opened in 2010 and a portion of which wka in the
future.

Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venture HateMistorically, we have derived the majority of our
revenues and operating income from our owned, teasd consolidated joint venture hotels and a Baamit
portion of these results are driven by these hateldorth America. However, beginning in 2006, wekarked upo
a strategy of selling a significant number of het8ince the beginning of 2006, we have sold 62wbaned
hotels which has substantially reduced our reveandsoperating income from owned, leased and cmtaded joint
venture hotels. The majority of these hotels wetd subject to long-term management or franchisgraeots. To
date, where we have sold hotels, we have not pedvseller financing or other financial assistamcbuyers. Total
revenues generated from our owned, leased and latatsd joint venture hotels worldwide for the yeanding
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $1.704hil#t.584 billion and $2.212 billion, respectivélgtal
revenues from our owned, leased and consolidatetijenture hotels in North America were $1.06Tiduil,
$1.024 billion and $1.380 billion for 2010, 20002008, respectively).

The following represents our top five markets ia tnited States by metropolitan area as a percemtagur
total owned, leased and consolidated joint vertewenues for the year ended December 31, 2010 ¢oitiparable
data for 2009):

Top Five Domestic Markets in the United States as % of Total Owned
Revenues for the Year Ended December 31, 2010 wifomparable Data for 20091

2010 2009
Metropolitan Area Revenue Revenue
New York, NY 12. 7% 14.2%
Hawaii 6.2% 6.3%
Phoenix, AZ 5.C% 5.1%
Boston, MA 4.4% 4.4%
Chicago, IL 4.3% 3.%%
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The following represents our top five internationarkets by country as a percentage of our totaleolvlease
and consolidated joint venture revenues for the gaded December 31, 2010 (with comparable datado®):

Top Five International Markets as a % of Total Owned
Revenues for the Year Ended December 31, 2010 wifomparable Data for 20092

2010 2009
Country Revenue Revenue
Canade 10.£% 9.3%
Italy 7.0% 7.5%
Spain 5.5% 2.8%
Mexico 4.1% 4.7%
Australia 4.1% 5.2%

(2) Includes the revenues of hotels sold for the pepiial to their sale

Following the sale of a significant number of ootdis in the past three years, we currently owlease 62

hotels as follows:

Hotel Location Rooms
U.S. Hotels:

The St. Regis Hotel, New Yol New York, NY 22¢
St. Regis Hotel, San Francis San Francisco, C, 26C
The Phoenicial Scottsdale, Az 642
W New York— Times Squar: New York, NY 50¢
W Chicago Lakeshor Chicago, IL 52C
W Los Angeles Westwoa Los Angeles, C/ 25¢
W Chicago City Cente Chicago, IL 36¢
W New Orlean: New Orleans, LA 427
W New Orleans, French Quari New Orleans, LA 87
W Atlanta Atlanta, GA 27t
The Westin Maui Resort & Sg Maui, HI 75¢
The Westin Peachtree Plaza, Atla Atlanta, GA 1,06¢
The Westin Gaslamp San Die San Diego, C/ 45(
The Westin San Francisco Airpc San Francisco, C, 397
The Westin St. John Resort & Villi St. John, Virgin Islanc 17t
Sheraton Kauai Resc Kauai, HI 394
Sheraton Steamboat Springs Re Steamboat Springs, ( 20¢€
Sheraton Suites Philadelphia Airp Philadelphia, P/ 251
Aloft Lexington Lexington, MA 13€
Aloft Philadelphia Airpori Philadelphia, P# 13€
Element Lexingtor Lexington, MA 12%
Four Points by Sheraton Philadelphia Airg Philadelphia, P# 177
Four Points by Sheraton Tucson University P Tucson, AZ 15C
The Boston Park Plaza Hotel & Towve Boston, MA 941
The Manhattan at Times Squis New York, NY 66E
Tremont Hote Chicago, IL 13t
Clarion Hotel San Francisco, C, 251
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Hotel Location Rooms
Cove Haven Reso Scranton, P/ 27¢
Pocono Palace Res:t Scranton, P/ 18¢
Paradise Stream Res: Scranton, P£ 142
International Hotels:

St. Regis Grand Hotel, Ron Rome, Italy 161
St. Regis Osak Tokyo, Japal 16C
Grand Hote Florence, Italy 107
Hotel Gritti Palace Venice, Italy 91
Park Towel Buenos Aires, Argentir 18C
Hotel Alfonso Xl Seville, Spair 147
Hotel Imperial Vienna, Austric 13¢
Hotel Bristol, Vienne Vienna, Austrie 14C
Hotel Goldener Hirsc Salzburg, Austri 69
Hotel Maria Cristine San Sebastian, Spe 13¢€
W Barcelong Barcelona, Spai 473
The Westin Excelsior, Rorr Rome, Italy 31€
The Westin Resort & Spa, Los Cat Los Cabos, Mexici 242
The Westin Resort & Spa, Puerto Valle Puerto Vallarta, Mexici 28C
The Westin Excelsior, Floren Florence, Italy 171
The Westin Resort & Spa Canc Cancun, Mexicc 37¢
The Westin Denarau Island Res Nadi, Fiji 273
The Westin Dublin Hote Dublin, Ireland 162
Sheraton Centre Toronto Ho Toronto, Canad 1,37
Sheraton On The Pa Sydney, Australii 557
Sheraton Rio Hotel & Resc Rio de Janeiro, Braz 55¢
Sheraton Diana Majestic Hol Milan, Italy 10€
Sheraton Ambassador Ho Monterrey, Mexicc 22¢
Sheraton Lima Hotel & Convention Cen Lima, Peru 431
Sheraton Santa Maria de El Pat Rascafria, Spai 44
Sheraton Fiji Resol Nadi, Fiji 264
Sheraton Buenos Aires Hotel & Convention Ce Buenos Aires, Argentir 73¢
Sheraton Maria Isabel Hotel & Towe Mexico City, Mexico 75&
Sheraton Gateway Hotel in Toronto InternationapAit Toronto, Canad 474
Le Centre Sheraton Montreal Ho Montreal, Canad 82t
Sheraton Paris Airport Hotel & Conference Cel Paris, Franc: 252
The Park Lane Hotel, Londc London, Englant 303
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An indicator of the performance of our owned, lehard consolidated joint venture hotels is reverare
available room (“REVPAR"}Y, as it measures the period-over-period growtlmams revenue for comparable
properties. This is particularly the case in thet&thStates where there is no impact on this measom foreign
exchange rates.

The following table summarizes REVPAR, averageydaites (“ADR”) and average occupancy rates on a
yeal-to-year basis for our 54 owned, leased and catestelil joint venture hotels (excluding nine hotels ®r
closed and eight hotels undergoing significant sgfmmings or without comparable results in 201 2009)
(“Same-Store Owned Hotels”) for the years endedebdier 31, 2010 and 2009:

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 Variance

Worldwide (54 hotels with approximately 19,000 roor
REVPAR $136.27 $122.57 11.2%
ADR $196.6: $191.6( 2.6%
Occupancy 69.2% 64.(% 5.3
North America (28 hotels with approximately 12,000 roor
REVPAR $141.0: $126.4: 11.6€%
ADR $192.97 $184.2¢ 4.7%
Occupancy 73.1% 68.6% 4.5
International (26 hotels with approximately 7,000 roon
REVPAR $129.0¢ $116.7+ 10.5%
ADR $202.9¢ $205.0¢ 2.0%
Occupancy 63.6% 56.%% 6.7

(1) REVPAR is calculated by dividing room revenue, whig derived from rooms and suites rented or leasgd
total room nights available for a given period. REAR may not be comparable to similarly titted measisuch
as revenue:

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 28®98)vested approximately $184 million and
$171 million, respectively, for capital expenditsi@ owned hotels. These capital expendituresdectonstruction
costs at W City Center in Chicago, IL, Westin Péa@shPlaza in Atlanta, GA, Westin Gaslamp in Saegdj CA,
The Phoenician in Scottsdale, AZ, and the Manhatiatel at Times Square in New York, NY.

The following table summarizes REVPAR, ADR and qmmcy for our Same-Store Systemwide Hotels on a
yearto-year basis for the years ended December 31 26d 2009. Sam8tore Systemwide Hotels represent re:
for the same store owned, leased, managed anchfsadchotels.

Year Ended
December 31
2010 2009 Variance

Worldwide
REVPAR $106.57 $ 97.4¢ 9.4%
ADR $160.0C  $158.5: 0.€%
Occupancy 66.6% 61.5% 5.1
North America
REVPAR $99.81 $ 92.1; 8.2%
ADR $147.9¢  $147.2¢ 0.5%
Occupancy 67.2% 62.6% 4.8
International
REVPAR $115.9C $104.7* 10.€%
ADR $177.0¢ $174.6¢ 1.4%
Occupancy 65.5% 60.(% 5.8
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Vacation Ownership and Residential Busines

We develop, own and operate vacation ownershiptgsoarket and sell the VOIs in the resorts amanany
cases, provide financing to customers who purchask ownership interests. Owners of VOIs can tthdi
interval for intervals at other Starwood vacatiemership resorts, for intervals at certain vacatamership resorts
not otherwise sponsored by Starwood through anamgd company, or for hotel stays at Starwood ptigseiFrom
time to time, we securitize or sell the receivalgererated from our sale of VOls.

We have also entered into arrangements with seoena¢rs for mixed use hotel projects that will irde a
residential component. We have entered into licenagreements for the use of certain of our brémd#iow the
owners to offer branded condominiums to prospegiivehasers. In consideration, we typically receiVieensing
fee equal to a percentage of the gross sales rewarthe units sold. The licensing arrangement gdlyeterminates
upon the earlier of sell-out of the units or a $jpet length of time.

At December 31, 2010, we had 23 residential andti@t ownership resorts and sites in our portfalith 17
actively selling VOIs and residences including aneonsolidated joint venture. During 2010 and 2@@9nvested
approximately $151 million and $145 million, restieely, for vacation ownership capital expendityriesluding
VOI construction at the Westin Desert Willow VillasPalm Desert, CA, the Westin Lagunamar OceamnRé@s
Cancun, as well as construction costs at the SfisHRal Harbour Resort in Miami Beach, FL.

Due to the global economic crisis and its impacthenlong-term outlook for the timeshare industhyring the
fourth quarter of 2009, we completed a comprehensview of our vacation ownership projects. No peajects
are being initiated and we have decided not to ldpviaree vacation ownership sites and future pha$eertain
existing projects. As a result, inventories, fixass$ets and land values at certain projects weeendigted to be
impaired and were written down to their fair valtesulting in a primarily non-cash pre-tax impainneharge in
2009 of $255 million. Additionally, in connectionitiv this review of the business, we made a decigameduce the
pricing of certain inventory at existing projeatssulting in a pre-tax charge of $17 million. Aseault of these
decisions and future plans for the vacation owriprshsiness, we also recorded a $90 million no-chsirge for
the impairment of goodwill associated with the \tamaownership reporting unit.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Incorporated by reference to the description oflggoceedings in Note 26. Commitments and Continigs,
in the consolidated financial statements set forthem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementata D

20




Table of Contents

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters anduer Purchases of Equit
Securities
Market Information
The Corporation Shares are traded on the New Ytw&k3Exchange (the “NYSE”") under the symbol “HOT".

The following table sets forth the quarterly ramgé¢he high and low sale prices of the Corporattwares for
the fiscal periods indicated as reported on the E'C®mposite Tape:

_High ~_Low
2010
Fourth quarte $62.72 $52.1¢
Third quartel $54.25  $39.6(
Second quarte $56.65  $41.2¢
First quartel $47.52 $33.1F
2009
Fourth quarte $37.55  $27.6¢
Third quartel $34.7¢  $18.4¢
Second quarte $26.6¢ $12.1Z
First quartel $23.7¢  $ 8.9¢

Approximate Number of Equity Security Holders
As of February 11, 2011, there were approximatdlpQ0 holders of record of Corporation Shares.

Dividends

The following table sets forth the frequency andant of dividends made by the Corporation to haldsr
Corporation Shares for the years ended Decemb&030, and 2009:

Dividends
Declared
2010
Annual dividenc $0.30@
2009
Annual dividenc $0.20®)

(&) The Corporation declared a dividend in the ttoguarter of 2010 to shareholders of record onebdaer 16,
2010, which was paid in December 20

(b) The Corporation declared a dividend in the floguarter of 2009 to shareholders of record onebdaer 31,
2009, which was paid in January 20

Conversion of Securities; Sale of Unregistered Seities

In 2006, we completed the redemption of the remagi2i5,000 outstanding shares of Class B Exchangeabl
Preferred Shares of the Trust (“Class B ER8approximately $1 million in cash. Also in 2006,connection witl
the Host Transaction, we redeemed all of the (AaEgchangeable Preferred Shares of the Trust (‘€AaEPS”)
(approximately 562,000 shares) and Realty Partigetstits (approximately 40,000 units) for approxteig
$34 million in cash. SLC Operating Limited Partrigpsunits are convertible into Corporation Sharethe unit
holder’s option, provided that we have the optimiséttle conversion requests in cash or Corpor&hares. In
2006, we redeemed approximately 926,000 SLC Ompegraiimited Partnership units for approximately $6@lion
in cash, and there were approximately 166,000 &%0D0 of these units outstanding at December @1Q 2nd
2009, respectively.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any Corporation Shares d2@ig@.
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STOCK RETURN PERFORMANCE AND CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETUR N

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the cuativé total stockholder return on the Corporatitvar@s (an
Shares until April 7, 2006) against the cumulat@l return on the S&P 500 and the S&P 500 Hatdék (the
“S&P 500 Hotel”) for the five fiscal years begingiibecember 31, 2005 and ending December 31, 20%Ogiaph
assumes that the value of the investments was i @keoember 31, 2005 and that all dividends androthe
distributions were reinvested. In addition, the i@harices for the periods prior to the Host Tratisacon April 10,
2006 have been adjusted based on the value shdeehokceived for their Class B shares. The coropasiare
provided in response to SEC disclosure requiremamdsare not intended to forecast or be indicaifaiture

performance.
250
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Starwood 100.0( 122.7: 88.2: 37.6i 77.3¢ 129.2¢
S&P 500 100.0( 115.7¢ 122.1¢ 76.9¢ 97.3: 112.0:
S&P 500 Hote 100.0( 114.6( 100.3¢ 51.8¢ 80.87 123.9¢
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following financial and operating data shouddrbad in conjunction with the information set lfiounder
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our cadatéd
financial statements and related notes theretoaajmgeelsewhere in this Annual Report and incorfemtdnerein by
reference.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In millions, except per share data,

Income Statement Date

Revenue: $5,071 $4,69¢ $5,75¢ $5,99¢ $5,84(

Operating incom: $ 60C$ 26 $ 61C $ 841 $ 824

Income (loss) from continuing operatic®) $31C$ (1) $ 24¢ $ 53z $1,10¢

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operes $ 163 $00C $132 $252 $ 4.9¢

Operating Data

Cash from operating activiti¢ $ 764 $ 571 $ 64€ $ 884 $ 50C

Cash from (used for) investing activiti $ (7)$ 11€ $ (172 $ (215 $1.40:

Cash used for financing activiti $ (26)$ (993 $ (247 $ (712 $(2,63%)

Aggregate cash distributions p: $ 93 % 165 $ 172 $ 9C $ 27¢€

Cash distributions and dividends declared per S $03C$02C $09C $09C $ 0.84@

(&) In connection with the Host Transaction, in fepy and March 2006, the Trust declared distrdngitotaling
$0.42 per Corporation Share. In December 2006Ctrporation declared a dividend of $0.42 per Caapon
Share.

(b) Amounts represent income from continuing openatattributable to Starwood Shares (i.e. exclydion-
controlling interests)

At December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In millions)
Balance Sheet Dat:
Total asset $9,77¢ $8,761 $9,70: $9,627 $9,28(
Long-term debt, net of current maturities and idadg exchangeabl
units and Class B preferred sha $3,21t $2,95¢ $3,50z $3,59( $1,827

Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”") discess
our consolidated financial statements, which haaenlprepared in accordance with accounting priesigenerally
accepted in the United States. The preparatiohasfe consolidated financial statements requiresagenent to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities, the disol®f continger
assets and liabilities at the date of the constitifinancial statements and the reported amodmts/enues and
costs and expenses during the reporting periodardmgoing basis, management evaluates its essraatl
judgments, including those relating to revenue gedoon, bad debts, inventories, investments, plardperty anc
equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, incoaxes, financing operations, frequent guest prodiaility, self-
insurance claims payable, restructuring costsemagnt benefits and contingencies and litigation.

Management bases its estimates and judgments tomites experience and on various other factorsdna
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatioesesults of which form the basis for making joigts about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities #Hratnot readily available from other sources. Alctasults may differ
from these estimates under different assumptiodscanditions.

23




Table of Contents

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
We believe the following to be our critical accangtpolicies:

Revenue Recognition.Our revenues are primarily derived from the foflog sources: (1) hotel and resort
revenues at our owned, leased and consolidatevi@nture properties; (2) vacation ownership arsidential
revenues; (3) management and franchise revendesv@nues from managed and franchised propedies;

(5) other revenues which are ancillary to our ofi@na. Generally, revenues are recognized whesehdces have
been rendered. The following is a description ef¢bmposition of our revenues:

¢ Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venturd®epresents revenue primarily derived from hotel
operations, including the rental of rooms and faod beverage sales from owned, leased or conssadidat
joint venture hotels and resorts. Revenue is reéeegnvhen rooms are occupied and services have
rendered. These revenues are impacted by globabeto conditions affecting the travel and hospiyali
industry as well as relative market share of tlrallcompetitive set of hotels. REVPAR is a leadimdjcator
of revenue trends at owned, leased and consolijaitéd/enture hotels as it measures the
perioc-ovel-periodgrowth in rooms revenue for comparable proper

« Vacation Ownership and Residential\We recognize revenue from VOI sales and financamgkthe sales «
residential units which are typically a componeiinixed use projects that include a hotel. Suckeneres ar
impacted by the state of the global economies iangirticular, the U.S. economy, as well as interate anc
other economic conditions affecting the lending ketirRevenue is generally recognized upon the buyer
demonstrating a sufficient level of initial and toming investment, the period of cancellation wigfund
has expired and receivables are deemed collectidedetermine the portion of revenues to recogfize
sales accounted for under the percentage of coimpletethod based on judgments and estimates imgjudi
total project costs to complete. Additionally, veeord reserves against these revenues based artexkpe
default levels. Changes in costs could lead tosttjants to the percentage of completion statuspobject,
which may result in differences in the timing amdoaint of revenues recognized from the projects hate
also entered into licensing agreements with thatypdevelopers to offer consumers branded condam
or residences. Our fees from these agreementeaszajly based on the gross sales revenue ofsoids
Residential fee revenue is recorded in the pehatlda purchase and sales agreement exists, detif’ery
services and obligations has occurred, the fekg@ivner is deemed fixed and determinable and
collectability of the fees is reasonably assu

* Management and Franchise RevenueRepresents fees earned on hotels managed worldugdally unde
long-term contracts, franchise fees received imeaction with the franchise of our Sheraton, Wedtyr
Points by Sheraton, Le Méridien and Luxury Collectbrand names, termination fees and the amodizaf
deferred gains related to sold properties for whiehhave significant continuing involvement. Managat
fees are comprised of a base fee, which is gegdratied on a percentage of gross revenues, andemtive
fee, which is generally based on the propsrprofitability. For any time during the year, whiie provision
of our management contracts allow receipt of ingerfees upon termination, incentive fees are ratsgl
for the fees due and earned as if the contractevasinated at that date, exclusive of any termamatees du
or payable. Therefore, during periods prior to yead, the incentive fees recorded may not be itidieaf
the eventual incentive fees that will be recogniaegear-end as conditions and incentive hurdleutations
may not be final. Franchise fees are generallydasea percentage of hotel room revenues. As vatalh
revenues discussed above, these revenue sourcaféeated by conditions impacting the travel and
hospitality industry as well as competition fronh@t hotel management and franchise compa

* Revenues from Managed and Franchised Properti@hese revenues represent reimbursements af cost
incurred on behalf of managed hotel propertiesfeamithisees. These costs relate primarily to pagodts a
managed properties where we are the employer. 8ieceeimbursements are made based upon the costs
incurred with no added margin, these revenues arrdgponding expenses have no effect on our opgrati
income and our net incom
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets.Goodwill and intangible assets arise in conneciiith acquisitions,
including the acquisition of management contradts.do not amortize goodwill and intangible assath wmdefinite
lives. Intangible assets with finite lives are atiz&d on a straight-line basis over their respectiseful lives. We
review all goodwill and intangible assets for inmpa@nt by comparing their fair values to book valaesually, or
upon the occurrence of a trigger event. Impairnekatges, if any, are recognized in operating result

Frequent Guest Program. SPG is our frequent guest incentive marketingam. SPG members earn points
based on spending at our owned, managed and femachotels, as incentives to first-time buyers Gi%/and
residences, and through participation in affiliapadtners’ programs such as co-branded credit cRaists can be
redeemed at substantially all of our owned, managetfranchised hotels as well as through othezmgadion
opportunities with third parties, such as convardmairline miles.

We charge our owned, managed and franchised hheelsost of operating the SPG program, includirgg th
estimated cost of our future redemption obligatlmssed on a percentage of our SPG members’ qailifie
expenditures. The Company’s management and framelgieements require that we be reimbursed fardbis of
operating the SPG program, including marketingmations and communications and performing memhmicss
for the SPG members. As points are earned, the @oynipcreases the SPG point liability for the amafrcash it
receives from its managed and franchised hotedgelto the future redemption obligation. For itsied hotels we
record an expense for the amount of our futuremgdi®n obligation with the offset to the SPG pdiability. When
points are redeemed by the SPG members, the heteignize revenue and the SPG point liability duced.

We, through the services of third-party actuarialgsts, determine the value of the future redeonpti
obligation based on statistical formulas which pcbjthe timing of future point redemptions basedhistorical
experience, including an estimate of the “breakdgepoints that will never be redeemed, and aimegé of the
points that will eventually be redeemed as wethascost of reimbursing hotels and other thirdiparin respect of
other redemption opportunities for point redempgion

We consolidate the assets and liabilities of th& $Rogram including the liability associated witte tfuture
redemption obligation which is included in othemdeterm liabilities and accrued expenses in th@mganying
consolidated balance sheets. The total actuadaligrmined liability (see Note 18), as of Deceng#r2010 and
2009 is $753 million and $689 million, respectivety which $225 million and $244 million, respedly, is
included in accrued expenses.

Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate the carrying value of our long-liaesets for impairment by comparing the
expected undiscounted future cash flows of thetaisseéhe net book value of the assets if certégiger events
occur. If the expected undiscounted future cashdlare less than the net book value of the agbetgxcess of the
net book value over the estimated fair value isgdd to current earnings. Fair value is based @isoounted cash
flows of the assets at a rate deemed reasonaltleefdype of asset and prevailing market conditisates of similar
assets, appraisals and, if appropriate, curreimhated net sales proceeds from pending offers. Viluate the
carrying value of our long-lived assets based amptans, at the time, for such assets and suclitafizg factors as
future development in the surrounding area, staftexpected local competition and projected incnetalincome
from renovations. Changes to our plans, includinigeision to dispose of or change the intendedtiaa asset, c¢
have a material impact on the carrying value ofabset.

Loan Loss ReservesFor the vacation ownership and residential segmenrecord an estimate of expected
uncollectibility on our VOI notes receivable asauction of revenue at the time we recognize aditage sale. We
hold large amounts of homogeneous VOI notes rebkvend therefore assess uncollectibility basegamis of
receivables. In estimating loan loss reserves, seeatechnique referred to as static pool analish tracks
defaults for each year’s mortgage originations dkerlife of the respective notes and projectssaiimated default
rate. As of December 31, 2010, the average estihtwfault rate for our pools of receivables was 10%

The primary credit quality indicator used by usaiculate the loan loss reserve for the vacationesship
notes is the origination of the notes by brand (&tom, Westin, and Other) as we believe thererédadionship
between the default behavior of borrowers and thedassociated with the vacation ownership prgpgbey have
acquired. In addition to quantitatively calculatiting loan loss reserve based on its static podysisawe
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supplement the process by evaluating certain @uiakt data, including the aging of the respectaeaeivables,
current default trends by brand and originatiornryaad the Fair Isaac Corporation (“FICO”) scoréthe buyers.

Given the significance of our respective pools @flVhotes receivable, a change in the projecteduttatate cai
have a significant impact to its loan loss reseegiirements, with a 0.1% change estimated to havmpact of
approximately $3 million.

We consider a VOI note receivable delinquent whénmore than 30 days outstanding. All delinqueans
are placed on nonaccrual status and we do not eegtarest accrual until payment is made. Uponhieac
120 days outstanding, the loan is considered io befault and we commence the repossession process
Uncollectible VOI notes receivable are chargedadien title to the unit is returned to us. We gelygdo not
modify vacation ownership notes that become dekngor upon default.

For the hotel segment, we measure the impairmeatadn based on the present value of expectetefaash
flows, discounted at the loan’s original effectiméerest rate, or the estimated fair value of thiéateral. For
impaired loans, we establish a specific impairmeserve for the difference between the recordeéstment in the
loan and the present value of the expected futash 8ows or the estimated fair value of the cellat We apply th
loan impairment policy individually to all loans the portfolio and do not aggregate loans for tinppse of
applying such policy. For loans that we have deiteechto be impaired, we recognize interest incoma cash
basis.

Assets Held for Sale.We consider properties to be assets held forvgladsn management approves and
commits to a formal plan to actively market a prdyper group of properties for sale and a signdesseontract and
significant non-refundable deposit or contract krap fee exist. Upon designation as an asset loelsdle, we
record the carrying value of each property or grofiproperties at the lower of its carrying valukigh includes
allocable segment goodwill or its estimated faiuealess estimated costs to sell, and we stopdempdepreciatio
expense. Any gain realized in connection with thle sf a property for which we have significant tboning
involvement (such as through a lotegm management agreement) is deferred and re@shnizer the initial term ¢
the related agreement. The operations of the piepdreld for sale prior to the sale date are in discontinue
operations unless we will have continuing involvain@uch as through a management or franchise mgreg after
the sale.

Legal Contingencies. We are subject to various legal proceedings &aiths, the outcomes of which are
subject to significant uncertainty. An estimatessliérom a loss contingency should be accrued lhaege to incom
if it is probable that an asset has been impairedliability has been incurred and the amounteflbss can be
reasonably estimated. We evaluate, among othesrfathe degree of probability of an unfavorablecome and th
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amofilitss. Changes in these factors could materiadpact our
financial position or our results of operations.

Income Taxes. We provide for income taxes in accordance withgiples contained in ASC 74hcome
Taxes. Under these principles, we recognize the amofimoome tax payable or refundable for the curyerar
and deferred tax assets and liabilities for tharutax consequences of events that have beennigedgn our
financial statements or tax returns. We also meaand recognize the amount of tax benefit thatlshioei recorded
for financial statement purposes for uncertaingasitions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeWith respec
to uncertain tax positions, we evaluate the recghtax benefits for derecognition, classificatiomerest and
penalties, interim period accounting and disclosaggiirements. Judgment is required in assessfutbre tax
consequences of events that have been recogninent financial statements or tax returns.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion presents an analysis stilts of our operations for the years ended Deceibe
2010, 2009 and 2008.

Business conditions in the global lodging industgre extremely difficult beginning in the middle 2008
through late 2009, but have improved during 201@&sE improvements have resulted from better thpactad
occupancy primarily related to our three main @dass customers: business, leisure and group #esyeind the
stabilization of room rates. As corporate profigvd continued to rise, our business from the bgsitr@avelers,
which accounts for the majority of our revenuede#ling the recovery. In addition, the supply gidewth has bee
lower than recent years which has led us to achipper single digit to low double digit REVPAR gritwin many
of our leading markets. We are the largest opexatapper upscale and luxury hotels in the world e are seein
luxury travel leading the increases in occupan@siiite the improvement in revenues, we continenforce
previously instituted rigorous policies to contcoists.

As discussed in Note 2 of the financial statementiwing the adoption of ASU Nos. 2009-16 and 2a¥ on
January 1, 2010, our statement of income begimnnittythe year ended December 31, 2010 no longéatsf
securitization income, but instead reports inteirgtme, net charge-offs and certain other incossea@ated with
all securitized loan receivables, and interest agpeassociated with debt issued from the trudfsind-party
investors in the same line items in our stateméitamme as debt. Additionally, we will no longercord initial
gains or losses on new securitization activity sisecuritized vacation ownership notes receivabllmger receive
sale accounting treatment. Finally, we no longeogaize gains or losses on the revaluation ofriterést-only strip
receivable as that asset is not recognized imaaidion accounted for as a secured borrowing.

Our statement of income for the year ended DeceBbe2009 and our balance sheet as of Decemb&0889,
have not been retrospectively adjusted to refleetadoption of ASU Nos. 2009-16 and 2009-17. Theegfcurrent
period results will not be comparable to prior pdramounts, particularly with regards to:

« Vacation ownership and residential sales and ses

* Interest expens

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared with Year Ered December 31, 2009
Continuing Operations
Increase / Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease Change
December 31 December 31 from Prior from Prior

2010 2009 Year Year
Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venture Ho $ 1,70¢ $ 1,58 ¢ 12C 7.6%
Management Fees, Franchise Fees and Other Inco 712 65¢ 54 8.2%
Vacation Ownership and Residential 53¢ 523 15 2.%%
Other Revenues from Managed and Franchise Propes 2,117 1,931 18¢€ 9.6%
Total Revenue! $ 5,071 % 4,69¢ $  37¢ 8.C%

The increase in revenues from owned, leased argbtidated joint venture hotels was primarily due to
improved REVPAR (as discussed below) at our exgstiwned, leased and consolidated joint venturel$atéfset
in part by lost revenues from eight wholly ownedet® sold or closed in 2010 and 2009. These sotdosed hotels
had revenues of $18 million in the year ended Déxeer81, 2010 compared to $98 million in the coroesjing
period of 2009. Revenues at our Same-Store OwneéeldH®4 hotels for the year ended December 310 20d
2009, excluding the eight hotels sold or closedeigtt additional hotels undergoing significantasifionings or
without comparable results in 2010 and 2009) ireeda8.2%, or $107 million, to $1.421 billion foetiiear ended
December 31, 2010 when compared to $1.314 bilhiathé same period of 2009 due primarily to an iaseein
REVPAR.
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REVPAR at our Same-Store Owned Hotels increasezf/d 1o $136.27 for the year ended December 31, 2010
when compared to the corresponding 2009 period.ifidrease in REVPAR at these Same-Store Owned $lotel
resulted from a 2.6% increase in ADR to $196.62lieryear ended December 31, 2010 compared to G &dr. the
corresponding 2009 period and an increase in ocaypates to 69.3% in the year ended December@® @hen
compared to 64.0% in the same period in 2009. RER'BASame-Store Owned Hotels in North America iasee
11.6% for the year ended December 31, 2010 whemamad to the same period of 2009. REVPAR growth was
particularly strong at our owned hotels in New Y,ddew York, Chicago, lllinois, Toronto, Canada awelw
Orleans, Louisiana. REVPAR at our international 8¢Btore Owned Hotels increased by 10.5% for the geded
December 31, 2010 when compared to the same pefr2@09. REVPAR for Same-Store Owned Hotels
internationally increased 11.6% excluding the unfable effects of foreign currency translation.

The increase in management fees, franchise feestaadincome was primarily a result of a $59 roiilior
9.4% increase in management and franchise revers@39 million for the year ended December 31, 2010
compared to $630 million in the corresponding pim2009. Management fees increased $53 milliobdo®% ani
franchise fees increased $23 million or 16.7% caexgb#o the year ended December 31, 2009. Thesesises were
due to growth in REVPAR at existing hotels as waslthe net addition of 27 managed and 65 francliietals to
our system since the beginning of 2009.

Total vacation ownership and residential salessamdices revenue increased 2.9% to $538 millionpzoed tc
$523 million in 2009 primarily driven by the impaat ASU 2009-17. Originated contract sales of V@ldntory
decreased 3.1% for the year ended December 31,2040 compared to the same period in 2009. Thibndewas
primarily driven by lower tour flow which was dov#8% for the year ended December 31, 2010 when amdo
the same period in 2009. The decline in tour floasva result of the economic climate and resultiogure of
fractional sales centers in the latter part of 200®ditionally, the average contract amount peratiann ownership
unit sold decreased 6.0% to approximately $15,8€0en by price reductions and inventory mix. Resital
revenue increased approximately $6 million in tearyended December 31, 2010 primarily due to tbegmition of
$4 million of marketing and license fees associatéld a new hotel and residential project in Gudr@mg China
which opened in 2010.

Other revenues from managed and franchised prepéntreased primarily due to an increase in pbgosts
commensurate with increased occupancy at our egistianaged hotels and payroll costs for the newlfientering
the system. These revenues represent reimburseofarttsts incurred on behalf of managed hotel awhiion
ownership properties and franchisees and relategpily to payroll costs at managed properties wherare the
employer. Since the reimbursements are made basedthe costs incurred with no added margin, thegenues
and corresponding expenses have no effect on @ratipg income and our net income.

Increase/  Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease Change
December 31 December 31 from Prior  from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year

Selling, General, Administrative and Oth $344 $314 $30 9.€%

The increase in selling, general, administrative aer expenses for the year ended December 30,\28s
primarily a result of higher incentive based congagion in the current year when compared to thar gear. This
increase was partially offset by the reimbursenoéipreviously expensed legal costs in connectidh tie
favorable settlement of a lawsuit and an $8 millieversal of a guarantee liability which was falyssettled
during the period (see Note 26).

Increase/  Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31 December 31 from Prior  from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year

Restructuring, Goodwill Impairment and Other Speti
Charges (Credits), Net $(75) $37¢ $454 n/m

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redeash proceeds of $75 million in connection wité t
favorable settlement of a lawsuit. We recorded skitlement, net of the reimbursement of legalscimsturred in
connection with the litigation, as a credit to rasturing, goodwill impairment, and other specik(its) charges.
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Additionally, we recorded an $8 million credit reld to the reversal of a reserve associated withcguisition in
1998 as the liability is no longer deemed necessary

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we coagieitomprehensive review of our vacation ownership
business. We decided not to develop certain vatatimership sites and future phases of certairtiegiprojects.
As a result of these decisions, we recorded a pifiyrraon-cash impairment charge of $255 milliorthme
restructuring, goodwill impairment and other spkciarges (credits) line item. Additionally, we oeded a
$90 million non-cash charge for the impairment oédwill in the vacation ownership reporting unit.

Additionally, throughout 2009, we recorded restanicty and other special charges of $34 milliontedlao our
ongoing initiative of rationalizing our cost strupt. These charges related to severance chargessisdo close
vacation ownership sales galleries.

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31 December 31 from Prior  from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year
Depreciation and Amortizatiol $28¢ $30¢ $(24) 7.8%

The decrease in depreciation expense for the yelrdeDecember 31, 2010, when compared to the sarital
of 2009, was due to reduced depreciation expense $old hotels offset by additional capital expéngis made in
the last twelve months.

Increase/  Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease’ Change
December 31 December 31  from Prior ~ from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year
Operating Income $60C $26 $574 n/m

The increase in operating income for the year efdszember 31, 2010, when compared to the samedpefrio
2009, is primarily related to the restructuringpdwill impairments and other special charges (¢s@¢davorable
benefit of $75 million in 2010 compared to a chanfi&379 million in 2009 (see earlier discussighdditionally,
the increase in operating income was favorably otgghby improved operating results in primarilyaliour
revenue streams, as discussed earlier.

Increase/ Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31  December 31, from Prior from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year
Equity Earnings (Losses) and Gains and Losses fr
Unconsolidated Ventures, Net $10 $(4) $14 n/m

The increase in equity earnings and gains andddsse unconsolidated joint ventures for the yeatesl
December 31, 2010, when compared to the same pef@@09, was primarily due to improved operatiaguits at
several properties owned by joint ventures in whighhold non-controlling interests. The increas® aklates to a
charge of approximately $4 million, in 2009, rethte an unfavorable mark-to-market adjustment &fsadollar
denominated loan in an unconsolidated venture iridoe

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease Change
December 31 December 31  from Prior from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year
Net Interest Expens: $23€ $227 $9 4.C%

The increase in net interest expense was primauiéyto interest of $27 million on securitized debiated to th
adoption of ASU No. 2009-17, partially offset byrteén early debt extinguishment costs of $21 millthat were
incurred in 2009. Our weighted average interest vwas 6.86% at December 31, 2010 as compared36o6a?
December 31, 2009.
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Increase/ Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31  December 31  from Prior from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year
Loss on Asset Dispositions and Impairments, | $(39) $(91) $52 n/m

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redadet loss on dispositions of approximately $38an,
primarily related to a $53 million loss on the saf@ne wholly-owned hotel (see Note 5) as wekh & million
impairment of fixed assets that are being retiredannection with a significant renovation of a Wj@wned hotel,
and a $2 million impairment on one hotel whoseyiag value exceeded its fair value. These chargae partially
offset by a gain of $14 million from insurance peeds received for a claim at a wholly-owned hdtet suffered
damage from a storm in 2008, a $5 million gain assalt of an acquisition of a controlling interé@sa joint ventur:
in which we previously held a non-controlling irget (see Note 4) and a $4 million gain from the sélnon-hotel
assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we redadet loss on dispositions of approximately $9lian,
primarily related to $41 million of impairment clg@s on six hotels whose carrying values exceedsdftir values
a $22 million impairment of our retained interastyacation ownership mortgage receivables, a $illBHm
impairment of an investment in a hotel managementract that has been cancelled, a $5 million immpant of
certain technology-related fixed assets and a $#bmloss on the sale of a wholly-owned hotel.

Increase/  Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease)  Change
December 31 December 31, from Prior ~ from Prior
2010 2009 Year Year

Income Tax (Benefit) Expens $27 $(293) $32C n/m

The $320 million increase in income tax expensmarily relates to 2009 items that did not recu2®i0,
including a $120 million deferred tax benefit for Balian tax incentive program in which the tasiseof land and
building for the hotels we own in Italy was steppgxito fair value in exchange for paying a curtemtof
$9 million, a $51 million tax benefit related toepiously unrecognized foreign tax credits for ptix years and a
$10 million benefit to reverse the deferred inteeesrual associated with the deferral of taxabt®@me. The
remaining increase is primarily due to higher pretecome in 2010, partially offset by a benefit$af2 million
related to an IRS audit.

Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redadgin of $134 million related to the final settient
with the IRS regarding the World Directories disfios and a gain of approximately $36 million reldtto the sale
of one wholly-owned hotel. The tax benefit was tedieto the realization of a high tax basis in tiosel that was
generated through a previous transaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we sal@8liss spa business and other non-core assetsi$br
proceeds of $227 million. Revenues and expensestie Bliss spa business, together with revenué®gpenses
from one hotel that was sold in 2010, were repairiediscontinued operations resulting in a los$million, net o
tax. In addition, the net gain on the assets soRDD9 and the one hotel held for sale at Decei®be2009 has been
recorded in discontinued operations resulting aome of $76 million, net of tax.
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Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared with Year Ered December 31, 200
Continuing Operations

Increase/ Percentagt

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease Change
December 31  December 31  from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year

Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venture Hotel $ 1582 $ 2,212 $ (629 (28.9)%
Management Fees, Franchise Fees and Other Inco 65€ 751 (93 (12.9H%
Vacation Ownership and Residenti 523 74¢ (22€) (30.2%
Other Revenues from Managed and Franchise Propes 1,931 2,042 (117) (5.4)%
Total Revenue: $ 4,69 $ 575¢ $ (1,059 (18.4)%

The decrease in revenues from owned, leased arstl@bated joint venture hotels was primarily du¢he
economic crisis in the United States and intermatily. The decrease was also due to lost revemaes I5 wholly
owned hotels sold or closed in 2009 and 2008. Thekkor closed hotels had revenues of $68 miiliotne year
ended December 31, 2009 compared to $248 millidharcorresponding period of 2008. Revenues aSaure-
Store Owned Hotels (53 hotels for the year endeckBder 31, 2009 and 2008, excluding the 15 hotddsas
closed and 10 additional hotels undergoing sigaiftaepositionings or without comparable result2009 and
2008) decreased 24.0%, or $437 million, to $1.38®mb for the year ended December 31, 2009 whempared to
$1.823 hillion in the same period of 2008 due prilpdo a decrease in REVPAR.

REVPAR at our Same-Store Owned Hotels decreas&d@th $128.95 for the year ended December 31, 2009
when compared to the corresponding 2008 period.dEeecase in REVPAR at these Same-Store OwnedsHotel
resulted from a 17.1% decrease in ADR to $199.22he year ended December 31, 2009 compared to 3246
the corresponding 2008 period and a decrease upaocy rates to 64.7% in the year ended Decemh&08D
when compared to 71.2% in the same period in 2RE’/PAR at Same-Store Owned Hotels in North America
decreased 24.4% for the year ended December 39,286n compared to the same period of 2008. REVPAR
declined in substantially all of our major domestiarkets. REVPAR at our international Same-Storen€@wHotels
decreased by 25.0% for the year ended Decemb@089, when compared to the same period of 2008. PAR/P
declined in most of our major international mark&EVPAR for Same-Store Owned Hotels internatignall
decreased 20.3% excluding the unfavorable effdd@reign currency translation.

The decrease in management fees, franchise feestlagrdincome was primarily a result of an $87 ionill
decrease in management and franchise revenue Gor@n for the year ended December 31, 2009 canag to
$717 million in the corresponding period in 2008eTdecrease was due to the significant declinase land
incentive management fees as a result of the gkxtzaiomic crisis, partially offset by fees from thet addition of
40 managed and franchised hotels to our systenapmaximately $15 million in termination fees renaged in
2009 when compared to $4 million in 2008.

The decrease in vacation ownership and residesgias and services was primarily due to lower p&itgd
contract sales of VOI inventory, which represersation ownership revenues before adjustmentsdimeptage of
completion accounting and other deferrals, paytiaifset by gains of $23 million relating to setizations.
Originated contract sales of VOI inventory decrela3@% for the year ended December 31, 2009 whempared to
the same period in 2008. This decline was primahilyen by lower tour flow which was down 19.2% fbe year
ended December 31, 2009 when compared to the saraeg in 2008. The decline in tour flow was a résidithe
economic climate and resulting closure of underering sales centers. Additionally, the averagereah amount
per vacation ownership unit sold decreased 21.4&ppooximately $16,000, driven by a higher sales afilower-
priced inventory, including a higher percentagéowefer-priced biennial inventory. The decrease svalue to a
$43 million decrease in residential revenue, a®€88 period included license fees in connectidh wio St. Regi
projects.
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Other revenues from managed and franchised prepeatticreased primarily due to a decrease in costs,
commensurate with the decline in revenues, at @maged and franchised hotels. These revenues eapres
reimbursements of costs incurred on behalf of maddwptel and vacation ownership properties ancchigees and
relate primarily to payroll costs at managed prépsmwhere we are the employer. Since the reimbuesés are
made based upon the costs incurred with no addegimahese revenues and corresponding expensesnioesffec
on our operating income and our net income.

Increase/  Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31, December 31, from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year

Selling, General, Administrative and Oth $314 $377 $(63) (16.9%

The decrease in selling, general, administrativkaher expenses was primarily a result of our $amu
reducing our cost structure in the current econartiicate. Beginning in the middle of 2008, we begaractivity
value analysis project to review our cost strucammss a majority of our corporate departmentsdaridional
headquarters. (See Note 14 for a summary of chaiggxciated with this initiative.) A majority ofeltost
containment initiatives were completed and impleteéiin late 2008 and early 2009 and are now beiatized.
Costs and expenses related to our former Blisbspimess were reclassified to discontinued opearatior both
periods presented as a result of its sale at ttie£R009.

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31, December 31,  from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year
Restructuring, Goodwill Impairment and Othe
Special Charges, Net $37¢ $141 $23¢ n/m

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we complete@dmprehensive review of our vacation ownership bessn
We decided not to develop certain vacation ownprsiteés and future phases of certain existing ptejéAs a result
of these decisions, we recorded a primarily nom@agpairment charge of $255 million in the restuuitg,
goodwill impairment and other special charges fiam. Additionally, we recorded a $90 million noast charge
for the impairment of goodwill in the vacation owsleip reporting unit.

Additionally, throughout 2009, we recorded restanicty and other special charges of $34 milliontedlao our
ongoing initiative of rationalizing our cost strugt. These charges related to severance chargessisdo close
vacation ownership sales galleries.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we redaeelructuring and other special charges of $1iliom
including $62 million of severance and related gearassociated with our ongoing initiative of nasilizving our cos
structure in light of the current economic climatée also recorded impairment charges of approximate
$79 million primarily related to the decision notdevelop two vacation ownership projects as ate$the
economic climate and its impact on business canuiti

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease Change
December 31 December 31  from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year
Depreciation and Amortizatiol $30¢ $313 $(4) 1.9%

The decrease in depreciation expense was dueuoaddiepreciation expense from sold hotels offget b
additional capital expenditures made in the lasi\es months.

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease; Change
December 31 December 31, from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year
Operating Income $26 $61C $(589) n/m

The decrease in operating income was primarilytdube decline in our core business units, hoteds a
vacation ownership, due to the severe impact floergtobal economic crisis as discussed above anckthted
impairments and restructuring charges previoustguised. Additionally, operating income was impabig a
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$17 million charge, recorded in the vacation owhgrgosts and expenses line, related to a priagctigh in
vacation ownership intervals, following an in-deptlriew of the business. These decreases weralpadifset by
the reduction in selling, general, administratinel @ther costs as a result of our activity valualysis costs savings
project and other cost savings initiatives andvarfable $14 million income item related to the eapon of the
statute of limitations on an indirect tax exposane a Brazilian water claim.

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease’ Change
December 31  December 31  from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year
Equity (Losses) Earnings and Gains and Losses fr
Unconsolidated Ventures, Net $(4) $16 $(20) n/m

The decrease in equity earnings and gains andsléiss®a unconsolidated joint ventures was primadilg to
decreased operating results at several propesiasaby joint ventures in which we hold non-coningj interests.
The decrease also relates to a charge of appreedyrit million, in 2009, related to an unfavorable
mark-to-market adjustment on a US dollar denomah&ian in an unconsolidated venture in Mexico.

Increase/ Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31, December 31, from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year

Net Interest Expens: $227 $207 $20 9.7%

The increase in net interest expense was primaduiyto higher interest rates in the year ended mbee 31,
2009 when compared to the same period of 2008 aryl @ebt extinguishment costs of $21 million thetre
incurred in 2009. This was patrtially offset by vy average debt balance in 2009 as compared & 200
weighted average interest rate was 6.73% at Deae®ih@009 as compared to 5.24% at December 3B.200

Increase/ Percentage

Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease’ Change
December 31, December 31, from Prior from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year
Loss on Asset Dispositions and Impairments, | $(91) $(98) $(7) (7.)%

During 2009, we recorded a net loss on dispositarapproximately $91 million, primarily related to
$41 million of impairment charges on six hotels wh@arrying values exceeded their fair values,Zariflion
impairment of our retained interests in vacatiomewship mortgage receivables, a $13 million impaintrof an
investment in a hotel management contract thabbas cancelled, a $5 million impairment of certaithnology-
related fixed assets and a $4 million loss on #ie sf a wholly-owned hotel.

During 2008, we recorded a net loss of $98 milfiimarily related to $64 million of impairment clgas on
five hotels, a $22 million impairment of our invexsnt in vacation ownership notes receivable thahawe
previously securitized, and an $11 million writd-of our investment in a joint venture in which Weld minority
interest (see Note 5).

Increase/  Percentage
Year Ended Year Ended (Decrease) Change
December 31, December31  from Prior  from Prior
2009 2008 Year Year

Income Tax (Benefit) Expens $(293) $72 $(365) n/m

The $365 million decrease in income tax expensaanily relates to a deferred tax benefit of $120iom (net)
in 2009 for an Italian tax incentive program in wathihe tax basis of land and buildings for the Isotee own in
Italy was stepped-up to fair value in exchangepfying a current tax of $9 million. The remainirectease
primarily relates to tax benefits of $67 milliorsasiated with impairments, restructuring and asalets and
$37 million related to a foreign tax credit electichange. Additionally, a benefit of $10 million sveecognized to
reverse the deferred interest accrual associatidting deferral of taxable income. The remainingréase is
primarily due to lower pretax income.
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Discontinued Operations, Net of Te

During 2009, we sold our Bliss spa business andratbhn-core assets for cash proceeds of $227 millio
Revenues and expenses from the Bliss spa bustogsther with revenues and expenses from two hateish
were sold in 2010, were reported in discontinuegrafions resulting in a loss of $2 million, netaxt. In addition,
the net gain on the assets sold in 2009 and théated held for sale at December 31, 2009 has besorded in
discontinued operations resulting in income of 8¥lion, net of tax.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the gainspositions includes a $124 million gain ($129 raill
pretax) on the sale of three properties which vgetd unencumbered by management or franchise atitiehe ta
impact on this transaction was minimized due toutilezation of capital loss carryforwards. Additally, in 2009,
$5 million was reclassified to discontinued opemasi (in the 2008 results) relating to one hotel tes in the
process of being sold at the end of 2009. Discaetinoperations for the year ended December 31, 28308
includes a $49 million tax charge as a result 20@8 administrative tax ruling for an unrelatedp@yer, that
impacts the tax liability associated with the disiion of one of our businesses several years ago.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash From Operating Activities

Cash flow from operating activities is generateidharily from management and franchise revenues;atiog
income from our owned hotels and sales of VOlIsrasilential units. Other sources of cash are digions from
joint ventures, servicing financial assets andrggkincome. These are the principal sources d&f gasd to fund oL
operating expenses, interest payments on debtategpenditures, dividend payments and propertyiacome
taxes. We believe that our existing borrowing alillty together with capacity for additional bowimgs and cash
from operations will be adequate to meet all fugdiequirements for our operating expenses, priheipd interest
payments on debt, capital expenditures, dividendsamy share repurchase program we may initiatfeein
foreseeable future.

The majority of our cash flow is derived from corgite and leisure travelers and is dependent osuppely and
demand in the lodging industry. In a recessionapnemy, we experience significant declines in bessnand
leisure travel. The impact of declining demandhie industry and higher hotel supply in key marketsid have a
material impact on our sources of cash.

Our day-to-day operations are financed throughwmeking capital, a practice that is common in awdustry.
The ratio of our current assets to current liab#itwas 1.07 and 0.74 as of December 31, 2010 @@, 2
respectively. Consistent with industry practice,smeep the majority of the cash at our owned hatela daily
basis and fund payables as needed by drawing davanioexisting revolving credit facility.

State and local regulations governing sales of \&DI$ residential properties allow the purchasesuch a VOI
or property to rescind the sale subsequent tmitgpdetion for a pre-specified number of days. Idifdn, cash
payments received from buyers of units under canstmn are held in escrow during the period probtaining a
certificate of occupancy. These payments and tpedies collected from sales during the rescissinop are the
primary components of our restricted cash balaicesr consolidated balance sheets. At Decembe2@l0 and
2009, we had short-term restricted cash balanc#53million and $47 million, respectively.

During 2010, we completed a series of dispositimancing and other transactions that resulted-atgeds of
approximately $650 million as outlined below:

» We securitized vacation ownership receivables tieguin proceeds of approximately $180 millic
« We sold assets that resulted in cash proceedgpobdmately $150 million

* We received a tax refund from the IRS of $245 wmill{(see Note 15

» We received proceeds of $75 million as a resutheffavorable settlement of a lawsi
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Cash From Investing Activities

Gross capital spending during the full year endeddnber 31, 2010 was as follows (in millions):

Maintenance Capital Expenditures@:

Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venture H $10€

Corporate and information technolo 42
Subtotal _14¢
Vacation Ownership and Residential Capital Expenditres )

Net capital expenditures for inventory (excludirtgegis Bal Harbout (39

Capital expenditures for invento— St. Regis Bal Harbot 14¢€
Subtotal 112
Development Capital (117
Total Capital Expenditures $377

(1) Maintenance capital expenditures include improves)eanewals and extraordinary repairs that exteed
useful life of the asse

(2) Represents gross inventory capital expendituréd 68 less cost of sales of $!

Gross capital spending during the year ended DeeeBth 2010 included approximately $148 million of
maintenance capital, and $117 million of developnoapital. Investment spending on gross vacationesship
interest and residential inventory was $168 millipnmarily in Bal Harbour, Florida. Our capitalpenditure
program includes both offensive and defensive aapitefensive spending is related to maintenanderanovation:
that we believe are necessary to stay competitivhe markets we are in. Other than capital to eskdfire and life
safety issues, we consider defensive capital tisgm@etionary, although reductions to this capitalgram could
result in decreases to our cash flow from operatias hotels in certain markets could become lesisable. The
offensive capital expenditures, which are primaréiated to new projects that we expect will geteegareturn, are
also considered discretionary. We currently andéitgthat our defensive capital expenditures forfuleear 2011
(excluding vacation ownership and residential iri@ey) will be approximately $300 million for maintance,
renovations, and technology capital. In additiam,the full year 2011, we currently expect to spapdroximately
$150 million for investment projects.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we m&&3 anillion investment into an unconsolidated joint
venture. Our partner in the joint venture contrdgbian equal amount and the funds were used tofpaytturd-party
mortgage. Our interest in this unconsolidated jeamnture was subsequently sold, and we receivddpraseeds of
approximately $42 million. Additionally, we will edinue to manage the hotel, formerly owned by thetjventure,
under a long-term management contract.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we pacbapnately $23 million to acquire a controllingénest
in a joint venture in which we had previously haldon-controlling interest (see Note 4).

In order to secure management or franchise agresmea have made loans to third-party owners, made
minority investments in joint ventures and proviaedtain guarantees and indemnifications. See R@wf the
consolidated financial statements for discussigaming the amount of loans we have outstanding @itners,
unfunded loan commitments, equity and other padéntintributions, surety bonds outstanding, pertoroe
guarantees and indemnifications we are obligateig#iyrand investments in hotels and joint ventures.

We intend to finance the acquisition of additiohatel properties (including equity investmentshsiouction
of the St. Regis Bal Harbour, hotel renovations | ¥@d residential construction, capital improversetechnology
spend and other core and ancillary business atigusiand investments and provide for general aaegurposes
(including dividend payments and share repurchabkesiyigh our credit facilities described below gilgh the net
proceeds from dispositions, through the assumpmtfatebt, and from cash generated from operations.

35




Table of Contents

We periodically review our business to identify pedies or other assets that we believe eithenamnecore
(including hotels where the return on invested s not adequate), no longer complement oummssi, are in
markets which may not benefit us as much as otlagkets during an economic recovery or could be abld
significant premiums. We are focused on enhanaadjestate returns and monetizing investments.

Since 2006, we have sold 62 hotels realizing pset approximately $5.3 billion in numerous trastgms
(see Note 5 of the consolidated financial states)efitbere can be no assurance, however, that weendble to
complete future dispositions on commercially reasde terms or at all.

The 2010 asset sales resulted in gross cash pofreed investing activities of approximately $15@lion and
are discussed in our general liquidity discussioden cash used for financing activities.
Cash Used for Financing Activities

The following is a summary of our debt portfolia¢iuding capital leases) as of December 31, 2010:

Amount
Outstanding at Interest Rate at
December 31 December 31 Average
2010@) 2010 Maturity
(Dollars in millions) (In years)
Floating Rate Debt
Revolving Credit Facilitie: $ — — 2.8
Mortgages and Oth 41 5.9¢% 2.3
Interest Rate Sway 50C 4.8%
Total/Average $ 541 4.92% 2.3
Fixed Rate Debt
Senior Note! $ 2,69¢ 7.2€% 4.1
Mortgages and Oth 11¢€ 7.5€% 7.2
Interest Rate Sway (500 7.06%
Total/Average $ 2,31¢ 7.31% 4.2
Total Debt
Total Debt and Average Terr $ 2,85i 6.8¢% 4.2

(a) Excludes approximately $434 million of our ghaf unconsolidated joint venture debt and seaadtivacation
ownership debt of $494 million, all of which is r-recourse

For specifics related to our financing transactigssuances, and terms entered into for the yewtsde
December 31, 2010 and 2009, see Note 16 of theotidated financial statements. We have evaluated th
commitments of each of the lenders in our Revolvngdit Facilities (the “Facilities”). In additiomye have
reviewed our debt covenants and do not anticipagdssues regarding the availability of funds untther Facilities.

On April 20, 2010, we executed a new $1.5 billi@ni®r Credit Facility (“New Facility”). The New Fity
matures on November 15, 2013 and replaces the @875 billion Revolving Credit Agreement, whialould
have matured on February 11, 2011.

Due to the adoption of ASU Nos. 2009-16 and 2009a% discussed in Notes 2, 10, and 11, our 2049 ca
flows from financing activities include the borrawgis and repayments of securitized vacation owneidit.

During 2010, as previously described in Cash froper@ting Activities, we completed a series of d&pon,
financing and other transactions that resulteddatgeds of approximately $650 million. As a restithese
transactions and cash flow from operations, net dels reduced to $2.060 billion compared to net déb
$2.819 bhillion as of December 31, 2009. Our gradst et December 31, 2010 was $2.857 billion, exopdebt
associated with securitized vacation ownershipsieeivable. Additionally, we had cash and caslivadents of
$797 million (including $44 million of restrictedash) at December 31, 2010. As discussed earlieadopted
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ASU Nos. 2009-16 and 2009-17 on January 1, 2010&ad result, at December 31, 2010 we had $49bmdf
non-recourse debt and $19 million of restrictecha@ssociated with securitized vacation ownershipivables.
Including this debt and restricted cash associaitfdsecuritized vacation ownership receivables, et debt was
$2.535 billion at December 31, 2010.

Our Facilities are used to fund general corporathaeeds. As of December 31, 2010, we have ailijlalf
over $1.4 billion under the Facilities. We haveieged the financial covenants associated with @ailfes, the
most restrictive being the leverage ratio. As o€@®uaber 31, 2010, we were in compliance with thiseoant and
expect to remain in compliance through the endddfi2 We have the ability to manage the businessder to
reduce our leverage ratio by reducing operatings¢selling, general and administrative costs arstpgoning
discretionary capital expenditures. However, thoame be no assurance that we will stay below theired leverage
ratio if the current economic climate deteriorates.

Based upon the current level of operations, managétrelieves that our cash flow from operations assbt
sales, together with our significant cash balaifapproximately $816 million at December 31, 20h@Juding
$63 million of short-term and long-term restrictkh), available borrowings under the Facilitied atner bank
credit facilities (approximately $1.4 billion at Bember 31, 2010), and capacity for additional beings will be
adequate to meet anticipated requirements for sibednaturities, dividends, working capital, capéspenditures,
marketing and advertising program expendituregradiscretionary investments, interest and schedulimcipal
payments and share repurchases for the foresdetdnle. However, there can be no assurance thatillvee able
to refinance our indebtedness as it becomes dugfaefinanced, on favorable terms. In additidrere can be no
assurance that in our continuing business we willegate cash flow at or above historical levelst thurrently
anticipated results will be achieved or that wd b able to complete dispositions on commerciabsonable
terms or at all.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flomf operations in the future to service our delet,may be
required to sell additional assets at lower thaigered amounts, reduce capital expenditures,aedia all or a
portion of our existing debt or obtain additionialaincing at unfavorable rates. Our ability to makkeduled
principal payments, to pay interest on or to refireour indebtedness depends on our future perfaenand
financial results, which, to a certain extent, subject to general conditions in or affecting tlitehand vacation
ownership industries and to general economic, ipaljtfinancial, competitive, legislative and regtary factors
beyond our control.

We had the following contractual obligations (1}standing as of December 31, 2010 (in millions):

Due in Less Due in Due in Due After

Total Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Debt () $2,858 $ 9 $121C $ 951 $ 68t
Interest payabl 89C 20¢ 32z 204 15€
Capital lease obligatior® 2 — — — 2
Operating lease obligatioi® 1,34¢ 96 161 14¢ 93¢
Unconditional purchase obligatio®) 22t 69 124 28 4
Other lon¢-term obligation: 3 2 1 — —
Total contractual obligatior $5,32( $ 384 $181¢ $1,33 $ 1,78¢

(1) The table below excludes unrecognized tax benihfitswould require cash outlays for $341 millidme timing
of which is uncertain. Refer to Note 15 of the aditkated financial statements for additional disios on this
matter. In addition, the table excludes amountsteel to the construction of our St. Regis Bal Harljyoject
that has a total project cost of $750 million, dfigh $532 million has been paid through Decembe£810.

(2) Excludes securitized debt of $494 million, all dfieh is nor-recourse
(3) Excludes sublease income of $2 milli
(4) Excludes sublease income of $13 milli

(5) Included in these balances are commitments thatbeagimbursed or satisfied by our managed andlfiaad
properties
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We had the following commercial commitments outdtag as of December 31, 2010 (in millions):

Less Than After
Total 1 Year 1-3Years 3-5VYears 5 Years
Standby letters of crec $15¢ $144 $12 $— $3

A dividend of $0.30 per share was paid in Decen29d0 to shareholders of record as of DecemberaH).2
A dividend of $0.20 per share was paid in Janu@d02o shareholders of record as of December 319.20

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our off-balance sheet arrangements include letteesedit of $159 million, unconditional purchasaigations
of $225 million and surety bonds of $23 million.€Ee items are more fully discussed earlier ingaetion and in
the Notes to Financial Statements and Item 8 dfIPaf this report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk.

In limited instances, we seek to reduce earningscash flow volatility associated with changesriterest rate
and foreign currency exchange rates by enterirgfinancial arrangements intended to provide a bedinst a
portion of the risks associated with such volatilitVe continue to have exposure to such risksacettient they are
not hedged.

We enter into a derivative financial arrangemernthmextent it meets the objectives described ahae we di
not engage in such transactions for trading ordp#ee purposes.

At December 31, 2010, we were party to the follaywierivative instruments:

» Forward contracts to hedge forecasted traimsector management and franchise fee revenues@amnn
foreign currencies. The aggregate dollar equivadétiie notional amounts was approximately $37iamll
and they expire in 201

« Forward foreign exchange contracts to manhgéddreign currency exposure related to certaieragmpany
loans not deemed to be permanently invested. Theeggte dollar equivalent of the notional amourithe
forward contracts was approximately $759 milliorl &imey expire in 201!
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The following table sets forth the scheduled mégsiand the total fair value of our debt portfaiod other
financial instruments as of December 31, 2010 (ilians, excluding average exchange rates):

Total Fair
Expected Maturity or Transaction Date Total at Value at
At December 31, December 31  December 31
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter 2010 2010
Liabilities
Fixed rate $ 8 $41E $30¢€ $444 $45€ $687 $2,31¢ $2,58¢
Average interest ra 7.31%
Floating rate $ 1 $23¢ $251 $ 50 $ 1 $ — $ 541 $ 541
Average interest ra 4.92%
Forward Foreign Exchange
Hedge Contracts:
Fixed (EUR) to Fixed (USC $ 31 $— $— $— $— $— $ — $§ —
Average Exchange ra 1.3¢
Fixed (JPY) to Fixed (USC $ 6 $— $— $— $— $— $ — $ —
Average Exchange ra .01
Forward Foreign Exchange
Contracts:
Fixed (EUR) to Fixed (USC $11C $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1 $ 1
Average Exchange ra 1.3¢
Fixed (CLP) to Fixed (USC $ 52 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (1 $ D
Average Exchange ra .0C
Fixed (THB) to Fixed (USD $ 13 $ — $ — $— $ — $ — $ — $§ —
Average Exchange ra .03
Fixed (JPY) to Fixed (USC $ 60 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (1 $ D
Average Exchange ra .01
Fixed (CAD) to Fixed (USD $35¢ $ — $ — $ — $— $ — $ (5 $ B
Average Exchange ra 1.0C
Fixed (AUD) to Fixed (USD $ 29 $ — $ — $ — $— $ — $ $ @
Average Exchange ra .9¢
Fixed (AUD) to Fixed (EUR $ 63 $ — $ — $ — $— $ — $ Q) $ @
Fixed (GBP) to Fixed (EUR $ 56 $— $— $— $— $— $ (D $ D
Fixed (JPY) to Fixed (THB $ 18 $— $— $— $—  $— $ — $ —
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements and supplementary datareztjby this Item are included in Item 15 of tAisnual
Report and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure.
Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this repsg,carried out an evaluation, under the supenviaiod with
the participation of our management, including principal executive and principal financial offiseof the
effectiveness of the design and operation of aseldsure controls and procedures (as such terefiised in
Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) of the Securlfieshange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)). Baspdn the
foregoing evaluation, our principal executive amish@pal financial officers concluded that our desgure controls
and procedures were effective and operating toigeoreasonable assurance that information reqtirbe
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or sitlumder the Exchange Act is recorded, processednsarized, and
reported within the time periods specified in thkes and forms of the Securities and Exchange Cessiam, and to
provide reasonable assurance that such informegiaccumulated and communicated to our managemnehiding
our principal executive and principal financialioffrs, as appropriate to allow timely decisionsarding required
disclosure.

There has been no change in our internal contred fimancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13(&aje} and 15
(d)-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that occurrednguthe period covered by this report that has nedlg affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ontarnal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finaiad Reporting

Management of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, and its subsidiaries is responsible for esthhig
and maintaining adequate internal control overrfaial reporting, as such term is defined in ExcleaAgt
Rule 13a-15(f) or 15(d)-15(f). Those rules definginal control over financial reporting as a pesdesigned to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfjabflfinancial reporting and the preparation iofaincial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting principles (“GAARid include
those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in ressle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sattions an
dispositions of the assets of the Comp:

« Provide reasonable assurance that the transactre recorded as necessary to permit the @igqaof
financial statements in accordance with GAAP, dredreceipts and expenditures of the Company angbei
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngan@ent and directors of the Company;

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding prienent timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiase or
disposition of the Compa's assets that could have a material effect onitlamdial statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or déte
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation aatiffeness to future periods are subject to thethiat controls
may become inadequate because of changes in amyjitr that the degree of compliance with policies
procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehggsCompany’s internal controls over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2010. In making teiseasment, the Company’s management used théecriter
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the
Treadway Commission (COSOQ). Based on our assesamdrhose criteria, management believes that;, as o
December 31, 2010, the Company’s internal contvet éinancial reporting is effective.

Management has engaged Ernst & Young LLP, the iexlégnt registered public accounting firm that aadlit
the financial statements included in this Annugb&eé€on Form 10-K, to attest to the Company’s imékicontrol
over financial reporting. Its report is includedia.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Starwdottls & Resorts Worldwide, Inc.

We have audited Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwiide.’s (the “Company”) internal control over finaal
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on aitstiablished in Internal Control — Integrated Feework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Camjza
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, and ftsr assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over fingh reporting included in the accompanying Managetis Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Oesponsibility is to express an opinion on the Camyfsainternal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitex acquisition, use or disposition of the compaassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fioal
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on theCCEOeria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance shedgteedfompany as of December 31, 2010 and 2009%thencklated
consolidated statements of income, comprehenso@rie, equity and cash flows for each of the thesryin the
period ended December 31, 2010 of the Company anceport dated February 17, 2011, expressed analifiqd
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 17, 2011
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Changes in Internal Controls

There has not been any change in our internal @omer financial reporting identified in connectiwith the
evaluation that occurred during the year ended Bbee 31, 2010 that has materially affected, oe&sonably
likely to materially affect, those controls.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente.

Information regarding directors, executive officarsl corporate governance is incorporated by neferéo our
Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockieoddo be held May 5, 2011 (the “Proxy Statememijich will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio more than 120 days after the close of oualffigear.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

Information regarding executive compensation isiporated by reference to the Proxy Statement, wvit
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio more than 120 days after the close of oualffigear.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afhhnagement and Related Stockholder Matte

Information regarding security ownership of certa@neficial owners and management and related tsbdebér
matters is incorporated by reference to the Prdaajeent, which will be filed with the SecuritiesdaExchange
Commission no more than 120 days after the closiofiscal year.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions abitector Independence

Information regarding certain relationships anated transactions and director independence ispocated b
reference to the Proxy Statement, which will bedilvith the Securities and Exchange Commission o rthan
120 days after the close of our fiscal year.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

Information regarding principal accounting fees andvices is incorporated by reference to the Proxy
Statement, which will be filed with the Securitesd Exchange Commission no more than 120 daysthéierlose
of our fiscal year.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report:

1-2. The financial statements and financialestent schedule listed in the Index to Financialebtants
and Schedule following the signature pages he

3. Exhibits:
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

21

2.2

2.3

2.4

31

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Formation Agreement, dated as of November 11, 18%ng the Company, Starwood Capital and the
Starwood Partners (incorporated by reference taldibt to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 16, 1994). (The SECnumber of all filings made by the Company
pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded, and referenced herein-7959).

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Formation Agreementedas of July 1995, among the Company and the
Starwood Partners (incorporated by reference tolixt0.23 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form &2 filed with the SEC on June 29, 1995 (Registrabims. 3:-59155 and 3-59155-01)).

Master Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as oEhder 14, 2005, among Host Marriott Corpora
Host Marriott, L.P., Horizon Supernova Merger Sulh,.C., Horizon SLT Merger Sub, L.P., Starwood
Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc., Starwood Hotelfk&sorts, Sheraton Holding Corporation and SLT
Realty Limited Partnership (the “Merger Agreemettificorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on November 14, 200

Amendment Agreement, dated as of March 24, 200thetdlerger Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.1 of the Joint Current Report on F@-K filed with the SEC on March 29, 200¢

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Compas of May 30, 2007 (incorporated by reference
to Appendix A to the Compa’s 2007 Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statem

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as@adesnd restated through April 10, 2006
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to then(any’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on April 13, 2006 (th*April 13 Form &K”).

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of thepgaom dated as of March 13, 2008 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s CurfReport on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March
18, 2008)

Termination Agreement dated as of April 7, 2006a&sn the Company and the Trust (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the April 13 Forr-K).

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated Agriéf7, 2006, between the Company and American
Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as Rights Agehtch includes the form of Amended and Restated
Articles Supplementary of the Series A Junior Rgotiting Preferred Stock as Exhibit A, the form of
Rights Certificate as Exhibit B and the SummarfRafhts to Purchase Preferred Stock as Exhibit C)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of theihp3 Form &K).

Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of NowetBhd 995, as Amended and Restated as of
December 15, 1995 between ITT Corporation (formkrigwn as ITT Destinations, Inc.) and the First
National Bank of Chicago, as trustee (incorpordgdeference to Exhibit 4.A.IV to the First Amendmb

to ITT Corporatio’s Registration Statement on Fori-3 filed with the SEC on November 13, 19¢

First Indenture Supplement, dated as of Decemhet @8, among ITT Corporation, the Company and
The Bank of New York (incorporated by referenc&iibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on January 8, 199

Second Indenture Supplement, dated as of ApriD@62among the Company, Sheraton Holding
Corporation and Bank of New York Trust Company, N &s trustee (incorporated by reference to Ex
4.3 to the April 13 Form-K).

Indenture, dated as of April 19, 2002, among thex@any, the guarantor parties named therein and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporétgdeference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s and
Sheraton Holding Corporation’s Joint Registratidat&ment on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on
November 19, 2002

Indenture, dated as of September 13, 2007, bettiee@ompany and the U.S. Bank National Associe

as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhiliitd the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on September 17, 2007 (*September 17 Formr-K”)).

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September0lg, between the Company and the U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 4.2 to the September 17 Fc-K).
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

4.9

4.10

4.11

101

10.2

10.3

104

105

10.6
10.7

10.8

109

1C0.10
1011

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of May 2882between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by refereéadexhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on May 28, 200¢

Supplemental Indenture No. 3, dated as of May @92between the Company and the U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 4.1 to the Comp’s Current

Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on May 12, 200¢

Supplemental Indenture No. 4, dated as of Novera®eR009, between the Company and the U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 4.1 to the Comp’s Current

Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on November 23, 200

The registrant hereby agrees to file with the Cossion a copy of any instrument, including indergure
defining the rights of long-term debt holders df tlegistrant and its consolidated subsidiaries upen
request of the Commissia

Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership @grent for Operating Partnership, dated January 6,
1999, among the Company and the limited partne@pafrating Partnership (incorporated by referen
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on FA®rK405 for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1998).

Form of Trademark License Agreement, dated as ceéBer 10, 1997, between Starwood Capital and
the Company (incorporated by reference to ExhiiP2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 19

Credit Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2010, amitregCompany, certain additional Dollar Revolving
Loan Borrowers, certain additional Alternate CuagRevolving Loan Borrowers, various Lenders,
Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrathgent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Syndication Agent, Deutsche Bank Securities In€., Morgan Securities Inc. and Banc of America
Securities LLC, as Lead Arrangers and Book RunMiagagers, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on April 22, 2010

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. 1999 Lergrm Incentive Compensation Plan (the “1999
LTIP") (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10cithe Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended June 30, 199

First Amendment to the 1999 LTIP, dated as of Audu2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl10.
to the Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 20!
Second Amendment to the 1999 LTIP (incorporatedetigrence to Exhibit 10.2 to the 2003-Q1). *

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursiia the 1999 LTIP (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.30 to the 2004 Form -K).*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant tdl®®&9 LTIP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.31 to the 2004 Form -K).*

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. 2002 Largym Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2002
LTIP") (incorporated by reference to Annex B of the Com|'s 2002 Proxy Statement)

First Amendment to the 2002 LTIP (incorporated éference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 2003-Q1).*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursia the 2002 LTIP (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.49 to the 2002 Form -K filed on February 28, 2003 (ti“2002 1(-K")).*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant t®0@2 LTIP (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.35 to the 2004 Form -K).*

2004 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, amenadedestated as of December 31, 2008 (“2004
LTIP") (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a3the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on January 6, 2009 (“January 2009-K")).*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursiia the 2004 LTIP (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the 2004 Form -Q2).*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant t&0®4 LTIP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.38 to the 2004 Form -K).*
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10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursiia the 2004 LTIP (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report onrk@&-K filed February 13, 2006 (the February 2006
Form €&-K”)).*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant t&20@4 LTIP (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl

to the February 2006 Forn-K).*

Form of Amended and Restated Non-Qualified StockddpAgreement pursuant to the 2004 LTIP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmmpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended June 30, 2006 (the 2006 For-Q2")).*

Form of Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Ageeé pursuant to the 2004 LTIP (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 2006 Forn-Q2).*

Annual Incentive Plan for Certain Executives, ameghdnd restated as of December 2008 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the January 2C-K).*

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. Amendad &estated Deferred Compensation Plan,
effective as of January 22, 2008 (incorporate ligremce to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 200

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Conypand each of its Directors and executive
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10té the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on November 25, 2009

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2088veen the Company and Vasant Prabhu
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to 2003 1(-K).*

Letter Agreement, dated August 14, 2007, betweerCibmpany and Vasant Prabhu (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Curfeaport on Form & filed with the SEC on August 1
2007 (the"August 17 Form -K")).*

Amendment, dated as of December 30, 2008, to emmaayagreement between the Company and
Vasant Prabhu (incorporated by reference to Extibi4 to the Company’s Annual Report on

Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008“2008 Form 1-K").*

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2088veen the Company and Kenneth Siegel
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to@wmmpany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2000 (“2000 Form 1-K")).*

Letter Agreement, dated July 22, 2004 between traggany and Kenneth Siegel (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the 2004 Forn-K).*

Letter Agreement, dated August 14, 2007, betweerCibmpany and Kenneth S. Siegel (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the August 17 FoI-K).*

Amendment, dated as of December 30, 2008, to emmiEay agreement between the Company and
Kenneth S. Siegel (incorporated by reference taltixh0.43 to the 2008 Form -K).*

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 2, 208fyéen the Company and Bruce W. Duncan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to tlwmpany’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 200°

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement betweenGbenpany and Bruce W. Duncan pursuant to the
2004 LTIP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit2lth the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 200

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilzscember 30, 2008, between the Company
and Frits van Paasschen (incorporated by referten€ghibit 10.52 to the 2008 Form -K).*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement betwége Company and Frits van Paasschen pursuant
to the 2004 LTIP (incorporated by reference to BiHi0.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on

Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, Z0@2007 Form 1-Q3")).*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement betweenGbenpany and Frits van Paasschen pursuant to the
2004 LTIP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit6lth the 2007 Form -Q3).*

Form of Restricted Stock Grant between the CompaantlyFrits van Paasschen pursuant to the 2004 LTIP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to td@2Form 1-Q3). *
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
10.57 Form of Severance Agreement between the Compangacitdof Messrs. Siegel and Prabhu
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to2088 Form 1-K).*
12.1  Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Total Fixed @jes.*
21.1  List of our Subsidiaries*
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLF*
31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under theuBties Exchange Act of 1934 — Chief Executive
Officer.+
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under theufiges Exchange Act of 1934 — Chief Financial
Officer.+
32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chap&pbTitle 18 of the United States Code — Chief
Executive Officer+*
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chap&pbTitle 18 of the United States Code — Chief

Financial Officer*

+ Filed herewith
* |ndicates management contract or compensatorygelarrangemer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE,
INC.

By: /s/ FRITS VAN PAASSCHEN

Frits van Paasschen
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: February 17, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe
following persons on behalf of the registrant ia ttapacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl FRITS VAN PAASSCHEN Chief Executive Officer and Director February 17, 201
Frits van Paassch

/sl Bruce W. DuNCAN Chairman and Director February 17, 201
Bruce W. Duncal
/sl VasANT M. PRABHU Executive Vice President and Chief February 17, 201
Vasant M. Prabhu Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer)
/sl ALAN M. SCHNAID Senior Vice President, Corporate February 17, 201
Alan M. Schnaid Controller and Principal Accounting

Officer
/sl Abam M. ARON Director February 17, 201
Adam M. Aron
/sl CHARLENE BARSHEFSKY Director February 17, 201

Charlene Barshefsk

/sl THomAs E. QLARKE Director February 17, 201
Thomas E. Clark

/sl QAyToN C. DALEY, JR. Director February 17, 201
Clayton C. Daley, Ji

/sl LizANNE GALBREATH Director February 17, 201
Lizanne Galbreat

/sl Bric HipPEAU Director February 17, 201
Eric Hippeal
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Signature

Title

Date

/sl SEPHENR. QUAZZO

Stephen R. Quaz:

/s THomAas O. RYDER

Thomas O. Ryde

/sl KNEELAND C. YOUNGBLOOD

Kneeland C. Youngbloo

Director

Director

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Starwdottls & Resorts Worldwide, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, |
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2010 and 2008,the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows foh ed the three years in the period ended DeceBibe2010.
Our audits also included the financial statemehedale listed in the Index at Item 15(a). Thesarfoial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Commamanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on
these financial statements and schedule basedraudiis.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of the Company at December 3,(Rand 2009, and the consolidated results ofoésations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in tiiéoo ended December 31, 2010, in conformity witB.\4jenerally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinithe related financial statement schedule, wioasidered in
relation to the basic financial statements takea @a#$ole, presents fairly in all material respébtsinformation set
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company adopted Financial Acdogint
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards UpdaASU”) No. 2009-16Transfers and Servicing
(Topic 860): Accounting for Transfers of Financhdsetgformerly Statement of Financial Accounting Stamtsar
(“SFAS”) No. 166), and ASU No. 2009-1Cpnsolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Finah&eporting by
Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Enst(formerly SFAS No. 167) on January 1, 2010. The Gany
adopted SFAS No. 160loncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htements— an amendment of
ARB No. 51 (codified in FASB Accounting Standardsd@ication Topic 810Consolidationg on January 1, 2009.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting as of December 31, 2010, Has®ecriteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the
Treadway Commission and our report dated Februargd11 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 17, 2011
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2010 2009
(In millions, except
share data)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 758 $ 87
Restricted cas 53 47
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ititounts of $45 and $! 51z 44E
Inventories 80z 782
Securitized vacation ownership notes receivablephallowance for doubtful accounts of $!
and $0 59 —
Prepaid expenses and ot 12¢€ 127
Total current asse 2,306 1,48¢
Investment: 31z 36¢
Plant, property and equipment, | 3,32 3,35(
Assets held for sal — 71
Goodwill and intangible assets, 1 2,061 2,062
Deferred tax asse 97¢ 982
Other asset 381 43¢
Securitized vacation ownership notes receivable 40¢ —

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Shor-term borrowings and current maturities of I-term deb $ 9 % 5
Accounts payabl 13¢ 13¢
Current maturities of lor-term securitized vacation ownership d 127 —
Accrued expense 1,10¢ 1,21z
Accrued salaries, wages and bene 41C 303
Accrued taxes and oth 37% 36¢
Total current liabilities 2,161 2,02%
Long-term debt 2,84¢  2,95¢
Long-term securitized vacation ownership d 367 —
Deferred income taxe 28 31
Other liabilities 1,88¢ 1,90:
7,29C 6,91¢

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:
Common stock; $0.01 par value; authorized 1,00Q@shares; outstanding 192,970,437

186,785,068 shares at December 31, 2010 and 2&)8atively 2 2
Additional paic-in capital 80¢& 552
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (28%) (289
Retained earning 1,947 1,55:

Total Starwood stockholde equity 2,471 1,82¢
Noncontrolling interes 15 21

Total equity 2,48¢ 1,84f

$9.77¢ 38,761

The accompanying notes to financial statementaiaiategral part of the above statements.
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(In millions, except per share

data)
Revenues
Owned, leased and consolidated joint venture h $1,70¢ $1,582 $2,217
Vacation ownership and residential sales and ses 53¢ 522 74¢
Management fees, franchise fees and other inc 712 65¢ 751
Other revenues from managed and franchised prep 2,117 1,931 2,047

5,071 4,69€¢ 5,75¢
Costs and Expense

Owned, leased and consolidated joint venture h 1,39t 1,31t 1,68¢
Vacation ownership and resideni 40¢ 422 583
Selling, general, administrative and ot 344 314 377
Restructuring, goodwill impairment and other specierges (credits), ni (75) 37¢ 141
Depreciatior 252 274 281
Amortization 33 35 32
Other expenses from managed and franchised preg 2,117 1,931 2,04:
4,471 4,67C 5,14

Operating incom: 60C 26 61C
Equity earnings (losses) and gains and losses tirmonsolidated ventures, r 10 (4) 16
Interest expense, net of interest income of $2r&8$3 (236) (227) (207
Gain (loss) on asset dispositions and impairmerett (39) (97) (98)
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeetaand noncontrolling interes 33t (29€) 321
Income tax benefit (expens (27) 293 (72
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 30¢ 3 24¢
Discontinued operation

Income (loss) from operations, net of tax (benefighense of $0, $(2) and . 1) 2 5

Gain (loss) on dispositions, net of tax (benefipense of $(166), $(35) and $ 16€ 76 75
Net income 47¢ 71 32¢
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeests 2 2 —
Net income attributable to Starwo $ 477 $ 73 $ 32¢
Earnings (Losses) Per Shar— Basic
Continuing operation $1.7C $0.0C $ 1.37
Discontinued operatior 0.91 0.41 0.44
Net income $261 $041 $ 1.81
Earnings (Losses) Per Share — Diluted
Continuing operation $16Z $00C $ 1.3
Discontinued operatior 0.8¢ 0.41 0.43
Net income $251 $041 $1.77
Amounts attributable to Starwood’s Common Sharehol@rs
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 31C $ (1) $ 24¢
Discontinued operatior 167 74 80
Net income $ 477 $ 73 $ 32¢
Weighted average number of she 18¢ 18C 181
Weighted average number of shares assuming dil 19C 18C 18t
Dividends declared per she $03C $0.2C $ 0.9C

The accompanying notes to financial statementaiaiategral part of the above statements.
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
(In millions)
Net income $475 $ 71 $32¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of ta

Foreign currency translation adjustme 4 86 (290

Less: Recognition of accumulated foreign curremagglation adjustments on sold ho  — (13 —
Defined benefit pension and postretirement bepédits net gains (losses) arising dut

the yeal 4 10 (62)

Net curtailment and settlement ga — 23 1

Amortization of actuarial gains and losses incluthedet periodic pension cc 1 5 2

Change in fair value of derivativ: 1) — 4

Reclassification adjustments for losses (gaindudexd in net incom 1 (6) 2

Change in fair value of investmer (@D} 3 Q)

Reclassification for gains and amortization incldidie net income — — D

— 10¢ (244)

Comprehensive incorr 475 17¢ 85

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to nonodlittg interests 2 2 —

Foreign currency translation adjustments attriblgtéad noncontrolling interes (D) 1 —

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Stah $47€¢ $182 85

The accompanying notes to financial statementsuaiategral part of the above statements.
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Starwood Stockholders
Accumulated

Other Equity
Additional Comprehensive Attributable to
Shares Paid-in (Loss) Retained Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital (M Income @ Earnings Interests Total
(In millions)

Balance at December 31, 2C 191 $ 2 $ 86¢ $ (147) $1,35¢ $ 26 $2,10:Z
Net income (loss — — — — 32¢ — 32¢
Stock option and restricted stock award

transactions, ne¢ 6 — 212 — — — 212
ESPP stock issuanc — — 6 — — — 6
Share repurchasi (14 — (599) — — — (593
Other — — — — — 2 2
Other comprehensive income (lo — — — (244) — — (249
Dividends declare — — — — (165 (1) (16€)
Balance at December 31, 2C 18z 2 49: (391) 1,513 23 1,64«
Net income (loss — — — — 73 2 71
Stock option and restricted stock award

transactions, ne¢ 4 — 54 — — — 54
ESPP stock issuanc — — 5 — — — 5
Other comprehensive income (lo — — — 10¢ — 1 10¢
Dividends declare — — — — (37) (1) (38)
Balance at December 31, 2C 187 2 552 (283 1,55: 21 1,84t
Net income (loss — — — — A77 (20 4r=
Stock option and restricted stock award

transactions, ne¢ 6 — 24¢ — — — 24¢
ESPP stock issuanc — — 5 — — — 5
Impact of adoption of ASINo. 200¢-17 — — — — (26) — (26)
Other comprehensive income (lo — — — — — (@)} Q)
Dividends declare — — — — (57) 3 (60)
Balance at December 31, 2C 19 2 $ 80E $ (28%) $1,947 $ 15 $2,48¢

(1) Stock option and restricted stock award transast@e net of a tax (expense) benefit of $28 miJli@i8) million and $33 million in 2010,
2009, and 2008 respective

(2) As of December 31, 2010, this balance is comprigeg227 million of cumulative translation adjustnteand $56 million of cumulative
pension adjustment

The accompanying notes to financial statementaiaiategral part of the above statements.
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to net incom
Discontinued operation
(Gain) loss on dispositions, r
Depreciation and amortizatic
Other adjustments relating to discontinued openat
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Excess stoc-based compensation tax benefit (expe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred loan cos
Non-cash portion of restructuring, goodwill impairmemid other special charges (credits),
Non-cash foreign currency (gains) losses,
Amortization of deferred gair
Provision for doubtful accoun
Distributions in excess (deficit) of equity earndr
Gain on sale of VOI notes receival
Loss (gain) on asset dispositions and impairmeret
Non-cash portion of income tax expense (ben:
Changes in working capite
Restricted cas
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and otl
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Accrued income taxe
Securitized VOI notes receivable activity, |
VOI notes receivable activity, n
Other, ne
Cash (used for) from operating activit
Investing Activities
Purchases of plant, property and equipn
Proceeds from asset sales,
Issuance of notes receival
Collection of notes receivable, r
Acquisitions, net of acquired ca
Purchases of investmer
Proceeds from investmer
Other, ne
Cash (used for) from investing activiti
Financing Activities
Revolving credit facility and shc-term borrowings (repayments), r
Long-term debt issue
Long-term debt repai
Long-term securitized debt issu
Long-term securitized debt repe
Dividends paic
Proceeds from stock option exerci:
Excess stoc-based compensation tax benefit (expe
Share repurchas
Other, ne

Cash (used for) from financing activiti
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equive

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv:
Cash and cash equivale— beginning of periot

Cash and cash equivale— end of perioc

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid (received) during the period
Interest

Income taxes, net of refun

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(In millions)

$478 ¢ 71 $32¢

(16€) (76) (75
8

— 1C
72 53 68
(20) — (1€)
28t 30¢ 31c
13 10 5

@ 332 74
(39) (6) (5)

(81) (82)  (83)
55 72 64
3 30 21
= (24 (4)
39 91 g
16 (260) 24
9 46 10z
(22) 63 34
(110 (98) (280
1 10 2
13 (44 85
20C (50) (22
(29) — —
1 167  (150)
58 (51) _ 52
764 571 _ 64€
(227  (196) (476
14¢ 31C  32C
(1) 4) ()
2 2 5
(18) — —
(32 5 (39
49 35 3¢
8 (26) _(21)

(71) 116 (179

(1149 (1029 (570)
3 726 986
(9) (1,68) (4)
28¢ — —

(224) — —
(93) (169 (172
141 2 1

20 — 16
— (593

@) 221 (26)
(26) (993 (249

) 4 7
66€ (302)  23¢
87 38¢ 151

$75 ¢ 87 $38¢

$244 $ 214 $17C
$(171) $ 12 $ 58

The accompanying notes to financial statementsuaiategral part of the above statements.
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STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Basis of Presentatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemmesent the consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations of Starwood ld&eResorts Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiarite(
“Company”). Starwood is one of the world’s larghetel and leisure companies. The Company’s prim¢ipsiness
is hotels and leisure, which is comprised of a dwitle hospitality network of almost 1,000 full-see hotels,
vacation ownership resorts and residential devetgsprimarily serving two markets: luxury and ugec The
principal operations of Starwood Vacation Ownership. (“SVO”) include the acquisition, developmemtd
operation of vacation ownership resorts; marketind selling vacation ownership interests (“VOlIsi}te resorts;
and providing financing to customers who purchasxd snterests.

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of the Company and all of its controlledssdiaries
and partnerships. In consolidating, all materit¢icompany transactions are eliminated. We haviiates all
subsequent events through the date the consoliflatettial statements were filed.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying consolidated financial statemehthe Company and its
subsidiaries include the assets, liabilities, ressnand expenses of majority-owned subsidiarieswkieh the
Company exercises control. Intercompany transagt@onl balances have been eliminated in consolidatio

Cash and Cash Equivalents.The Company considers all highly liquid investisgourchased with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash eqental

Restricted Cash. Restricted cash primarily consists of depositeireed on sales of VOIs and residential
properties that are held in escrow until a certiécof occupancy is obtained, the legal rescigs@riod has expired
and the deed of trust has been recorded in govertaiygroperty ownership records. At December 31,028nd
2009, the Company had short-term restricted cakinbas of $53 million and $47 million, respectively

Inventories. Inventories are comprised principally of VOIs&&07 million and $434 million as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, resiaantientory of $462 million and $315 million at Gember 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively, and hotel inventoi®! ¥nd residential inventory is carried at the lowkcost or net
realizable value and includes $29 million, $31 ioflland $25 million of capitalized interest incutiie@ 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively. Hotel inventory includesragting supplies and food and beverage inventergstwhich ar
generally valued at the lower of FIFO cost (finstfirst-out) or market. Hotel inventory also indks linens, china,
glass, silver, uniforms, utensils and guest ro@mé. Significant purchases of these items withedulisife of
greater than one year are recorded at purchasedmsmortized over their useful life. Normal seg@ment
purchases are expensed as incurred.

Loan Loss ReservesFor the vacation ownership and residential segntliem Company records an estimate of
expected uncollectibility on its VOI notes receileahs a reduction of revenue at the time it recega timeshare
sale. The Company holds large amounts of homogené@u notes receivable and therefore assessesleciioility
based on pools of receivables. In estimating loar feserves, the Company uses a technique referasdstatic
pool analysis, which tracks defaults for each yearbrtgage originations over the life of the resipeamotes and
projects an estimated default rate. As of DecerBtheP010, the average estimated default rate &Cibmpany’s
pools of receivables was 10%.

The primary credit quality indicator used by then@any to calculate the loan loss reserve for tloatian
ownership notes is the origination of the noteditand (Sheraton, Westin, and Other) as the Compaligves ther
is a relationship between the default behaviorasfdwers and the brand associated with the vacatiorership
property they have acquired. In addition to quatitiely calculating the loan loss reserve baseisostatic pool
analysis, the Company supplements the processdlyating certain qualitative data, including the
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aging of the respective receivables, current defeerids by brand and origination year, and the Baac
Corporation (“FICO”) scores of the buyers.

Given the significance of the Company’s respegbeels of VOI notes receivable, a change in thequted
default rate can have a significant impact toatml loss reserve requirements, with a 0.1% chastijaated to have
an impact of approximately $3 million.

The Company considers a VOI note receivable deéinjwhen it is more than 30 days outstanding. All
delinquent loans are placed on nonaccrual statthisrenCompany does not resume interest accrudlpayiment is
made. Upon reaching 120 days outstanding, theitoannsidered to be in default and the Company cenues the
repossession process. Uncollectible VOI notes vabé are charged off when title to the unit isireéd to the
Company. The Company generally does not modify tiacawnership notes that become delinquent or upon
default.

For the hotel segment, the Company measures thedriment of a loan based on the present value ofatzd
future cash flows, discounted at the loan’s origeféective interest rate, or the estimated faiueaof the collateral.
For impaired loans, the Company establishes afap@opairment reserve for the difference betwesnitecorded
investment in the loan and the present value oéitpected future cash flows or the estimated faue of the
collateral. The Company applies the loan impairnparticy individually to all loans in the portfoliand does not
aggregate loans for the purpose of applying sutibypd-or loans that the Company has determindgktompaired,
the Company recognizes interest income on a casib.ba

Assets Held for Sale.The Company considers properties to be assalddresale when management approves
and commits to a formal plan to actively market@perty or group of properties for sale and a gigsedes contract
and significant non-refundable deposit or contlbmetk-up fee exist. Upon designation as an assetfdresale, the
Company records the carrying value of each propmrtyroup of properties at the lower of its cargyiralue which
includes allocable segment goodwill or its estirdd#ar value, less estimated costs to sell, andCih@pany stops
recording depreciation expense. Any gain realipecbnnection with the sale of a property for whiis Company
has significant continuing involvement (such astigh a long-term management agreement) is defaned
recognized over the initial term of the relatedemgnent (See Note 13). The operations of the priepdreld for sale
prior to the sale date, if material, are recordediscontinued operations unless the Company wailehcontinuing
involvement (such as through a management or fise@greement) after the sale.

Investments. Investments in joint ventures are generally antedi for under the equity method of accounting
when the Company has a 20% to 50% ownership interescercises significant influence over the veatif the
Company’s interest exceeds 50% or, if the Compasythe power to direct the economic activitiesheféntity and
the obligation to absorb losses, the results ofdim venture are consolidated herein. All othrerdstments are
generally accounted for under the cost method.

The fair market value of investments is based emtharket prices for the last day of the periothé investmer
trades on quoted exchanges. For non-traded invasipfair value is estimated based on the undeglyaiue of the
investment, which is dependent on the performaffitieeoinvestment as well as the volatility inheramexternal
markets for these types of investments. In assgggitential impairment for these investments, tben@any will
consider these factors as well as forecasted fiagperformance of its investment. If these forésase not met, th
Company may have to record impairment charges.

Plant, Property and Equipment.Plant, property and equipment, including capitadi interest of $2 million,
$2 million and $6 million incurred in 2010, 2009082008, respectively, applicable to major projegienditures ar
recorded at cost. The cost of improvements thanekthe life of plant, property and equipment agitalized.
These capitalized costs may include structural awpments, equipment and fixtures. Costs for noneyairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Depreciatrecorded on a straight-line basis over the egdhuseful
economic lives of 15 to 40 years for buildings angrovements; 3 to 10 years for furniture, fixtueesl equipmen
3 to 20 years for information technology softwanel quipment; and the lesser of the lease terimeor t
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economic useful life for leasehold improvementsinGar losses on the sale or retirement of assetmealuded in
income when the assets are sold provided thesagonable assurance of the collectability of thesgarice and any
future activities to be performed by the Comparstheg to the assets sold are insignificant.

The Company evaluates the carrying value of itetader impairment. For assets in use when thgdrigvents
specified in Accounting Standards Codification (‘&% 360, Property Plant, and Equipmentcur, the expected
undiscounted future cash flows of the assets argaced to the net book value of the assets. léxpected
undiscounted future cash flows are less than theawk value of the assets, the excess of theau balue over
the estimated fair value is charged to currentiege Fair value is based upon discounted cashsflafthe assets at
rates deemed reasonable for the type of assetramdiling market conditions, comparative salessiarilar assets,
appraisals and, if appropriate, current estimattdales proceeds from pending offers.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets.Goodwill and intangible assets arise in connectiith acquisitions,
including the acquisition of management contratke Company does not amortize goodwill and intdegissets
with indefinite lives. Intangible assets with fimitives are amortized on a straight-line basis tiveir respective
useful lives. The Company reviews all goodwill anthngible assets for impairment by comparisonfiofvalue to
book value annually, or upon the occurrence oiggér event. Impairment charges, if any, are reaghin
operating results.

Frequent Guest Program. Starwood Preferred Gues(*SPG”) is the Company’s frequent guest incentive
marketing program. SPG members earn points bassdemding at the Company’s owned, managed andHisad
hotels, as incentives to first-time buyers of V@l residences, and through participation in aféil partners’
programs such as co-branded credit cards. Pointbeaedeemed at substantially all of the Compaowsed,
leased, managed and franchised hotels as welt@sgh other redemption opportunities with thirdtjgs, such as
conversion to airline miles.

The Company charges its owned, managed and fratthistels the cost of operating the SPG program,
including the estimated cost of its future redempibligation, based on a percentage of its SPGheesrgualified
expenditures. The Compasymanagement and franchise agreements requirthth@®ompany be reimbursed for
costs of operating the SPG program, including ntargepromotions and communications, and performmegnber
services for the SPG members. As points are eathhed;ompany increases the SPG point liabilitytfi@eramount ¢
cash it receives from its managed and franchiséeldcelated to the future redemption obligatioor. #&s owned
hotels the Company records an expense for the anobite future redemption obligation with the affgo the SPG
point liability. When points are redeemed by th&SRembers, the hotels recognize revenue and thepsiG
liability is reduced.

The Company, through the services of third-partyagal analysts, determines the value of the &utur
redemption obligation based on statistical formuagch project the timing of future point redemptiobased on
historical experience, including an estimate of‘ttreakage” for points that will never be redeenmeau] an estimate
of the points that will eventually be redeemed a#l as the cost of reimbursing hotels and othedtparties in
respect of other redemption opportunities for poéatemptions.

The Company consolidates the assets and liabibfilse SPG program including the liability assoethwith
the future redemption obligation which is includedther long-term liabilities and accrued experiggbe
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Theactizdrially determined liability (see Note 18)0ds
December 31, 2010 and 2009, is $753 million and®$68lion, respectively, of which $225 million and
$244 million, respectively, is included in accruegenses.

Legal Contingencies. The Company is subject to various legal procegsland claims, the outcomes of which
are subject to significant uncertainty. ASC 460ntingenciesequires that an estimated loss from a loss coericy
be accrued with a corresponding charge to incoritésifprobable that an asset has been impairediability has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can s®nahly estimated. Disclosure of a contingencedgiired if ther
is at least a reasonable possibility that a losshieen incurred. The Company evaluates, among
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other factors, the degree of probability of an unfable outcome and the ability to make a reasenegtimate of
the amount of loss. Changes in these factors coalgrially impact the Company’s financial positiomits results
of operations.

Derivative Financial Instruments. The Company periodically enters into interest tvap agreements, based
on market conditions, to manage interest rate axgod he net settlements paid or received undeethgreements
are accrued consistent with the terms of the agee&srand are recognized in interest expense ogdetm of the
related debt.

The Company enters into foreign currency hedgingre@ts to manage exposure to foreign currency
fluctuations. All foreign currency hedging instrumte have an inverse correlation to the hedgedsssditbilities.
Changes in the fair value of the derivative instemits are classified in the same manner as thefidasisn of the
changes in the underlying assets or liabilities uifuctuations in foreign currency exchange raldgese forward
contracts do not qualify as hedges.

The Company periodically enters into forward coctisdo manage foreign exchange risk based on market
conditions. The Company enters into forward cortgrém hedge fluctuations in forecasted transacti@sed on
foreign currencies that are billed in United StateBars. These forward contracts have been detsdras cash flow
hedges, and their change in fair value is recoedeal component of other comprehensive income.fAseaasted
transaction occurs, the gain or loss is reclaskifiem other comprehensive income to management fesnchise
fees and other income.

The Company does not enter into derivative findnogruments for trading or speculative purposas a
monitors the financial stability and credit starglof its counterparties.

Foreign Currency Translation. Balance sheet accounts are translated at theegelrates in effect at each
period end and income and expense accounts amateah at the average rates of exchange prevailinigg the
year. The national currencies of foreign operatimmesgenerally the functional currencies. Gainslasses fron
foreign exchange and the effect of exchange raaagds on intercompany transactions of a long-taxastment
nature are generally included in other comprehenisivome. Gains and losses from foreign excharngecreanges
related to intercompany receivables and payabksatte not of a long-term investment nature arerted currently
in costs and expenses and amounted to a net géB0ahillion in 2010, a net gain of $6 million i@ and a net
gain of $5 million in 2008.

Income Taxes. The Company provides for income taxes in accareavith ASC 740|lncome Taxes.The
objectives of accounting for income taxes are tmgaize the amount of taxes payable or refundabslént current
year and deferred tax liabilities and assets ferftiiure tax consequences of events that havereeegnized in a
entity’s financial statements or tax returns.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured) @hacted tax rates in effect for the year inohhthose
temporary differences are expected to be recovaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdifies of a
change in tax rates is recognized in earningsamp#riod when the new rate is enacted.

Stock-Based CompensationThe Company calculates the fair value of shrsed awards on the date of gr
Restricted stock awards are valued based on the phiae. The Company has determined that a latabgation
model would provide a better estimate of the faiue of options granted under its long-term incenfilans than a
Black-Scholes model. The lattice valuation optioicipg model requires the Company to estimate lssyimptions
such as expected life, volatility, risk-free intgreates and dividend yield to determine the falug of share-based
awards, based on both historical information andagament judgment regarding market factors andisrefhe
Company amortizes the share-based compensationsxpeer the period that the awards are expecteesto net
of estimated forfeitures. If the actual forfeitudiffer from management estimates, additional adjests to
compensation expense are recorded. Please réfiatéo23, Stock-Based Compensation.
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Revenue Recognition.The Company’s revenues are primarily derived ftbenfollowing sources: (1) hotel
and resort revenues at the Company’s owned, leasttdonsolidated joint venture properties; (2) tiaca
ownership and residential revenues; (3) managearghfranchise revenues; (4) revenues from managd a
franchised properties; and (5) other revenues waierancillary to the Company’s operations. Gehgradvenues
are recognized when the services have been rendéres collected from customers and submittedxmg
authorities are not recorded in revenue. The fdlgws a description of the composition of reveniaeghe
Company:

¢ Owned, Leased and Consolidated Joint Venturd®epresents revenue primarily derived from hotel
operations, including the rental of rooms and faad beverage sales, from owned, leased or contadida
joint venture hotels and resorts. Revenue is rezegnvhen rooms are occupied and services have
rendered

¢ Vacation Ownership and Residential — The Comyp&cognizes sales when the buyer has demonstated
sufficient level of initial and continuing investmte the period of cancellation with refund has esgiand
receivables are deemed collectible. For saleddihabot qualify for full revenue recognition as fheject has
progressed beyond the preliminary stages but hagemoeached completion, all revenue and proét ar
initially deferred and recognized in earnings tlylothe percentage-of-completiorethod. The Company h
also entered into licensing agreements with thadypdevelopers to offer consumers branded condami
or residences. The fees from these arrangemenggeaszally based on the gross sales revenue ofite
sold. Residential fee revenue is recorded in thimgehat a purchase and sales agreement exisitgegeof
services and obligations has occurred, the feka@ivner is deemed fixed and determinable and
collectability of the fees is reasonably assu

* Management and Franchise RevenueRepresents fees earned on hotels managed worldugdally unde
long-term contracts, franchise fees received imeation with the franchise of the Company’s Sherato
Westin, Four Points by Sheraton, Le Méridien, ®giR, W, Luxury Collection, Aloft and Element brand
names, termination fees and the amortization afrded gains related to sold properties for whih th
Company has significant continuing involvement. ldigement fees are comprised of a base fee, which is
generally based on a percentage of gross reveanésn incentive fee, which is generally baseden t
property’s profitability. Base fee revenues areomgized when earned in accordance with the terntiseof
contract. For any time during the year, when tlavisions of the management contracts allow rec#ipt
incentive fees upon termination, incentive feesraoegnized for the fees due and earned as ifdheact
was terminated at that date, exclusive of any teation fees due or payable. Franchise fees argabne
based on a percentage of hotel room revenues arré@rgnized as the fees are earned and beconimdue
the franchisee

* Revenues from Managed and Franchised Properti@hese revenues represent reimbursements af cost
incurred on behalf of managed hotel propertiesfeanithisees. These costs relate primarily to pagodts a
managed properties where the Company is the empliSirece the reimbursements are made based upon the
costs incurred with no added margin, these reveandsorresponding expenses have no effect on the
Compan’s operating income or net incon

Insurance Retention. Through its captive insurance company, the Compaovides insurance coverage for
workers’ compensation, property and general lipbdlaims arising at hotel properties owned or ngabby the
Company through policies written directly and thghueinsurance arrangements. Estimated insuraages|
payable represent expected settlement of outstgrtiims and a provision for claims that have hieearred but
not reported. These estimates are based on the @y’smssessment of potential liability using aalgsis of
available information including pending claims,tbigcal experience and current cost trends. Theusuinof the
ultimate liability may vary from these estimatestifated costs of these self-insurance programacmeed, based
on the analysis of third-party actuaries.
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Costs Incurred to Sell VOIs. The Company capitalizes direct costs attributédblibe sale of VOIs until the
sales are recognized. Selling and marketing cegtgatized under this methodology were approxinyadad million
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivelyalirstich capitalized costs are included in prepajgenses and
other assets in the accompanying consolidated talstmeets. Costs eligible for capitalization follidwe guidelines
of ASC 978 Real Estate — Time Sharing Activitid$§ a contract is cancelled, the Company charges t
unrecoverable direct selling and marketing cosexfzense and records forfeited deposits as income.

VOI and Residential Inventory CostsReal estate and development costs are valuée &dwer of cost or net
realizable value. Development costs include botid lhad soft construction costs and together width estate costs
are allocated to VOIs and residential units onréiative sales value method. Interest, propertgdaand certain
other carrying costs incurred during the constarcprocess are capitalized as incurred. Such esstxiated with
completed VOI and residential units are expensedasred.

Advertising Costs. The Company enters into multi-media ad campaigietyding television, radio, internet
and print advertisements. Costs associated wigethampaigns, including communication and prodoatmsts, are
aggregated and expensed the first time that thertising takes place. If it becomes apparent tiantedia
campaign will not take place, all costs are expérdehat time. During the years ended Decembe2@10, 2009
and 2008, the Company incurred approximately $18m $118 million and $146 million of advertigirexpense,
respectively, a significant portion of which wasmbursed by managed and franchised hotels.

Retained Interests. The Company periodically sells notes receivabigimated by its vacation ownership
business in connection with the sale of VOIs. TleenBany, prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-17, wordthin
interests in the assets transferred to qualifietiram-qualified special purpose entities (“Retaifredrests”), which
were accounted for as over-collateralizations aelést only strips. These retained interests weeded as
“available-for-sale” transactions under the prouis of ASC 320nvestments — Debt and Equity Securitiébe
Company reported changes in the fair values oftietained Interests considered temporary through t
accompanying consolidated statement of comprehemsoome. A change in fair value determined to be
other-than-temporary was recorded as a loss i€tmpany’s consolidated statement of income. The 2oy had
Retained Interests of $25 million at December DX Additionally, as of December 31, 2009, the @any had
$56 million of notes retained after the 2009 nates.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in camfty with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires managememake estimates and assumptions that affect foetes
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosureootingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuesxgetses during the reporting period. Actual testduld diffe
from those estimates.

Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to tioe pears’ financial statements to conform
to the current year presentation

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards.
Adopted Accounting Standards

In July 2010, the Financial Accounting Standardsiiq“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU") No. 2010-20,"Receivables (Topic 310): Disclosures about thedrQuality of Financing Receivables
and the Allowance for Credit Losse&his topic requires disclosures of financing reables and allowance for
credit losses on a disaggregated basis. The batdueed related disclosures are required beginribgeember 31,
2010 and the statements of income disclosuresgrered, beginning for the three months ended Madgt2011
(see Note 11).

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009*Téansfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting fo
Transfers of Financial Assetgformerly Statement of Financial Accounting Stamdaf*SFAS”) No. 166), and
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ASU No. 2009-17;Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Finaldeporting by Enterprises Involved with
Variable Interest Entities{formerly SFAS No. 167).

ASU No. 2009-16 amended the accounting for trasgféfinancial assets. Under ASU No. 2009-16, the
qualifying special purpose entities (“QSPEs") usethe Company’s securitization transactions aréonger
exempt from consolidation. ASU No. 2009-17 pressian ongoing assessment of the Company’s involveime
the activities of the QSPEs and the Company'’s sightobligations to receive benefits or absorbdess the trusts
that could be potentially significant in order tetekrmine whether those variable interest entiti¢t&Es”) will be
required to be consolidated in the Company’s fimgrstatements. In accordance with ASU No. 2009ti&,
Company concluded it is the primary beneficiaryhef QSPEs and accordingly, the Company began ddatnb
the QSPESs on January 1, 2010 (see Note 10). Usingatrrying amounts of the assets and liabilitfetb® QSPEs ¢
prescribed by ASU No. 2009-Bhd any corresponding elimination of activity beéweéhe QSPEs and the Comp:
resulting from the consolidation on January 1, 2048 Company recorded a $417 million increasetal assets, a
$444 million increase in total liabilities, a $26llion (net of tax) decrease in beginning retaimadnings and a
$1 million decrease to stockholders equity. The Gany has additional VIEs whereby the Company wéerdenec
not to be the primary beneficiary (see Note 26).

Beginning January 1, 2010, the Company’s balaneetsind statement of income no longer reflect igtiv
related to its Retained Interests, but instea@cedlactivity related to its securitized vacatiomership notes
receivable and the corresponding securitized dietitjding interest income, loan loss provisiong] arterest
expense. Interest income and loan loss provisiesscated with the securitized vacation ownersbigsireceivabl
are included in the vacation ownership and residesdles and services line item resulting in amease of
$52 million for the year ended December 31, 2016caspared to the same period in 2009. Interestresgef
$27 million was recorded for the year ended DecerBhe2010. The cash flows from borrowings and yepents
associated with the securitized vacation ownerdbli are now presented as cash flows from finareatigities.
The Company does not expect to recognize gainssses from future securitizations as a result @fidoption of
this new guidance.

The Company’s statement of income for the year @émcember 31, 2009 and its balance sheet as of
December 31, 2009 have not been retrospectivelystat] to reflect the adoption of ASU Nos. 2009-46 a
Therefore, current period results and balancesnsillbe comparable to prior period amounts, pdertywith
regards to:

 Restricted cas

» Other asset

* Investments

« Vacation ownership and residential sales and ses
¢ Interest expens

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiRSP") Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS”)
No. 1071 and Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 281hterim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments” (“FSP FAS No. 107-1 and APB No 28-1Irigluded in the Codification as ASC 825-10-65-hisT
topic requires disclosures about the fair valur@ncial instruments for annual and interim repaytperiods of
publicly traded companies and is effective in réipgrperiods ending after June 15, 2009. On Jun@@09, the
Company adopted this topic, which did not have tene impact on its consolidated financial stataise

In January 2009, the FASB issued FSP Issue No.lR&3 32(R)-1 “Employers Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets” (“F88 No. 132(R)-1"), included in the Codificatioa a
ASC 715-20-65-2. This topic provides guidance omiaployer’s disclosures about plan assets of ae@fboenefit
pension or other postretirement plan. This topifisctive for fiscal years ending after Decembgr2009. The
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Company adopted this topic on December 31, 2009rawiporated it into its Employee Benefit Planctisure (se
Note 20).

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “[usares about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities-an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133$FAS No. 161"), included in the Codification as
ASC 815-10-65-1. This topic requires enhanced dgolke related to derivatives and hedging activifiéss topic
must be applied prospectively to all derivativetimsients and non-derivative instruments that asiggtated and
qualify as hedging instruments and related hedeggedsi for all financial statements issued for fisesrs and
interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008 Company adopted this topic on January 1, 2868.
Note 24 for enhanced disclosures associated wétladoption

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SIRASL57 related to its financial assets and liadd and
elected to defer the option of SFAS No. 157 for-financial assets and non-financial liabilitiessélswed by FSP
No. SFAS 15-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” wiiwas issued in February 2008, included in the
Codification as ASC 82@rair Value Measurements and Disclosurdshis topic defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value under generatigepted accounting principles and enhances diselesbout
fair value measurements. Fair value is definedhagkchange price that would be received for astasgaid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the prinaipor most advantageous market for the assetlatityain an orderly
transaction between market participants on the ureasent date. Valuation techniques used to medairealue
must maximize the use of observable inputs andmiia the use of unobservable inputs. The standesdribes a
fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inpat which the first two are considered observaiie the last
unobservable, that may be used to measure faieaddollows:

« Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

¢ Level 2 —nputs other than Level 1 that are observablegeidirectly or indirectly, such as quoted prices
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in keds that are not active; or other inputs thatodrservable or
can be corroborated by observable market dataufustantially the full term of the assets or ligh8k.

* Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are suggubhty little or no market activity and that arersiigant to the
fair value of the assets or liabilitie

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the pomsgsif this topic relating to non-financial assatsl non-
financial liabilities. The adoption of this statembelid not have a material impact on the Compangissolidated
financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 whkighersedes certain guidance in ASC 605R¥venue
Recognitior— Multiple Element Arrangementd his topic requires an entity to allocate arranget consideration
at the inception of an arrangement to all of ithvdeables based on their relative selling priddss topic is
effective for annual reporting periods beginninggafune 15, 2010. The Company has evaluatedogis and
determined that it will not have a material impautits consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Earnings (Losses) per Share

Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per shareadcealated using income (losses) from continuingrapens
attributable to Starwood’s common shareholders €ixeluding amounts attributable to noncontrollinggrests).
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The following is a reconciliation of basic earnir{gssses) per share to diluted earnings (lossesshaae for
income (losses) from continuing operations (in i, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Per Earnings Per Per
Earnings Share: Share (Losses) Share: Share Earnings Share: Share
Basic earnings (losses) from continuing operat $ 31C 182 $1.7C $ (1) 18C $0.0C $ 24c 181 $1.37
Effect of dilutive securities
Employee options and restricted stock awi — 7 — — — 4
Diluted earnings (losses) from continuing operai $ 31C 19C $1.65 $ (1) 18C $0.0C $ 24c 18t $1.34

Approximately 5 million shares, 12 million sharewl& million shares were excluded from the comporiadf
diluted shares in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectiaslyheir impact would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 4. Significant Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpaid approximately $23 million to acquire a
controlling interest in a joint venture in whichhiad previously held a non-controlling interesterimary business
of the joint venture is to develop, license and awgmrestaurant concepts. The acquisition took f@étee one of the
Company’s former partners exercised its right toigsuinterest to the Company in accordance withtérms of the
joint venture agreement. In accordance with ASC, Business Combinationahen an acquirer obtains a
controlling position as a result of a step acqigigitthe acquirer is required to remeasure itsiptesly held
investment to fair value and record the differenegveen fair value and its carrying value in tregeshent of
income. This acquisition resulted in a gain of amately $5 million which was recorded in the géiss) on ass
dispositions and impairments, net line item. Thevalues of the assets and liabilities acquiredenecorded in
Starwood’s consolidated balance sheet, includiegésulting goodwill of approximately $26 milliofhe results of
operations going forward from the acquisition dege been included in Starwood'’s consolidated istanés of
income.

Note 5. Asset Dispositions and Impairments

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200%;ompany sold one wholly-owned hotel each year f
cash proceeds of $70 million and $0 million, respety, and recognized losses of $53 million andh§iflion,
respectively. These hotels were sold subject tg-tenm management contracts.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpald certain non-hotel assets and recorded aajain
$4 million. Additionally, during the year ended 2eaber 31, 2010, the Company received insurancespdsc
related to an owned hotel that was damaged bynadox, resulting in a gain of approximately $14 ioill These
gains were partially offset by impairment charge$@million related to a vacation ownership prapean
investment in a hotel management contract, andettirement of fixed assets as a result of a sigaifi renovation ¢
a wholly-owned hotel.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 200& ompany sold one wholly-owned hotel each year f
$90 million, and $99 million, respectively. Thesmdls were sold subject to long-term managemertracts and
the Company recorded deferred gains of $8 millioch $27 million for the years ended December 31924
2008, respectively (see Note 13).

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08, the Company reviewed the recoverability ®f it
carrying values of its owned hotels and determihedl certain hotels were impaired. The fair valokthe hotels
were estimated by using discounted cash flows, evatjye sales for similar assets and recent letteirgent to sell
certain assets. Impairment charges of $2 millier, #illion and $64 million, relating to one, sixjcathree
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hotels, were recorded in the years ended Decenih@030, 2009 and 2008, respectively. These aaseteported
in the hotels operating segment.

During 2009 and 2008, as a result of market comusitiat the time and the impact on the timeshangsing, the
Company reviewed the fair value of its economieri@sts in securitized VOI notes receivable and loalec! these
interests were impaired. The fair value of the Canys investment in these retained interests weesiahined by
estimating the net present value of the expecteddicash flows, based on expected default ancagneent rates
(See Note 10.) The Company recorded impairmenigeisanf $22 million and $23 million in the years edd
December 31, 2009 and 2008, related to these eetatiterests. These assets, prior to the adopfi&iso
No. 200¢17, were reported in the vacation ownership asilemtial operating segment.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2@8ampany recorded losses of $18 million and
$11 million, respectively, primarily related to imipments of hotel management contracts, certalmteogy+elatec
fixed assets and an investment in which the Compaigs a minority interest.

Note 6. Assets Held for Sale

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngatered into purchase and sale agreements feathe
of one wholly owned hotel for total expected cashsideration of approximately $78 million. The Camp
classified this asset and the estimated goodwhet@allocated as assets held for sale, ceasedcibprg it and
reclassified the operating results to discontinogerations. The hotel was sold during the secomdgteuof 2010
(see Note 19).

Note 7. Plant, Property and Equipment
Plant, property and equipment, excluding assets floelsale, consisted of the following (in milligns

December 31

2010 2009
Land and improvemen $ 60C $ 597
Buildings and improvemen 3,30(C 3,22
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 1,901 1,82¢
Construction work in proce: 17C 18C

5,971 5,82%
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (2,64%) (2,477

$3,32:  §$3,35(

The above balances include unamortized capitalipetputer software costs of $132 million and $13Bioni
at December 31, 2010 and 2009 respectively. Anaiitim of capitalized computer software costs wes dlion,
$36 million and $24 million for the years ended Baber 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfar year ended December 31, 2010 are as follows (in

millions):
Vacation
Hotel Ownership
Segmen Segment Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $1,32¢ $ 241 $156F
Cumulative translation adjustme 7 — 7
Impairment charg — (90 (90
Other 1 — 1
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,332 $ 151  $1,48:
Balance at January 1, 20 $1,332 $ 151 $1,48:
Acquisitions 26 — 26
Cumulative translation adjustme (8) — (8)
Asset disposition (20 — (20
Other 8 — 8
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,34¢ $ 151  $1,49¢

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairirtest as of October 31, 2010 for its hotel andatiaa
ownership reporting units and determined that tleas no impairment of its goodwill. The vacationn@sship
reporting unit’s fair value at October 31, 2010exded its carrying value by approximately $237iamill or 30%.
The fair value was calculated using a discountath @w model, in which the underlying cash flowsre derived
from management’s current financial projectionse Tho key assumptions used in the fair value catoui are the
discount rate and the capitalization rate in tmeieal period, which were 10% and 2%, respectivélye Company
completed a sensitivity analysis on the fair vadfithe vacation ownership reporting unit to measheschange in
value associated with independent changes in thééy assumptions. The decreases in the fair thatevould
result from various changes in the key assump@oashown in the chart below (in millions). Thetéas may not
move independently of each either.

Terminal Period

Discount Capitalization
Rate Rate
50 basis poin-dollars $51 $29
50 basis poin-percentagt 4.€% 2.8%
100 basis poin-dollars $98 $55
100 basis poin-percentagt 9.5% 5.3%

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairirtest as of October 31, 2009 for its hotel andatiaa
ownership reporting units and determined that gnsation ownership goodwill was impaired, resuliimg charge
of $90 million ($90 million after-tax) to the restituring, goodwill, impairment and other chargeagdits) line item
in the consolidated statements of income.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynpampleted a comprehensive review of its vacation
ownership business (see Note 14). As a resulti@félview, the Company decided not to develop oextacation
ownership sites and future phases of certain egigirojects. These actions reduced the future eéggeash flows
of the vacation ownership reporting unit which edmited to impairment of its goodwill.

In 2009, the Company'’s hotel reporting unit's featue exceeded its carrying value. However, asudsed
above, the fair value of the vacation ownershiprépg unit was less than its carrying value, ashsgoodwill was
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deemed to be impaired, and step two of goodwillaimpent test was performed. This step resultedhimgplied
goodwill fair value of $151 million compared to aatual goodwill balance of $241 million, with thiéference of
$90 million representing the impairment chargedétermining fair values associated with the gooldwipairment
steps, the Company primarily used the income aedrthrket approaches. Under the income approachdiaie
was determined based on the estimated future &ash 6f the reporting units taking into accountuasptions such
as REVPAR, operating margins and sales pace otieacawnership units and discounting these cashdlosing a
discount rate commensurate with the risk inhenmetité calculations. Under the market approachfainevalue of
the reporting units were determined based on maddaation techniques such as comparable reverdi&BiTDA
multiples of similar companies in the hospitalitglustry. The vacation ownership goodwill had narbpreviously
impaired.

Intangible assets consisted of the following (iflions):

December 31

2010 2009

Trademarks and trade nan $30¢ $30¢
Management and franchise agreem: 377 37¢€
Other 78 76
764 761

Accumulated amortizatio 19¢) (18])
$56€ $ 58C

The intangible assets related to management andhise agreements have finite lives, and accorgirigé
Company recorded amortization expense of $33 mijll&35 million, and $32 million, respectively, dugithe years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. The attaargible assets noted above have indefinite lives.

Amortization expense relating to intangible aswgéth finite lives for each of the years ended DebenB1, is
expected to be as follows (in millions):

2011 $32
2012 $30
2013 $30
2014 $30
2015 $29

Note 9. Other Assets
Other assets include the following (in millions):

December 31

2010 2009
VOI notes receivable, net of allowance of $69 a4 $132 $222
Prepaid taxe 88 10z
Deposits and othe 161 112
Total $381 $43¢

See Note 11 for discussion relating to VOI notegireable.
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Note 10. Transfers of Financial Assets

As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted AS19-2@0and ASU 2009 -17 on January 1, 2010. As dtresu
the Company concluded it has variable interestberentities associated with its five outstandiagusitization
transactions. As these securitizations consisinofar, homogenous loans they have been aggredatetisclosure
purposes. The Company applied the variable intenesiel and determined it is the primary beneficafrthese
VIEs. In making this determination, the Companyleated the activities that significantly impact #x@nomics of
the VIEs, including the management of the secertinotes receivable and any related non-perforioizigs. The
Company also evaluated its retention of the res$idc@nomic interests in the related VIEs. The Comypia the
servicer of the securitized mortgage receivablés. Company also has the option, subject to celitaitations, to
repurchase or replace VOI notes receivable, tlatradefault, at their outstanding principal ameui®uch activity
totaled $38 million during the year end December2R10. The Company has been able to resell thesVOI
underlying the VOI notes repurchased or replacatbuthese provisions without incurring significéogses.

The securitization agreements are without recotarsiee Company, except for breaches of representatind
warranties. Based on the right of the Company tal fdefaults at its option, subject to certain latid@ns, it intends
to do so until the debt is extinguished to mainthincredit rating of the underlying notes.

Upon transfer of vacation ownership notes recewablthe VIES, the receivables and certain cashsflderivec
from them become restricted for use in meetinggaiions to the VIE creditors. The VIEs utilize tug/hich have
ownership of cash balances that also have resmgtihe amounts of which are reported in restticesh. The
Company’s interests in trust assets are subordinates interests of third-party investors andsash, may not be
realized by the Company if needed to absorb defodés in cash flows that are allocated to the itorssn the
trusts’ debt (see Note 17). The Company is coniedigt obligated to receive the excess cash flowse@d between
the collections on the notes and third party obidges defined in the securitization agreementanftbe VIEs. Such
activity totaled $43 million during the year end@dcember 31, 2010 and is classified in cash ant @gqsivalents
when received.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpampleted the securitization of approximately
$300 million of vacation ownership notes receivalilee securitization transaction did not qualifyeasale for
accounting purposes and, accordingly, no gainss Was recognized. Approximately $93 million ofq@eds from
this transaction were used to terminate the sératiitn completed in June 2009 by repaying thetanting
principal and interest on the securitized debtdnnection with the termination, a charge of $5ianlwas recorde
to interest expense, relating to the settlementlmilance guarantee interest rate swap and the-effiof deferred
financing costs. The net cash proceeds from therisieation after termination of the 2009 secustipn and
associated deal costs were approximately $180amilli

See Note 11 for disclosures and amounts relatdteteecuritized vacation ownership notes receivable
consolidated on the Company'’s balance sheets Bea@mber 31, 2010.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2009-16 and 2009-h&, €ompany completed securitizations of its VOksot
receivables, which qualified for sales treatmemrtaihed Interests cash flows are limited to thé @asilable from
the related VOI notes receivable, after servicingd ather related fees, absorbing 100% of any cteskes on the
related VOI notes receivable and QSPE fixed raer@st expense. With respect to those transacdtilhs
outstanding at December 31, 2009, the Retainedelsteeare classified and accounted for as
“available-for-sale” securities, reported at fa@we with credit losses recorded in the statemeimoome and other
unrealized gains and losses reported in stockhslldguity.

The Companys replacement of the defaulted VOI notes receivabter the securitization agreements with
VOI notes receivable resulted in net gains of apipnately $3 million and $4 million during 2009 ag608,
respectively, which are included in vacation owhgr&nd residential sales and services in the Cagipa
consolidated statements of income.
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In June 2009, the Company securitized approxim&&81 million of VOI notes receivable (the
“2009-A Securitization”) resulting in cash proceedspproximately $125 million. The Company retaine
$44 million of interests in the QSPE, which inclddg3 million of notes the Company effectively owradter the
transfer and $1 million related to the interestyaitip. The related loss on the 2009 Acuritization of $2 million i
included in vacation ownership and residentialsaled services in the Company’s consolidated sexitsmof
income.

Key assumptions used in measuring the fair valub®Retained Interests at the time of the
2009-A Securitization were as follows: an averaigealnt rate of 12.8%, an average expected anmephpment
rate including defaults of 17.9%, and an expecteijlsted average remaining life of prepayable nmesivable of
52 months. These key assumptions are based orotheay’s historical experience.

In December 2009, the Company securitized appraeiyn&200 million of VOI notes receivable (the
“2009-B Securitization”) resulting in cash proceedspproximately $166 million. The Company retaine
$31 million of interests in the QSPE, which inclddg22 million of notes the Company effectively owradter the
transfer and $9 million related to the interestyaitip. The related gain on the 2009-B Securiiiradf $19 million
is included in vacation ownership and residenti#s and services in the Company’s consolidatedretants of
income.

Key assumptions used in measuring the fair valub®Retained Interests at the time of the 2009-B
Securitization were as follows: an average discoaiat of 7.5%, an average expected annual prepayaten
including defaults of 24.4%, and an expected weidl@verage remaining life of prepayable notes vabés of
69 months. These key assumptions are based orothpd®y’s historical experience.

In December 2009, the Company entered into an amentiwith the third-party beneficial interest owner
regarding the notes issued in the 2009-A Secutidizgthe 2009-A Amendment). The amendment to ¢nens
included a reduction of the coupon rate and areas® in the effective advance rate. As the incrieatbe advance
rate produced additional cash proceeds of $9 mijllibis resulted effectively in additional loanddsto the QSPE
from the original over collateralization. The disob rates used in measuring the fair value of te&iRed Interests
at the time of the 2009-A Amendment were 6.5% lierinterest only strip and 12.8% for the remainoans
effectively not sold (unchanged from June 2009k Tésulting retained interest was $6 million argliléng loans
effectively owned were $33 million. The relatedrgan the 2009-A Amendment of $4 million is included
vacation ownership and residential sales and ses\icthe Company’s consolidated statements ohieco

Although the notes effectively owned after the sfans were measured at fair value on the transfe, they
required prospective accounting treatment as thesmmeceivable were carried at the basis establiahthe date of
transfer and accreted interest over time to refluthe historical cost basis. During 2009, the Canyprecorded a
reserve of $4 million related to these loans. ABetember 31, 2009, the value of the notes thaCtmpany
effectively owned from the 2009-A Securitizatiohet2009-B Securitization and the 2009-A Amendmesd w
approximately $56 million, which the Company cléissi as “Other assets” in its consolidated balasteets.

The Company received aggregate cash proceeds ohifizin and $26 million from the Retained Interest
during 2009 and 2008, respectively. The Compangived aggregate servicing fees of $4 million andrion
related to these VOI notes receivable during 20@92008, respectively.

At the time of each VOI notes receivable secutitiraand at the end of each financial reportingquerthe
Company estimates the fair value of its Retaingerésts using a discounted cash flow model. Allaggions used
in the models are reviewed and updated, if necgsisased on current trends and historical expeeiehbe key
assumptions used in measuring the fair value aastsativith its note securitizations as of Decemider2B09 was as
follows: an average discount rate of 7.8%, an ayeeexpected annual prepayment rate including disfa@itl5.8%
and an expected weighted average remaining lifgegayable notes receivable of 86 months.

The fair value of the Comparg/Retained Interest as of December 31, 2009 wasfii6n with amortized co:
basis of $22 million. Temporary differences in fh& value of the retained interests recorded reot
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comprehensive income totaled a $3 million gaintfieryear ended December 31, 2009. Total
other-than-temporary impairments related to credites recorded in loss on asset dispositionsrapdiiments
totaled $22 million and $23 million during 2009 a2@08, respectively.

Note 11. Notes Receivable

As discussed in Notes 2 and 10, beginning Janua2910, the Company was required to consolidat@icer
entities associated with securitization transastioompleted in prior years.

Notes receivable (net of reserves) related to th@@any’s vacation ownership loans consist of thieviong

(in millions):
December 31
2010 2009
Vacation ownership loa-securitizec $467 $ —
Vacation ownership loa-unsecuritizec 152 242
61¢ 242
Less: current portio
Vacation ownership loa-securitizec (59) —
Vacation ownership loa-unsecuritizec (200 (20
$54C  $227

The current and long-term maturities of unsecwei®' Ol notes receivable are included in accourdsivable
and other assets, respectively, in the Companyisaaated balance sheets.

The Company records interest income associatedwWathnotes in its vacation ownership and residéstide
and services line item in its consolidated statémehincome. Interest income related to the CorgjzaviOl notes
receivable was as follows (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008
Vacation ownership loa-securitizec $66 $— $—
Vacation ownership loa-unsecuritizec 21 48 57

$87 $48 $57

The following tables present future maturities odgs VOI notes receivable and interest rates (Ifioms):

Securitizec Unsecuritizec Total
2011 $ 69 $ 30 $ 99
2012 72 21 93
2013 75 21 96
2014 75 20 95
Thereatftel 25€ 13¢ 397
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 54¢ $ 231 $ 78C
Weighted Average Interest Ra 12.71% 12.01% 12.4%
Range of interest ratt 6 to 1% 5t01{% 5to 1&%
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For the vacation ownership and residential segntle@tCompany records an estimate of expected
uncollectibility on its VOI notes receivable asealuction of revenue at the time it recognizes pfia timeshare
sale. The Company holds large amounts of homogené@u notes receivable and therefore assessesleciiioility
based on pools of receivables. In estimating lessmwes, the Company uses a technique referredstatic pool
analysis, which tracks uncollectible notes for egehr’'s sales over the life of the respective nated projects an
estimated default rate that is used in the deteatioin of its loan loss reserve requirements. ABetember 31,
2010, the average estimated default rate for thapgamy’s pools of receivables was 10.0%.

The activity and balances for the Company'’s loas leserve are as follows (in millions):

Securitized Unsecuritizec Total

Balance at December 31, 2C $ — 3 68 $ 68
Provisions for loan losse — 73 73
Write-offs — (50 (50
Other — — —

Balance at December 31, 2C — 91 91
Provisions for loan losse — 64 64
Write-Offs — (62) (62)
Other — — —

Balance at December 31, 2C — 94 94
Provisions for loan losse 14 32 46
Write-Offs — (52 (52
Adoption of ASUNo. 200¢17 77 4) 73
Other (9) 9 —

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 82 $ 79  $161

The primary credit quality indicator used by then@any to calculate the loan loss reserve for tloatian
ownership notes is the origination of the noteditand (Sheraton, Westin, and Other) as the Compaligves ther
is a relationship between the default behaviorasfdwers and the brand associated with the vacatiorership
property they have acquired. In addition to quatitiely calculating the loan loss reserve baseisostatic pool
analysis, the Company supplements the processdlyating certain qualitative data, including thénggof the
respective receivables, current default trendsrapdband origination year, and the FICO scoreb®buyers.

Given the significance of the Company’s respeqbwels of VOI notes receivable, a change in thequteld
default rate can have a significant impact todemnl loss reserve requirements, with a 0.1% chastiyeated to have
an impact of approximately $3 million.

The Company considers a VOI note receivable deéinfjwhen it is more than 30 days outstanding. All
delinquent loans are placed on nonaccrual statiisrenCompany does not resume interest accrudlpayiment is
made. Upon reaching 120 days outstanding, theitoeonsidered to be in default and the Company cenues the
repossession process. Uncollectible VOI notes vabé are charged off when title to the unit isireéd to the
Company. The Company generally does not modify i@atawnership notes that become delinquent or upon
default.
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Past due balances of VOI notes receivable by cogdility indicators are as follows (in millions):

3059 Day: 6089 Days >90 Day: Total Past Total

Past Due Past Due Past Due Due Current Receivable

As of December 31, 201
Sherator $ 6 $ 4 $ 30 % 40 $ 314 S 354
Westin 5 3 33 41 34z 382
Other 1 1 4 6 37 43
$ 12 $ 8 $ 67 % 87 $ 69 3 78C

As of December 31, 200
Sherator $ 3 3 2 $ 258 $ 3 $ 97 % 127
Westin 3 3 27 33 12¢ 161
Other 2 2 2 6 42 48
$ 8 % 7 $§ 54 % 69 $ 267 $ 33€

Note 12. Fair Value

The following table presents the Company'’s faiueahierarchy for its financial assets and lialdfitmeasured
at fair value on a recurring basis as of Decembie2810 (in millions):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Interest Rate Sway $ — $ 16 $ — %16
$ — $ 16 $ — $16
Liabilities:
Forward contract $ — $ 9 $ — $ 9

The forward contracts are over the counter corgrézt do not trade on a public exchange. Thevidires of
the contracts are based on inputs such as foreigarcy spot rates and forward points that areilgeadailable on
public markets, and as such, are classified aslZ2vihe Company considered both its credit riskwell as its
counterpartiestredit risk in determining fair value and no adjosht was made as it was deemed insignificant |
on the short duration of the contracts and the Goms rate of short-term debt.

The interest rate swaps are valued using an in@ppmach. Expected future cash flows are convéoted
present value amount based on market expectatfdhe gield curve on floating interest rates, whisteadily
available on public markets.

Prior to ASU No. 2009-17, the Company estimatedlirevalue of its Retained Interests using a disted
cash flow model with unobservable inputs, whichdasidered Level 3. See Note 10 for the assumptisad to
calculate the estimated fair value and sensitiitglysis based on changes in assumptions.

The following table presents a reconciliation af tbompany’s Retained Interests measured at faiewath a
recurring basis using significant unobservable iaglevel 3) for the year ended December 31, 201t{lions):

Balance at January 1, 20 $ 25
Adoption of ASUNo. 200¢-17 (25
Balance at December 31, 2C $—
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Note 13. Deferred Gains

The Company defers gains realized in connectioh thi¢ sale of a property for which the Company icoets
to manage the property through a long-term manageaggeement and recognizes the gains over thal itgtm of
the related agreement. As of December 31, 201@26a6a€, the Company had total deferred gains of #1tiilion
and $1.093 billion, respectively, included in aafexpenses and other liabilities in the Compaogisolidated
balance sheets. Amortization of deferred gainsdkided in management fees, franchise fees and ioit@me in
the Company’s consolidated statements of incomea@tatéd approximately $81 million, $82 million and
$83 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Note 14. Restructuring, Goodwill Impairment and Other Specid Charges (Credits), Nel
Restructuring, Goodwill Impairment and Other SpkCiaarges (Credits) by operating segment are é&saol
(in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 2008

Segmen

Hotel $74) $21 $41
Vacation Ownership & Residenti (1) 35¢ 10C
Total $(75) $37¢  $141

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynganeived cash proceeds of $75 million in conmecti
with the favorable settlement of a lawsuit. The @amy recorded this settlement, net of the reimbmese of legal
costs of approximately $10 million incurred in cention with the litigation, as a credit to restwatg, goodwill
impairment, and other special charges (creditg) itiem.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynanorded a credit of $8 million to the restruatgr
goodwill impairment, and other special (creditsquafes line item as a liability associated with eguasition in 199!
that was no longer deemed necessary (see Note 26).

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynpampleted a comprehensive review of its vacation
ownership business. The Company decided not tdaeeertain vacation ownership sites and futurespbaf
certain existing projects. As a result of thesdsilens, the Company recorded a primarily non-cagbairment
charge of $255 million. The impairment includedharmge of approximately $148 million primarily reddtto land
held for development; a charge of $64 million foe treduction in inventory values at four properttee write off of
fixed assets of $21 million; facility exit costs $f5 million and $7 million in other costs. Additially, as a result of
this decision and the current economic climate Gbepany recorded a $90 million non-cash chargéhier
impairment of goodwill in the vacation ownershipogting unit (see Note 8).

Additionally, in 2009, the Company recorded restutiog and other special charges of $34 milliofmgarily
related to severance charges and costs to closticmownership sales galleries, associated wsthrigoing
initiative of rationalizing its cost structure.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Coynpnorded restructuring and other special chanfes
$141 million, including $62 million of severancedarelated charges associated with the start dfitiative of
rationalizing the Company’s cost structure. The @any also recorded impairment charges of approxiyat
$79 million primarily related to the decision notdevelop two vacation ownership projects as atethe current
economic climate and its impact on business canuti

In determining the fair value associated with th@airment charges the Company primarily used tbenre
and market approaches. Under the income appraaiclvaiue was determined based on estimated feask flows
taking into consideration items such as operatiaggins and the sales pace of vacation ownerslepvials,

F-25




Table of Contents

STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

discounted using a rate commensurate with the émteisk of the project. Under the market approéain value
was determined with the comparable sales of siraBaets and appraisals.

The Company had remaining restructuring accruaf28fmillion as of December 31, 2010, which arengarily
long-term in nature and recorded in other liakahtiThe activity in the restructuring and othercsgdecharges
account for the year ended December 31, 2010 indipdyments of $3 million primarily related to tieenaining
severance accruals and a restructuring credit ofi$idn associated with the reversal of previoestructuring
accruals no longer deemed necessary.

Note 15. Income Taxes

Income tax data from continuing operations of tlen@any is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Pretax income
U.S. $85 $(76) $31t
Foreign 25C (220) 6

$335  $(296) $321

Provision (benefit) for income tax

Current:
U.S. federa $(61) $ (84 $(15
State and loce 18 12 32
Foreign 43 38 48
— (34) 65
Deferred:
U.S. federa 22 (117) 28
State and loce @) (18) (293
Foreign 12 (124 2

27 (259 7
$27 $(299 $ 72

No provision has been made for U.S. taxes payablendistributed foreign earnings amounting to
approximately $2.3 billion as of December 31, 26ie these amounts are permanently reinvested.
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Deferred income taxes represent the tax effediefitfferences between the book and tax basesefsaand
liabilities. Deferred tax assets (liabilities) indk the following (in millions):

December 31

2010 2009
Plant, property and equipme $ 2) $ (5))
Intangibles 17¢ 104
Inventories 18z 197
Deferred gain: 34¢€ 35¢
Receivables (net of reserve 25 2
Other reserve 43 43
Employee benefit 37 36
Prepaid incom: 10z 12¢€
Net operating loss, capital loss and tax credityfarwards 40€ 591
Accrued expense 83 87
Other (39 (22)

1,34¢ 1,46¢
Less valuation allowanc (397 (517)
Deferred income taxe $ 951 §$ 951

At December 31, 2010, the Company had federal taid et operating losses, which have varying etipin
dates extending through 2028, of approximately $ifilam and $2 billion, respectively. The CompanydHaderal
and state capital losses, which expire at the €201, of approximately $495 million and $842 roifi,
respectively. The Company had state tax crediyyt@mwards, which expire at the end of 2026, of $liom. The
Company also had foreign net operating loss andredit carryforwards of approximately $210 milliand
$3 million, respectively. The majority of foreigetoperating loss and the tax credit carryforwavilsfully expire
by 2020. The Company has established a valuatiowahce against substantially all of the tax berfefifederal
and state loss carryforwards as it is unlikely thatbenefit will be realized prior to their exgican. The Company i
currently considering certain tax-planning stragsghat may allow it to utilize these tax attrilsgthin the
statutory carryforward period.
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A reconciliation of the tax provision of the Compaat the U.S. statutory rate to the provision faome tax as
reported is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Tax provision at U.S. statutory re $117 $(104) %11z
U.S. state and local income ta 2 3 8
Tax on repatriation of foreign earnin 70 (45 (19
Foreign tax rate differenti (70 (25 (20
Italian incentive prograr — (120) —
Nondeductible goodwil 3 39 —
Change in uncertain tax positio 23 9 —
Tax settlement (42 1 —
Tax benefit on the deferred gain from asset ¢ ) 3 (@o
Basis difference on asset sg 8 (29) 16
Change in valuation allowan (99 — (31
Other 26 (13) 11
Provision for income tax (benef $27 P29 $ 72

During 2009, the Company completed an evaluatidtsability to claim U.S. foreign tax credits geated in
prior years on its federal tax return. As a restithis analysis, the Company determined thatuld¢oealize the
credits for the 2001 through 2004 tax years. Thea@any had not previously accrued this benefit sthee
realization of the benefit was determined to békeh}. Therefore, during 2009, a $37 million taxnkeét, net of
incremental taxes and interest, was recorded fmetifioreign tax credits. Additionally, during 201fe Company
adjusted its deferred income tax balances by appairly $30 million for items related to prior pedis. As
discussed below, as a result of final negotiatauréng 2010 related to the tax settlement on tH88Ifsposition of
World Directories, the Company agreed to forgoifpmeax credits generated in tax years 2000 thr@2QfiP.
Therefore, during 2010, a portion of the 2009 tarddfit discussed in this paragraph was reversed.

During 2009, the Company entered into an Italiannaentive program through which the tax basigof
Italian owned hotels were stepped up in exchangpdging $9 million of current tax over a three ypariod. As a
result, the Company was able to recognize a tagfierf $129 million to establish the deferred tsset related to
the basis step up. This benefit was offset by en#fi@on tax charge to accrue the current tax pagabider the
program, resulting in a net benefit of $120 million

During 2010, the Company recognized goodwill impeints associated with the sale of a wholly-owneélho
During 2009, the Company recognized goodwill impents associated with the sale of a wholly-owneeltand
the overall value of its timeshare operations. tampurposes, the impairments are not deductildea fesult, the
Company did not recognize a tax benefit on the impants and the provision for income tax was unfataty
impacted by a $3 million and $39 million charge2BiL0 and 2009, respectively.

During 2010, the Company finalized the detailstefsiettlement with the IRS with respect to the 1998
disposition of World Directories. Final negotiatfoim 2010 resulted in the Company agreeing to féogeign tax
credit claims for tax years 2000 through 2002. Assult of the settlement, the Company obtainezfnd of
previously paid taxes, plus interest, of approxeha$245 million. The Company recognized a $42iomlitax
benefit in continuing operations, which includefi®® million tax benefit primarily for interest oaxes previously
paid offset by a $50 million tax charge to deredngmpreviously benefited foreign tax credits. Irdgidn, the
Company recognized a $134 million tax benefit scdintinued operations primarily related to theiparof the tax
no longer due.
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Pursuant to ASC 74ncome Taxesthe Company is required to accrue tax and agsakciaterest and penalty
on uncertain tax positions. The Company recordedges of $23 million, $9 million and $0 million,rfthe years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctranarily associated with interest due on arigtuncertain
tax positions.

When the Company sells a wholly-owned hotel sulifeet long-term management contract, the pretaxigai
deferred and is recognized over the life of theti@m. In such instances, the Company establishiesesred tax
asset on the deferred gain and recognizes theddat benefit through the tax provision. The Conypaecorded
benefits of $7 million, $3 million and $10 milliofgr the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 608, 2
respectively, to establish the deferred tax agsethese types of dispositions.

During 2010 and 2008, the Company completed cettairsactions that generated capital gains for taS.
purposes. These gains were offset by capital lagsess which the Company had not previously accaibdnefit
since the realization was determined to be unlikéherefore, during 2010 and 2008, the Companyrdecbtax
benefits of $99 million and $31 million, respectiyeo reverse the capital loss valuation allowance

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had approgimn&610 million of total unrecognized tax benefd
which $37 million would affect its effective taxtesif recognized. It is reasonably possible thab ze substantially
all of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefitsfd3acember 31, 2010 will reverse within the nex¢élwe months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending bako€ unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (iflians):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Beginning of Yea $99¢ $1,00¢ $ 96€
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryeal 29 4 41
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 18 2 2
Settlements with tax authoriti (499 (7) (3)
Reductions for tax positions in prior yei 5) @ 4
Reductions due to the lapse of applicable statftémiitations (32 (2) (1)
End of Yeal $51C $ 99¢ $1,00¢

The Company recognizes interest and penaltieerktatunrecognized tax benefits through incomestgense
The Company had $92 million and $233 million acdrém the payment of interest and no accrued piesadts of
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, resplctive

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. faderisdiction, as well as various state and ifgme
jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2010, the Compianmyo longer subject to examination by U.S. fetiereing
authorities for years prior to 2004 and to exanigmaby any U.S. state taxing authority prior to 898l subsequer
periods remain eligible for examination. In thersfigant foreign jurisdictions in which the Compaaogerates, the
Company is no longer subject to examination byréhevant taxing authorities for any years prio2€®1.
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Note 16. Debt

Long-term debt and short-term borrowings consistettie following (in millions):

Senior Credit Facilities
Revolving Credit Facility interest rates rangingrfr 1.10% to 2.50% at December 31, 2010,
maturing 201:
Revolving Credit Facility, terminated in 20
Senior Notes, interest at 7.875%, maturing 2
Senior Notes, interest at 6.25%, maturing 2
Senior Notes, interest at 7.875%, maturing 2
Senior Notes, interest at 7.375%, maturing 2
Senior Notes, interest at 6.75%, maturing 2
Senior Notes, interest at 7.15%, maturing 2
Mortgages and other, interest rates ranging frakB8%.to 9.00%, various maturiti

Less current maturitie
Long-term debt

December 31,
2010

$

60¢
504
49C
45C
40C
24t
15¢

2,851
_ 0

$2,84¢

Aggregate debt maturities for each of the yeargeérgecember 31 are as follows (in millions):

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereaftel

2009

114
60¢€
49¢
48%
44¢
40C

$2,95¢

$2,857

The Company maintains lines of credit under whiahkbloans and other shdgrm debt are drawn. In additic
smaller credit lines are maintained by the Compsfgfeign subsidiaries. The Company had approxipate
$1.4 billion of available borrowing capacity underdomestic and foreign lines of credit as of Deber 31, 2010.

The short-term borrowings at December 31, 20102089 were insignificant.

The Company is subject to certain restrictive aelvenants under its short-term borrowing and largitdebt
obligations including defined financial covenatitgjtations on incurring additional debt, ability pay dividends,
escrow account funding requirements for debt sendapital expenditures, tax payments and insurgrezaiums,
among other restrictions. The Company was in canpé with all of the short-term and lotegm debt covenants

December 31, 2010.

On April 20, 2010, the Company entered into a névé Billion senior credit facility. The new facilimatures
on November 15, 2013 and replaces the previoug$h#lion revolving credit agreement, which wotldve
matured on February 11, 2011. The new facilityudels an accordion feature under which the Compaay m
increase the revolving loan commitment by up to38ifllion subject to certain conditions and bankncaitments.
The multi-currency facility enhances the Compariiyiancial flexibility and is expected to be used ¢eneral
corporate purposes. The Company had no borrowindsruthe senior credit facility and $159 millionlefters of
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credit outstanding as of December 31, 2010. Thearedit agreement includes various customary cauwsna
including maintaining leverage and coverage rafit® Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined) mastirof
5.50x will decrease to 5.25x beginning on Julydl2and will thereafter step down in 0.25x increta@very six
months, reaching 4.50x beginning on January 1, 2088 Consolidated Coverage Ratio (as defined)rmim
remains at 2.5x through the term of the agreement.

During 2009, the Company reduced debt by over $ibini The Company issued new debt of $750 millgor
prepaid debt of $1.675 billion including term loanaturing in 2009, 2010 and 2011 totaling $1.37%obi.
Additional sources of cash generated to pay dovim were proceeds from asset sales, securitizainds co-
branding arrangement, as described in Notes 5ndd.8.

During 2009, the Company entered into six interatg swap agreements with a notional amount of
$500 million, under which the Company pays floatamgl receives fixed interest rates (see Note 24).

On December 7, 2009, the Company used the prodemds public offering of Senior Notes describetblog
together with other borrowings, to complete a temdfer to repurchase $195 million of the principahount of its
7.875% Senior Notes due 2012 and $105 million6i25% Senior Notes due 2013. In connection \kithtender
offer, the Company recorded a $17 million chargmterest expense related to the tender premiunuaathortized
debt issue costs.

On November 24, 2009, the Company completed a@okfring of $250 million of Senior Notes (“the
7.15% Notes”) due December 1, 2019. The Comparsived net proceeds of approximately $241 milliohjck
were used to repurchase a portion of outstandingpBlotes (discussed above). Interest on the 7.06%s is
payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1Cbhgpany may redeem all or a portion of the 7.158tebl at
any time at the Company'’s option at a price equ#hé greater of (1) 100% of the aggregate pringps accrued
and unpaid interest and (2) the sum of the presdoes of the remaining scheduled payments of jpahand
interest discounted at the redemption rate on aarnual basis at the Treasury rate plus 50 baéidg plus
accrued and unpaid interest. The 7.15% Notes pank passuwith all other unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations. Upon a change in control of the Conypaime holders of the 7.15% Notes will have thétrig require
repurchase of the respective 7.15% Notes at 101¥teqgfrincipal amount plus accrued and unpaid @steCertain
covenants on the 7.15% Notes include restrictionkems, sale and leaseback transactions, mergarsplidations
and sale of assets.

On April 30, 2009, the Company completed a pubffering of $500 million of senior notes with a cauprate
of 7.875% (the “7.875% Notes”) due October 15, 2049ued at a discount price of 96.285%. The Compan
received net proceeds of approximately $475 miladrich were used to reduce the outstanding borrgsvimder it
previous revolving credit facility and for genepirposes. Interest on the 7.875% Notes is payaiphé-annually on
April 15 and October 15. The Company may redeeraral portion of the 7.875% Notes at any time at th
Company’s option at a discount rate of Treasurg pld basis points. The 7.875% Notes will rgakri passuwith
all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligatidpsn a change in control of the Company, the hsldéthe
7.875% Notes will have the right to require repassh of the 7.875% Notes at 101% of the principalwarhplus
accrued and unpaid interest. Certain covenanth®id.B75% Notes include restrictions on liens, aakkleaseback
transactions, mergers, consolidations and sales#ta.
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Note 17. Securitized Vacation Ownership Deb

As discussed in Note 10, the Company’s VIEs assetiaith the securitization of its vacation ownepshotes
receivable were consolidated following the adoptd®SU Nos. 2009-16 and 2009-17. As of December2810,
long-term and short-term securitized vacation owhigrdebt consisted of the following (in millions):

2003 securitization, interest rates ranging fro85%o to 6.96%, maturing 20: $ 17
2005 securitization, interest rates ranging fro@5%o to 6.29%, maturing 20 55
2006 securitization, interest rates ranging fro&8% to 5.85%, maturing 20: 39
2009 securitization, interest rate at 5.81%, matu#i016 12¢
2010 securitization, interest rates ranging fro65%o to 4.75%, maturing 20: 25E

494
Less current maturitie (129
Long-term deb $ 367

During the year ended December 31, 2010, intesgmrese associated with securitized vacation owneddbt
was $27 million.

Note 18. Other Liabilities
Other liabilities consisted of the following (in fions):

December 31

2010 2009
Deferred gains on asset s $ 93C $1,00¢
SPG point liability® 70z 634
Deferred income including VOI and residential si 20 33
Benefit plan liabilities 61 65
Insurance reserve 46 46
Other 127 11€

(@) Includes the actuarially determined liabiligfated to the SPG program and the liability assediwith the
American Express transaction discussed be

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynpatered into an amendment to its existing co-thedn
credit card agreement (“Amendment”) with AmericatpEess and extended the term of itshtanding agreement
June 15, 2015. In connection with the Amendmeduiy 2009, the Company received $250 million inhcasvard
the purchase of future SPG points by American Esgri accordance with ASC 4Mebt, the Company has
recorded this transaction as a financing arrangémi#in an implicit interest rate of 4.5%. The Amament requires
a fixed amount of $50 million per year to be dedddrom the $250 million advance over the five yeariod
regardless of the total amount of points purcha&sdh result, the liability associated with thisafhcing
arrangement is being reduced ratably over a fia period beginning in October 2009. In accordamitle the
terms of the Amendment, if the Company fails to pgnwith certain financial covenants, the Comparould have
to repay the remaining balance of the liabilityd aif the Company does not pay such liability, @G@mpany is
required to pledge certain receivables as collbterahe remaining balance of the liability.
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Note 19. Discontinued Operations
Summary of financial information for discontinuegenations is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Income Statement Data
Gain on disposition, net of te $16€ $76 $75
Income (loss) from operations, net of $ (1) $(@2 $ 5

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynaorded a gain of $134 million related to theafi
settlement with the IRS regarding the World Direiet® disposition (see Note 15) and a gain of apprately
$36 million primarily related to a tax benefit inmmection with the sale of one wholly-owned hotel$78 million.
The tax benefit on this hotel sale was relatedhéoréalization of a high tax basis in this hotelttivas generated
through a previous transaction.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the $76omi{fiet of tax) gain on dispositions includes thag from
the sale of the Company’s Bliss spa business, oihveicore assets and three hotels. The operatiomsthe Bliss
spa business, and the revenues and expenses feohots, which was in the process of being soldwaasl later
sold in 2010, are included in discontinued operejagesulting in a loss of $2 million, net of tax.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the gainspositions includes a $124 million gain ($129 raill
pretax) on sale of three hotels which were solchanmbered by management or franchise contractaibhadffset
by a $49 million tax charge as a result of a 20d8iaistrative tax ruling for an unrelated taxpatheat impacts the
tax liability associated with the disposition ofeoof the Company’s businesses several years aghtidwhlly,
$5 million ($9 million pretax) of 2008 results frooperations relating to Bliss and the one ownedlitbat was in
the process of being sold at December 31, 2009re@assified to discontinued operations for tharyended
December 31, 2008.

Note 20. Employee Benefit Plan

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynesoerded net actuarial losses of $4 million @fetax)
related to various employee benefit plans. Thessel® were recorded in other comprehensive incohee. T
amortization of actuarial loss, a component of pttenprehensive income, for the year ended DeceB8the2010
was $1 million (net of tax).

Included in accumulated other comprehensive (lioggime at December 31, 2010 are unrecognized net
actuarial losses of $66 million ($56 million, néttax) that have not yet been recognized in neibper pension cos
The actuarial loss included in accumulated othemgrehensive (loss) income and expected to be rémedym net
periodic pension cost during the year ended DeceBhe2011 is $1 million ($1 million, net of tax).

Defined Benefit and Postretirement Benefit PlansThe Company and its subsidiaries sponsor or posly
sponsored numerous funded and unfunded domestimtandational pension plans. All defined benelins
covering U.S. employees are frozen. Certain planering non-U.S. employees remain active.

The Company also sponsors the Starwood Hotels &if&e¥V/orldwide, Inc. Retiree Welfare Program. This
plan provides health care and life insurance benfi certain eligible retired employees. The Camphas
prefunded a portion of the health care and lifeiiaace obligations through trust funds where suefupding can
be accomplished on a tax effective basis. The Comnpiso funds this program on a pay-as-you-go basis
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The following table sets forth the benefit obligatj fair value of plan assets, the funded statdstlaa
accumulated benefit obligation of the Company’sraaf benefit pension and postretirement benefitpkt
December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in millions):

Domestic Foreign Pension Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 17 $ 17 $17¢ $19¢ $ 19 $ 18
Service cos — —_ = 5 — —
Interest cos 1 1 1¢ 13 1 1
Actuarial loss 2 — 5 11 2 3
Settlements and curtailmer — — — (50) — —
Effect of foreign exchange rat — — 3 8 — —
Plan participant contributior — — — — 1 1
Benefits paic (D) @ ® (3 4
Plan amendmen — —  — 2) — —

Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 18 $ 17 $18¢ $17¢€ $ 20 $19

Change in Plan Asset:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of $— $— $15¢ $132 % 1 $ 2
Actual return on plan assets, net of expel — — 14 28 — —
Employer contributiot 1 1 13 21 2 2
Plan participant contributior — — — — 1 1
Effect of foreign exchange rat — — 3 9 — —
Settlements and curtailmer — — — (25 — —
Benefits paic (1) Q) @ ® (3 (4)

Fair value of plan assets at end of y $— $— $17€ $15¢ $ 1 $ 1

Unfunded statu $(19 $(A70% (7)) $(19 %19 $(18)

Accumulated benefit obligatic $ 18 $ 17 $18z $17€ nls n/e

Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations in Exces of Plan
Assets
Projected benefit obligatic $ 18 $ 17 $121  $117 nle nle
Accumulated benefit obligatic $ 18 $ 17 $121 $11E n/s n/e
Fair value of plan asse $— $—%$97 $87 nls n/s

The net underfunded status of the plans at DeceB8the2010 was $45 million, of which $59 millionirsother
liabilities and $3 million is in accrued expensed 17 million is in other assets in the accompagyialance sheet.

All domestic pension plans are frozen plans, wieenployees do not accrue additional benefits. Theseht
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the projected berdigadion is equal to the accumulated benefit aitlon.
In 2009, the Company elected to freeze its For8igivice pension plan and settled its defined bepefision plans
in Canada, resulting in a $50 million reductiorthe projected benefit obligation.
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The following table presents the components ofoeeibdic benefit cost and the impact of the plartaibments
and settlements for the years ended December 30, 2009 and 2008 (in millions):

Domestic Foreign Pension Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits

200¢  200€ 2010 2009 2008 200¢

N
o
s
o
N
o
s
o
N
o
o
o

Service cos $— $— & $— $5 $4 $— $— $—
Interest cos 1 1 1 10 13 11 1 1 1
Expected return on plan ass - - - (9 0 (W - - =
Amortization of actuarial los —_ - = 1 5 2 - - —
Other = = = = _= 1 = = =
ASC 715,Compensatiol 1 1 1 1 13 g 1 1 1
Settlement and curtailment (gain) Ic = = = 4 1 = = =
Net periodic benefit cos $1 $1 $1 $1 $9 $9 $1 $1 $1

For measurement purposes, an 8% annual rate efiselin the per capita cost of covered healthlzanefits
was assumed for 2011, gradually decreasing to 520116. A one-percentage point change in assumdthluzae
cost trend rates would have approximately a $0lBomieffect on the postretirement obligation andaminal
impact on the total of service and interest costponents of net periodic benefit cost. The majaftparticipants
in the Foreign Pension Plans are employees of neahlagtels, for which the Company is reimbursecctists
related to their benefits. The impact of these beirmements is not reflected above.

The weighted average assumptions used to detebeimefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Domestic Foreign Pension Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Discount rate 5.0(% 5.51% 5.348% 5.9%% 4.75% 5.5(%
Rate of compensation incree n/e nfe 3.64% 3.5(% nle n/e

The weighted average assumptions used to detemeingeriodic benefit cost for the years ended Déezrl
were as follows:

Domestic Foreign Pension Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Discount rate 5.51% 5.9%% 5.75% 5.95% 6.19% 5.88% 5.5(% 6.0(% 5.74%
Rate of compensation incree n/a n/e nfa 3.5(% 3.92% 3.8¢% nl/s n/e n/a
Expected return on plan ass n/a n/e n/a 6.5€% 6.25% 6.38% 7.1(% 7.5(% 7.5(%

A number of factors were considered in the deteationm of the expected return on plan assets. Tiaesers
included current and expected allocation of plasetss the investment strategy, historical ratagtin and
Company and investment expert expectations forsitmvent performance over approximately a ten yeaog.e
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The following table presents the Company’s faiugahierarchy of the plan assets measured at fhievan a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 (in midljon

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Mutual Funds $ 4 $ — $ — $4
Collective Trusts — 5 — 5
Equity Index Fund. — 72 — 72
Bond Index Fund — 56 — 56
Total $ 44 $13: $ —  $177

The following table presents the Company'’s faiueahierarchy of the plan assets measured at fhievan a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2009 (in midljon

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Mutual Funds $ 40 $ — $ — $40
Collective Trusts — 5 — 5
Equity Index Fund. — 67 — 67
Bond Index Fund — 48 — 48
Total $ 40 $12¢ $ —  $16C

The mutual funds are valued using quoted markeeprin active markets.

The collective trusts, equity index funds and borttex funds are not publicly traded but are valbasged on
the underlying assets which are publicly traded.

The following table represents the Company’s exgubpension and postretirement benefit plan paynfents
the next five years and the five years thereaitem(llions):

Domestic Foreign Pensior Postretirement
Pension Benefit Benefits Benefits

2011 $ 1 3 7 0 $ 2
2012 $ 1 3 7 0 $ 2
2013 $ 1 3 8 $ 2
2014 $ 1 3 8 $ 2
2015 $ 1 3 8 $ 2
201€-2020 $ 7 3 4 3 7

Defined Contribution Plans. The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor vadefiaed contribution plans,
including the Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwities. Savings and Retirement Plan, which is a velyntlefinec
contribution plan allowing participation by emplageon U.S. payroll who meet certain age and service
requirements. Each participant may contribute pretax basis between 1% and 50% of his or her cosgtion to
the plan subject to certain maximum limits. Thenpddso contains provisions for matching contribasido be made
by the Company, which are based on a portion @&rtqipant’s eligible compensation. The amountxgense for
matching contributions totaled $13 million in 20$05 million in 2009, and $16 million in 2008. Inded as an
investment choice is the Company’s publicly tradechmon stock, which had a balance of $87 milliod an
$59 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respelgti
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Multi-Employer Pension Plans. Certain employees are covered by union sponsuatgiitemployer pension
plans. Pursuant to agreements between the Companyaaious unions, contributions of $9 million 61D, 2009
and 2008 were made by the Company and chargegtnss.

Note 21. Leases and Rental:

The Company leases certain equipment for the hatpéations under various lease agreements. Esedse
extend for varying periods through 2016 and geheeaik for a fixed amount each month. In additiseveral of the
Company’s hotels are subject to leases of landiidibg facilities from third parties, which extefar varying
periods through 2096 and generally contain fixed ariable components. The variable componentsa¥ds of
land or building facilities are primarily based thre operating profit or revenues of the relatectlsot

The Company’s minimum future rents at Decembe2810 payable under non-cancelable operating leases
with third parties are as follows (in millions):

2011 $ 96
2012 81
2013 80
2014 78
2015 71
Thereaftel 93¢

Minimum future rents have not been reduced by &itamimum sublease income of approximately $13iomill
expected under non-cancelable subleases.

Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leassssted of the following (in millions):
Year Ended

December 31,
2010 2009 2008

Minimum rent $9C $89 $93
Contingent ren 6 2 10
Sublease rer (5) 3 (6)

$91 $88 $97

Note 22. Stockholders Equity

Share Repurchases.During the year ended December 31, 2010 and 288%Company did not repurchase
Company common shares. As of December 31, 201@&mochase capacity remained under the Share Regnac
Authorization.

Note 23. Stock-Based Compensation

In 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Long-Terrartice Compensation Plan (“2004 LTIP"), which
superseded the 2002 Long-Term Incentive CompemsBian (“2002 LTIP)and provides the terms of equity aw
grants to directors, officers, employees, constdtand advisors. Although no additional awards ballgranted
under the 2002 LTIP, the Company’s 1999 Long-Temoehtive Compensation Plan or the Company’s 19@%eSh
Option Plan, the provisions under each of the eviplans will continue to govern awards that Haeen granted
and remain outstanding under those plans. The ggtr@ward pool for non-qualified or incentive &toptions,
performance shares, restricted stock and uniteypcambination of the foregoing which are availaiolée granted
under the 2004 LTIP at December 31, 2010 was ajypaigly 53 million.
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Compensation expense, net of reimbursements d2éihg, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $72 million,
$53 million and $68 million, respectively, resufiim tax benefits of $28 million, $21 million an@&million,
respectively.

The Company utilizes the Lattice model to calcuthtefair value option grants. Weighted averagemagsions
used to determine the fair value of option grargésenas follows:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Dividend yield 0.7%% 3.5(% 1.5(%
Volatility:

Near termr 37.% 74.(% 38.(%

Long term 45.(% 43.(% 36.(%
Expected life 6 yrs 7yrs 6 yrs
Yield curve:

6 month 0.19% 0.45% 1.9(%

1 year 0.32% 0.72% 1.91%

3 year 1.3% 1.4(% 2.1%%

5 year 2.3(% 1.9% 2.7%%

10 year 3.61% 3.02% 3.7%%

The dividend yield is estimated based on the ctiegpected annualized dividend payment and theageer
expected price of the Company’s common shares gitiie same periods.

The estimated volatility is based on a combinatibhistorical share price volatility as well as ilegl volatility
based on market analysis. The historical share matatility was measured over an 8-year periodctvis equal to
the contractual term of the options. The weightestage volatility for 2010 grants was 40%.

The expected life represents the period that theg2my’s stock-based awards are expected to beandisg
and was determined based on an actuarial calculaimg historical experience, giving consideratioithe
contractual terms of the stock-based awards artthgeschedules.

The yield curve (risk-free interest rate) is bagadhe implied zero-coupon yield from the U.S. Biag yield
curve over the expected term of the option.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stotion activity during 2010:

Weighted Average

Options Exercise

(In millions) Price Per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 131 % 29.1¢
Granted 0.€ 38.2¢
Exercisec 4.9 28.8(
Forfeited, Canceled or Expirt (0.7) 45.1:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 87 $ 29.7:
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 42  $ 42.6i

The weighted-average fair value per option foramigranted during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $184789,
and $17.24, respectively, and the service peridgpisally four years. The total intrinsic value aftions exercised
during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $1illlom $1 million and $89 million, respectivelyesulting in
tax benefits of approximately $44 million, $0.3 lwih and $35 million, respectively. As of Decemi3dr, 2010,
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there was approximately $21 million of unrecognizethpensation cost, net of estimated forfeiturelsted to
nonvested options, which is expected to be recegniwer a weighted-average period of 1.17 yeais stnaight-
line basis.

The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding optias of December 31, 2010 was $272 million. Theegge
intrinsic value of exercisable options as of Decengi, 2010 was $77 million. The weighted-averag#ractual
life was 4.50 years for outstanding options and ¥@ars for exercisable option as of December G102

The Company recognizes compensation expense eqted fair market value of the stock on the datgraht
for restricted stock and unit grants over the seryieriod. The weighted-average fair value perkstoanit granted
during 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $37.33, $11.15 4619, respectively. The service period is typictiree or
four years except in the case of restricted stockumits issued in lieu of a portion of an annwacbonus where
the restriction lapse period is typically in egirstallments over a two year period, or in equatdfiments on the
first, second and third fiscal year ends followgrgnt date with distribution on the third fiscabyend.

At December 31, 2010, there was approximately $8igom (net of estimated forfeitures) in unamortize
compensation cost related to restricted stock aitd.urhe weighted average remaining term was {e@8s for
restricted stock and units outstanding at DecerBbeR010. The fair value of restricted stock antsufior which the
restrictions lapsed during 2010, 2009 and 2008apg@soximately $62 million, $33 million and $85 riokh,
respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company’s retd stock and units activity during 2010:

Number of Weighted Average
Restricted Grant Date Value
Stock and Units Per Share
(In millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8C $ 28.4¢
Granted 2.C 37.3:
Lapse of restriction (1.4 43.0(
Forfeited or Cancele (0.7) 27.82

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8 § 28.11

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2002, the Board of Directors adopted (amdvay 2002 the shareholders approved) the Comgany’
2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP")awigle employees of the Company with an opportutaty
purchase shares through payroll deductions andvexté& 1,988,793 shares for issuance under the EBRFESPP
commenced in October 2002.

All full-time employees who have completed 30 dajsontinuous service and who are employed by the
Company on U.S. payrolls are eligible to partiogpiait the ESPP. Eligible employees may contributéoug0% of
their total cash compensation to the ESPP. Amowitkdeld are applied at the end of every three tmont
accumulation period to purchase shares. The vdltteeshares (determined as of the beginning obffexing
period) that may be purchased by any participaatéalendar year is limited to $25,000. The purelaie to
employees is equal to 95% of the fair market valughares at the end of each period. Participaaiswithdraw
their contributions at any time before shares arelmsed.

Approximately 117,000 shares were issued undeE8P during the year ended December 31, 2010 at
purchase prices ranging from $36.77 to $54.00. éxiprately 265,000 shares were issued under the ESRRY
the year ended December 31, 2009 at purchase pacgsgg from $11.01 to $30.42.
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Note 24. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company, based on market conditions, entessfamvard contracts to manage foreign exchange Tikk
Company enters into forward contracts to hedgecisied transactions based in certain foreign ceigsnincluding
the Euro, Canadian Dollar and Yen. These forwardregts have been designated and qualify as casthiédges,
and their change in fair value is recorded as apwyrant of other comprehensive income and reclasisifito
earnings in the same period or periods in whichféhecasted transaction occurs. To qualify as @éethe
Company needs to formally document, designate aselsa the effectiveness of the transactions tbeiveehedge
accounting. The notional dollar amounts of the taunding Euro and Yen forward contracts at Decer3ie2010
are $31 million and $6 million, respectively, wakierage exchange rates of 1.3 and 83.7, respactwigh terms of
primarily less than one year. The Company revidwseffectiveness of its hedging instruments onatqudy basis
and records any ineffectiveness into earnings.ddmpany discontinues hedge accounting for any htédges no
longer evaluated to be highly effective. From titm¢ime, the Company may choose to de-designateperof
hedges when changes in estimates of forecasteshtrtdons occur. Each of these hedges was highdgtafé in
offsetting fluctuations in foreign currencies.

The Company also enters into forward contractsdaoage foreign exchange risk on intercompany loaatsare
not deemed permanently invested. These forwardadstare not designated as hedges, and their eliarfajr
value is recorded in the Company'’s consolidatettstants of income during each reporting period.

The Company enters into interest rate swap agresrm@emanage interest expense. The Compsanlyjective is
to manage the impact of interest rates on thetestibperations, cash flows and the market vafuheoCompany’'s
debt. At December 31, 2010, the Company has siéxdst rate swap agreements with an aggregate abtorount
of $500 million under which the Company pays flogtrates and receives fixed rates of interest (“Walue
Swaps”). The Fair Value Swaps hedge the changairivdlue of certain fixed rate debt related tafiiations in
interest rates and mature in 2012, 2013 and 2014 FRir Value Swaps modify the Company’s interat r
exposure by effectively converting debt with a tixate to a floating rate. These interest rate svigye been
designated and qualify as fair value hedges.

The counterparties to the Company’s derivativerfaial instruments are major financial institutiomse
Company evaluates the bond ratings of the finamesitutions and believes that credit risk is mta&ceptable level.

The following tables summarize the fair value of darivative instruments, the effect of derivatimstruments
on our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensivanegthe amounts reclassified from “Other comprsiven
income” and the effect on the Consolidated Statésnginincome during the year.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

(In millions)
December 31, 201! December 31, 200!
Balance Shee Fair Balance Shee Fair
Location Value Location Value
Derivatives designated as hedgin
instruments
Asset Derivative
Forward contract Prepaid and other current ass $ — Prepaid and other current ass $ —
Interest rate sway Other asset __16  Other asset 7
Total asset $ 16 $ 7
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December 31, 201/ December 31, 200!
Balance Shee Fair Balance Shee Fair
Location Value Location Value

Derivatives not designated a
hedging instruments

Asset Derivative
Forward contract Prepaid and other current ass $ — Prepaid and other current ass $ —

Total asset $ — $ —
Liability Derivatives
Forward contract Accrued expense $ 9  Accrued expense $ 7
Total liabilities $ 9 $ 7
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensiviecome
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In millions)

Balance at December 31, 2C $(6)
Mark-to-marketgain on forward exchange contra —
Reclassification of gain from OCI to managemensfdéeanchise fees, and other inco _ 6

Balance at December 31, 2C $—

Balance at December 31, 2C $—
Mark-to-marketloss on forward exchange contra 1
Reclassification of loss from OCI to managemens fé@nchise fees, and other inco @

Balance at December 31, 2C $—

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized ir
Income on Derivative
Location of Gain or (Loss) Recognized Year Ended December 31

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments in Income on Derivative 2010 2009 200¢

Foreign forward exchange contra Interest expense, n $(45 $(15 $14

Total (loss) gain included in incon $(45 $(15 $14
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Note 25. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts estimated fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments (in millions):

December 31, 201! December 31, 200!
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Assets:
Restricted cas $ 10 $ 10 % 7 $ 7
VOI notes receivabl 132 152 222 252
Securitized vacation ownership notes receiv. 40¢ 49z — —
Other notes receivab 19 19 14 14
Total financial assel $ 56 $ 674 $ 245 $ 274
Liabilities:
Long-term debt $2,84¢ $3,12( $ 2,958 $3,071]
Long-term securitized del 367 373 — —
Other lon¢-term debt liabilities — — 8 8
Total financial liabilities $3,21F  $3,49: $ 2,96 $3,07¢
Off-Balance shee
Letters of credi $ — $15¢ $ — $ 1e¢
Surety bond: — 23 — 21
Total Off-Balance shee $ — $182 $ — $ 18¢

The Company believes the carrying values of itarfial instruments related to current assets aibdities
approximate fair value. The Company records itévdéive assets and liabilities at fair value. SexeN12 for
recorded amounts and the method and assumptiortaigstimate fair value.

The carrying value of the Compagyestricted cash approximates its fair value. Campany estimates the f
value of its VOI notes receivable and securitiz&dll Yiotes receivable using assumptions related @t
securitization market transactions. The amourtiés tompared to a discounted expected future tashriodel
using a discount rate commensurate with the rigk@funderlying notes, primarily determined by ¢hedit
worthiness of the borrowers based on their FIC@escdrhe results of these two methods are themateal to
conclude on the estimated fair value. The fair galfiother notes receivable is estimated basedramstof the
instrument and current market conditions. Thesarnfial instrument assets are recorded in the atfsats line item
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Company estimates the fair value of its puplichded debt based on the bid prices in the pulait
markets. The carrying amount of its floating ragbtds a reasonable basis of fair value due todni@ble nature of
the interest rates. The Company’s non-public, séred debt, and fixed rate debt fair value is deieed based
upon discounted cash flows for the debt rates dderssonable for the type of debt, prevailing mackaditions
and the length to maturity for the debt. Other lbgign liabilities represent a financial guaranfBlee carrying value
of this liability approximates its fair value basea expected funding under the guarantee.

The fair values of the Company’s letters of creahitl surety bonds are estimated to be the same asitfract
values based on the nature of the fee arrangem#htshe issuing financial institutions.
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Note 26. Commitments and Contingencie

The Company had the following contractual obligasi@utstanding as of December 31, 2010 (in millons

Due in Less Due in Due in Due After

Total Than 1l Year 1-3Years 3-5Years 5 Years

Unconditional purchase obligatio(® $22¢ % 69 $ 124 $ 28 % 4
Other lon¢-term obligations 3 2 1 — —
Total contractual obligatior $22¢ 3 71 $ 128 $ 28 $ 4

(&) Included in these balances are commitmentsgtbe reimbursed or satisfied by the Compsanyanaged ar
franchised propertie:

The Company had the following commercial commitrsanitstanding as of December 31, 2010 (in millions)

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

Less Than After
Total 1 Year 1-3Years 3-5VYears 5 Years
Standby letters of crec $15¢ $144 $12 $— $3

Variable Interest Entities. The Company has evaluated hotels in which itsheariable interest, which is
generally in the form of investments, loans, guteas, or equity. The Company determines if it ssghmary
beneficiary of the hotel by primarily considerifgetqualitative factors. Qualitative factors inclealuating if the
Company has the power to control the VIE and hastiigation to absorb the losses and rights teivecthe
benefits of the VIE, that could potentially be sfgrant to the VIE. The Company has determined idt the
primary beneficiary of these VIEs and thereforesthentities are not consolidated in the Comparnyéntial
statements. See Note 10 for the VIEs in which tbe@any is deemed the primary beneficiary and hasalmlated
the entities.

The 15 VIEs associated with the Company’s variatiterests represent entities that own hotels faclwthe
Company has entered into management or franchisemgnts with the hotel owners. The Company is pdak
primarily based on financial metrics of the hoféie hotels are financed by the owners, generaltigérform of
working capital, equity, and debt.

At December 31, 2010, the Company has approxim&eymillion of investments and a loan balance of
$9 million associated with 12 VIEs. As the Compé&pot obligated to fund future cash contributiomsler these
agreements, the maximum loss equals the carryilug v addition, the Company has not contributesants to
the VIEs in excess of their contractual obligations

Additionally, the Company has approximately $6 ioill of investments and certain performance guaesnte
associated with three VIEs. During 2010, the Comgpacorded a $3 million charge to selling, genaral
administrative expenses, relating to one of thel&esMor a performance guarantee relating to almémaged by
the Company. The maximum remaining exposure ofgh@&antee is $1 million. The Company’s remaining
performance guarantees have possible cash ouflaysto $68 million, $62 million of which, if reqréd, would be
funded over several years and would be largelyebfig management fees received under these cantract

At December 31, 2009, the Company has approxim&&lymillion of investments associated with 18 V/IEs
equity investments of $11 million associated witle &/IE and a loan balance of $5 million associatét one VIE.

Guaranteed Loans and Commitmentsn limited cases, the Company has made loans/t@rs of or partners
in hotel or resort ventures for which the Compaayg b management or franchise agreement. Loansoditsg
under this program totaled $14 million at Decen®fer2010. The Company evaluates these loans fairmpnt,
and at December 31, 2010, believes these loarcoleetible. Unfunded loan commitments
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aggregating $18 million were outstanding at Decardie 2010, $0 million of which is expected to beaded in
2011, with $1 million expected to be funded in kotdese loans typically are secured by pledggsaect
ownership interests and/or mortgages on the psjétte Company also has $56 million of equity atheto
potential contributions associated with managej@iat venture properties, $20 million of which igpected to be
funded in 2011.

Surety bonds issued on behalf of the Company at@ber 31, 2010 totaled $23 million, the majorityndfich
were required by state or local governments rajatinthe Company’s vacation ownership operatiorskanits
insurers to secure large deductible insurance progr

To secure management contracts, the Company maidprperformance guarantees to third-party owners.
Most of these performance guarantees allow the @osnfo terminate the contract rather than fundt&its if
certain performance levels are not met. In limitades, the Company is obligated to fund shortiialgerformance
levels through the issuance of loans. Many of #régomance tests are multi-year tests, are tigdgaesults of a
competitive set of hotels, and have exclusiongdore majeure and acts of war and terrorism. The@my does
not anticipate any significant funding under periance guarantees or losing a significant numberafagement
franchise contracts in 2011.

In connection with the acquisition of the Le Méedibrand in November 2005, the Company assumed the
obligation to guarantee certain performance leattmne Le Méridien managed hotel for the periods72trough
2014. During the year ended December 31, 2010Ctdmpany reached an agreement with the owner optbjserty
to fully release the Company of its performancergntee obligation in return for a payment of apprately
$1 million to the owner. Additionally, in connecatiavith this settlement, the term of the managementract was
extended by five years. As a result of this setletnthe Company recorded a credit to selling, gene
administrative and other expenses of approxim&®lynillion for the difference between the carryamgount of the
guarantee liability and the cash payment of $1iomill

In connection with the purchase of the Le Méridieand in November 2005, the Company was indemnftie
certain of Le Méridien’s historical liabilities ke entity that bought Le Méridien’s owned and éshkotel
portfolio. The indemnity is limited to the finanti@sources of that entity. However, at this tithe, Company
believes that it is unlikely that it will have tarfd any of these liabilities.

In connection with the sale of 33 hotels in 200@, €ompany agreed to indemnify the buyer for certai
liabilities, including operations and tax liabiéit. At this time, the Company believes that it wit have to make
any material payments under such indemnities.

Litigation. The Company is involved in various legal matteet have arisen in the normal course of business,
some of which include claims for substantial suAtruals have been recorded when the outcome spte and
can be reasonably estimated. While the ultimataltsesf claims and litigation cannot be determinée, Company
does not expect that the resolution of all legattena will have a material adverse effect on itssmidated results
operations, financial position or cash flow. Howewdepending on the amount and the timing, an wréhle
resolution of some or all of these matters couldemally affect the Company’s future results of m@®ns or cash
flows in a particular period.

Collective Bargaining Agreements. At December 31, 2010, approximately 34% of thenBany’s
U.S.-based employees were covered by various tieelsargaining agreements, providing, generably biasic pay
rates, working hours, other conditions of employtreerd orderly settlement of labor disputes. Geheriabor
relations have been maintained in a normal andfaatdry manner, and management believes thatdhg@ny’s
employee relations are satisfactory.
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Environmental Matters. The Company is subject to certain requiremendspartential liabilities under various
federal, state and local environmental laws, omibea and regulations. Such laws often impose ifibyithout
regard to whether the current or previous owneparator knew of, or was responsible for, the presef such
hazardous or toxic substances. Although the Compasyncurred and expects to incur remediationcdiner
environmental costs during the ordinary coursepafrations, management anticipates that such cdstsowvhave a
material adverse effect on the operations or firdmondition of the Company.

Captive Insurance Company.Estimated insurance claims payable at Decemhe2®D and 2009 were
$72 million and $74 million, respectively. At Decber 31, 2010 and 2009, standby letters of credduarting to
$64 million and $83 million, respectively, had beéssued to provide collateral for the estimatedhesa The letters
of credit are guaranteed by the Company.

ITT Industries. In 1995, the former ITT Corporation, renamed Ihdustries, Inc. (“ITT Industries”),
distributed to its stockholders all of the outstagdshares of common stock of ITT Corporation, taemholly
owned subsidiary of ITT Industries (the “Distribani’). In connection with this Distribution, ITT Corporati, whict
was then named ITT Destinations, Inc., changedatsae to ITT Corporation. Subsequent to the acauisaf ITT
Corporation in 1998, the Company changed the ndrfiEToCorporation to Sheraton Holding Corporation.

For purposes of governing certain of the ongoingtienships between the Company and ITT Industafesr
the Distribution and spin-off of ITT Corporationdato provide for an orderly transition, the Compamg ITT
Industries have entered into various agreemenksdimg a spin-off agreement, Employee Benefits Bes/and
Liability Agreement, Tax Allocation Agreement andéllectual Property Transfer and License Agreemertie
Company may be liable to or due reimbursement ffbmindustries relating to the resolution of centare-spineff
matters under these agreements. Based on avdilémimation, management does not believe that theséers
would have a material impact on the Company’s clitesied results of operations, financial positiagrcash flows.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynaersed a liability related to the 1998 acqiasiisee
Note 14).

Note 27. Business Segment and Geographical Informatio

The Company has two operating segments: hotelsaration ownership and residential. The hotel ssgm
generally represents a worldwide network of owneaised and consolidated joint venture hotels asart® operate
primarily under the Company’s proprietary brand earmcluding St. Regi®, The Luxury Collectior®, Sheraton
® Westin®, W®, Le Méridien®, Four Point$® by Sheraton, Alof® and Elemen® as well as hotels and resorts
which are managed or franchised under these bram&sin exchange for fees. The vacation ownerstdp a
residential segment includes the development, cstriygiand operation of vacation ownership resortgketing ant
selling VOIs, providing financing to customers wiarchase such interests, licensing fees from bdinde
condominiums and residences and the sale of ragtlanits.

The performance of the hotels and vacation ownerahd residential segments is evaluated primarily o
operating profit before corporate selling, genaral administrative expense, interest expense frietepest income
losses on asset dispositions and impairmentsuctsting and other special charges (credits) aodnre tax benefit
(expense). The Company does not allocate thess ti@its segments.
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The following table presents revenues, operatiogrime, assets and capital expenditures for the Coyigpa
reportable segments (in millions):

2010 2009 2008

Revenues
Hotel $4,38: $4,02: $4,86(
Vacation ownership and resident 68¢ 674 894
Total $5,071 $4,69¢ $5,75¢
Operating income
Hotel $ 571 $ 471 $ 77¢€
Vacation ownership and resident 10t 73 13€
Total segment operating incor 67€ 544 912
Selling, general, administrative and ot (151) (@139 (161
Restructuring, goodwill impairment and other specierges, ne 75 (379 (14)
Operating incom: 60C 26 61C
Equity earnings and gains and losses from uncaleteldl ventures, ne
Hotel 8 (5) 12
Vacation ownership and resident 2 1 4
Interest expense, n (23€) (227 (207)
Loss on asset dispositions and impairments (39 (97) (98)
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforestaand noncontrolling interes $ 335 $ (296 $ 321
Depreciation and amortizatio
Hotel $ 207 $ 22¢ $ 241
Vacation ownership and resident 27 27 29
Corporate 51 53 43
Total $ 28t ¢ 30¢ $ 318
Assets:
Hotel (@ $6,44( $5,92¢ $6,72¢
Vacation ownership and resideni®) 2,13¢  1,63¢ 2,18
Corporate 1,197 1,19¢ 792
Total $9,77¢ $8,761 $9,70:
Capital expenditure:
Hotel $ 184 $ 171 $ 344
Vacation ownership and resident 151 14t 38¢
Corporate 42 27 84
Total © $ 377 $ 34c $ 817

(@) Includes $285 million and $343 million of investntem unconsolidated joint ventures at Decembe£810
and 2009, respectivel
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(b) Includes $27 million and $25 million of investnts in unconsolidated joint ventures at DecembefB10 and
2009, respectively

(¢) Includes $227 million, $196 million, and $47@lmn of property, plant, and equipment expendisias of
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectivelgditidbdal expenditures included in the amounts above
consist of vacation ownership inventory and invesita in management contracts and hotel joint vest

The following table presents revenues and longdli@ssets by geographical region (in millions):

Revenues Long-Lived Assets

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
United State: $3,312 $3,387 $4,05¢ $2,18¢ $2,33¢
Italy 16C 17z 37C 324 39¢
All other internationa 1,59¢ 1,133 1,32¢ 1,12¢ 1,05¢€
Total $5,071 $4,69¢ $5,75¢ $3,63t  $3,78¢

Other than Italy, there were no individual intefoaal countries, which comprised over 10% of thalto
revenues of the Company for the years ended Deae20ii@, 2009 or 2008, or 10% of the total long-tivassets of
the Company as of December 31, 2010 or 2009.
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Note 28. Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31  June 3C  September 3t  December 3. Year
(In millions, except per share data;

2010
Revenue: $ 1,187 $1,28¢ $ 1,258 $ 1,34C $5,071]
Costs and expens $ 1,102 $1,152 $ 1,13 $ 1,08 $4,47]
Income from continuing operatiol $ 28 ¢ 79 % 5 $ 20€ $ 30¢
Discontinued operatior $ — $ 3% $ @ $ 13t $ 167
Net income $ 28 ¢$ 114 % ®) $ 33¢ §$ 47¢
Earnings per shar
Basic—
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 0.1€ $044 % (0.09) $ 1.1 $ 1.7C
Discontinued operatior $ — $01¢ % 0.0C $ 0.7z $ 0.91
Net income $ 0.1€ $065 $ (0.09) $ 1.8t $ 2.61
Diluted —
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 01€ $04z $ (0.09) $ 1.0¢ $ 1.6°
Discontinued operatior $ — $0I1c % 0.0 $ 0.7C $ 0.8¢
Net income $ 01€ $061 $ (0.09) $ 1.7¢ $ 2.51
2009
Revenue: $ 1,127 $1,167 $ 1,15¢ $ 1,246 $4,69¢
Costs and expens $ 1,066 $1,06¢ $ 1,07C $ 1,466 $4,67(
Income from continuing operatiol $ 7 $ 14C % 36 $ a8e) $ 3
Discontinued operatior $ 3 ¢ 6 % 4 $ 79 $ 74
Net income $ 4 $ 134 % 40 $ aon $ 71
Earnings per sharn
Basic—
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 00/ $07¢ % 02C $ (1.09 $(0.00
Discontinued operatior $ (0.01) $(0.09) $ 0.0z $ 0.4¢ $ 0.41
Net income $ 00 $07E $ 02z $ (059 $0.41
Diluted —
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 00 $07¢ $ 0.2 $ (1.09 $(0.00
Discontinued operatior $ (0.0)) $(0.09) $ 0.0 $ 044 $ 041
Net income $ 00 $074 % 02: $ (059 $0.41

Due to the dispositions in the fourth quarter dd2@hat were recorded as discontinued operati@®s (s
Note 19), certain amounts in the table above haem beclassified to present comparable resultalfgeriods
presented.
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SCHEDULE Il

STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In millions)
Additions (Deductions)
Charged
to/reversec Charged
Balance from to/from Other Payments/ Balance
January 1, Expenses  Accounts(® Other December 31,
2010
Trade receivable— allowance for doubtful accoun $ 54 $ 9 $ 11 $(19) $ 55
Notes receivabl— allowance for doubtful accoun $11¢ $ 42 $ 64 $(45) $17¢
Reserves included in accrued and other liabili
Restructuring and other special char $ 34 $(75) $ 8 $62 $ 29
2009
Trade receivable— allowance for doubtful accoun $ 49 $ 8 $ 7 $(10) $ 54
Notes receivabl— allowance for doubtful accoun $117 $ 64 $ (3) $(60) $11¢€
Reserves included in accrued and other liabili
Restructuring and other special char $ 41 $37¢ $(332) $(54) $ 34
2008
Trade receivable— allowance for doubtful accoun $ 50 $ 8 $ 3 $(12) $ 49
Notes receivabl— allowance for doubtful accoun $ 94 $ 55 $ — $(32) $117
Reserves included in accrued and other liabili
Restructuring and other special char $ 9 $141 $ (83 $(26) $ 4
(a) Charged to/from other accoun
Description of
Charged to/from
Other Accounts
2010
Accrued expense $ 2
Accrued salaries, wages and bene 8
Impact of ASU No. 20C-17 (See Note Z 73
Total charged to/from other accoul $ 83
2009
Plant, property and equipme $ (17€)
Goodwill (90)
Inventory (62)
Investment: (5)
Other asset @
Accounts receivabl 2
Accrued expense 5
Total charged to/from other accou $ 32€)
2008
Investment: $ (7
Plant, property and equipme (66)
Other asset 3
Accrued expense (14)
APIC 4
Total charged to/from other accoul $ 80)

S1



Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc.
Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Total Fixed Chges

(Dollars in millions, except ratic

Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeome
taxes

(Income) loss related to equity method inves

Add/(deduct).
Fixed Charge
Interest Capitalize
Distributed income of equity method invest
Noncontrolling interest in p-tax loss (income

Earnings available for fixed charg
Fixed Charges
Interest and other financial char¢
Interest factor attributable to rentals
Interest capitalize

Total fixed charge
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg

Notes

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.1

2010

2009

&+
N
N
(o]

©~
w
=
N)

©
o
153

2008

$ 321
1

30¢%

:

30C
(39)

2007

$ 71€

(66)
65C

26E
(47)
142

I

$ 1,00¢

2006

(@) The interest factor attributable to rentals cossidtonethird of rental charges, which is deemed by Stadwoobe representative of t

interest factor inherent in ren



EXHIBIT 21.1

STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
AND STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANTS

Wholly Owned Direct or Indirect
Subsidiaries Carrying on the Same
Line of Business as Named Subsidiar

Operating Operating

Jurisdiction of Line of in the in Foreign

Name Organization Parent Business United States Countries
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, In“SH&RW") Maryland — Lodging 227 11
SLC Operating Limited Partnersk Delaware SH&RW  Lodging 9 5
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Holdings, i Arizona SH&RW  Lodging 0 0
Starwood Vacation Ownership, Ir Florida SH&RW  Lodging 101 17
Starwood Checkmate Holdings LL Delaware SH&RW  Lodging 40 0
The Sheraton LLC*SC") Delaware SH&RW  Lodging 7 0
Starwood International Licensing Company SAF Luxembour SC Lodging 0 5

(“SILC")

Starwood Asia Pacific Hotels & Resorts Pte | Singapore SILC Lodging 0 1
Sheraton International, Inc* SII™) Delaware SH&RW  Lodging 5 42
Starwood International Holding SAR Luxembourg Sl Lodging 0 15
Starwood CIGA Holdings LLC"SCH") Delaware Sl Lodging 0 1
Starwood Finance Luxembourg SAl Luxembour SCH Lodging 0 1

NOTE: The names of some consolidated wholly owned sudnsédi of the Corporation carrying on the same lofdsusiness as other
subsidiaries named above have been omitted, thé@uaof such omitted subsidiaries operating in tinitéd States and in foreign
countries being shown. Also omitted from the list the names of other subsidiaries that, if comedlen the aggregate as a single
subsidiary, would not constitute a significant sdizsy.




EXHIBIT 21.1 (Continued)

STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS WORLDWIDE, INC.
AND STARWOOD HOTELS & RESORTS

ASSUMED NAMES REPORT

Arizona
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

California
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

Colorado
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

Georgia
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir

Hawaii
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

lllinois
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir

Louisiana
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

Assumed Name

Four Points by Sheraton Tucson University P
The Phoenicial

Assumed Name

The Westin San Francisco Airpc

Clarion Hotel— San Francisco Airpo

W Los Angeles— Westwood

St. Regis San Francis

Westin Gaslamp Quarter (fka Horton Pla

Assumed Name

Sheraton Steamboat Springs Re

Assumed Name

Westin Peachtree Pla
W Atlanta

Assumed Name

The Westin Mau
Sheraton Kaue

Assumed Name

The Tremont Chicag
W Chicago City Cente
W Chicago Lakeshor

Assumed Name

W New Orlean:
W New Orlean-French Quarte




Massachusetts
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It

New York
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir

Pennsylvania
Entity Name

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, It
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir

Assumed Name

Boston Park Plaz
Aloft Lexington
Element Lexingtor

Assumed Name

W Times Squar
The Manhattan at Times Squis
The St. Regi:

Assumed Name

Caesars Cove Have

Caesars Paradise Stre

Caesars Pocono Pale

Aloft Philadelphia Airport

Four Points by Sheraton Philadelphia Airg
Sheraton Suites Philadelphia Airp



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

1)

()
©)

(4)

(%)

(6)

Registration Statement Form S-8 No. 33392B5pertaining to Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worltlyilnc. (the “Company”) 2004
Long-term Incentive Compensation Pl:

Registration Statement Forn-8 No. 33:-11592¢-01 pertaining to the Compa’s 2004 Lon-term Incentive Compensation Pl

Registration Statement Form S-8 No. 333637dertaining to the Company’s Employee Stock PaselPlan, 2002 Long-term
Incentive Compensation Plan and 1999 L-term Incentive Compensation Pl

Registration Statement Form S-8 No. 333697@1 pertaining to the Company’s Employee StodicRase Plan, 2002 Long-term
Incentive Compensation Plan and 1999 L-term Incentive Compensation Pl

Registration Statement Form S-8 No. 3333B#1pertaining to the Company’s 1999 Annual InaenRlan for Certain Executives,
and

Registration Statement Form S-8 No. 333384101 pertaining to the Company’s 1999 Annual itiee Plan for Certain
Executives

of our reports dated February 17, 2011, with refsfethe consolidated financial statements anddulieeof the Company and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of the Company included in this Annual RegBorm 10-K) of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 20

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
February 17, 2011



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 UNDER THE SBRITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Frits van Paasschen, certify that:
1) | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, In

2) Based on my knowledge, this report doesootain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletding with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statg@sjeand other financial information included imstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4)  The registrard’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and pharas, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b) Designed such internal control over finahegporting, or caused such internal control diremcial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regtsadisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyeldis report based on su
evaluation;




(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrdngistrant’s internal control over financial repog that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer@)d | have disclosed, based on our most recehiaian of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions!

(@) All significant deficiencies and materiaé@knesses in the design or operation of intern@rabover financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information:

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2011

/sl Frits van Paassch

Frits van Paasschg
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Vasant Prabhu, certify that:
1) | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, In

2) Based on my knowledge, this report doesootain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial stat@sjeand other financial information included irstreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4)  The registrard’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitdleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f) for the registrant and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and pharas, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b) Designed such internal control over finahegporting, or caused such internal control diremcial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimstsadisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaintsprocedures, as of the end of the period coumyeldis report based on su
evaluation;




(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrdngistrant’s internal control over financial repog that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

5)  The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent eti@tuef internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions!

(@) All significant deficiencies and materiaé@knesses in the design or operation of intern@rabover financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information:

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2011

/s/ Vasant Prabh

Vasant Prabh
Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapfer 6
of Title 18 of the United States Code

I, Frits van Paasschen, the Chief Executiviic@f of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, IiftStarwood”), certify , pursuant to 18
U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of thea8as-Oxley Act of 2002, that (i) the accompanyiogm 10-K of Starwood for the year
ended December 31, 2010 (the “Form 10-k”) fully pdies with the requirements of Section 13(a) o) ®f the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 and (ii) the information contained in the Fdr@aK fairly presents, in all material respectg fimancial condition and results of
operations of Starwood.

/sl Frits van Paasschen

Frits van Paasschg

Chief Executive Officer

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
February 17, 201




Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapfer 6
of Title 18 of the United States Code

I, Vasant Prabhu, the Chief Financial OffioéStarwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. (“Staind”), certify , pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarlf@rles-Act of 2002, that (i) the accompanying For@aKL of Starwood for the year ended
December 31, 2010 (the “Form 10-K”) fully compliggh the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(ddhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934

and (ii) the information contained in the Form 10dkly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of
Starwood.

/sl Vasant Prabhu

Vasant Prabh

Chief Financial Officer

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Ir
February 17, 201




